University of Missouri, St. Louis

IRL @ UMSL

Dissertations

UMSL Graduate Works

10-23-2019

Chemical Synthesis of Oligosaccharides from Human Milk

Mithila Dulanjalee Bandara Weerasooriya Mudiyanselage *University of Missouri-St. Louis*, wdbhhf@mail.umsl.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://irl.umsl.edu/dissertation



Recommended Citation

Weerasooriya Mudiyanselage, Mithila Dulanjalee Bandara, "Chemical Synthesis of Oligosaccharides from Human Milk" (2019). *Dissertations*. 911. https://irl.umsl.edu/dissertation/911

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the UMSL Graduate Works at IRL @ UMSL. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of IRL @ UMSL. For more information, please contact marvinh@umsl.edu.

Chemical Synthesis of Oligosaccharides from Human Milk

By

W. M. Mithila D. Bandara

Master of Science (Chemistry), University of Missouri-St. Louis, May 2016 Bachelor of Science (Chemistry) Hons., University of Peradeniya, Sri Lanka, January 2013

> A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate School of the UNIVERSITY OF MISSOURI – ST. LOUIS in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

CHEMISTRY

December, 2019

Dissertation Committee

Prof. Alexei V. Demchenko, Ph.D. (Chair)

Prof. James S. Chickos, Ph.D.

Prof. Keith J. Stine, Ph.D.

Prof. Janet B. Wilking, Ph.D.

ABSTRACT

Chemical Synthesis of Oligosaccharides from Human Milk

W. M. Mithila D. Bandara Doctor of Philosophy, University of Missouri – St. Louis Prof. Alexei V. Demchenko, Advisor

Human milk oligosaccharides (HMO) are a family of structurally related glycans that are highly abundant in breast milk. Oligosaccharide fraction is the third largest solid component in human milk after lactose and lipids. There is an accumulating evidence that HMO can provide significant benefits to the breast-fed infants. However, understanding of the exact HMO functions is still incomplete due to the lack of individual compounds in sufficient quantities. Therefore, development of expeditious strategies for the chemical synthesis of HMO has been increasingly important.

Among all the methods available for oligosaccharide synthesis, armed-disarmed strategy introduced by Fraser-Reid is based on chemoselective activation of different building blocks. Later, the scope of this armed disarmed strategy was broadened by the introduction of other reactivity levels that included superarmed glycosyl donors. One of those was invented by Bols and co-workers wherein and the superarming property was achieved by the conformational change to the glycosyl donor. The other type of glycosyl donors was introduced by our lab wherein the superarming was achieved using conventions of the O2/O5 cooperative effect (electronic effect).

Presented herein is the expansion of our previous work on the investigation of hybrid glycosyl donors that combine aforementioned conformational and electronic effects. The major emphasis of this study was to compare the reactivity of differently protected S-ethyl and S-phenyl donors by competition studies. The applicability of the developed glycosyl donors in one-pot oligosaccharide synthesis has been demonstrated. This ultimately led us to the development of versatile chemical strategies for the synthesis of HMO. Reported herein is the synthesis of common core HMO including lacto-N-tetraose (LNT), lacto-N-neotetraose (LNnT), lacto-N-neotetraose (LNnT).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my appreciation and thanks to my advisor Prof. Alexei V. Demchenko, for giving me the opportunity to be a part of "Glycoworld". His patience, motivation, enthusiasm and guidance helped me all the time in research and writing of this thesis. Apart from the academic collaboration, he is great person with sense of humor, which created us a friendly working environment. I could not have imagined having a better advisor and mentor for my Ph.D study and it has always been an honor to be his student.

I would also like to thank my committee members, Prof. James S. Chickos, Prof. Janet B. Wilking, and Prof. Keith J. Stine for serving on my committee throughout all these years and their words of encouragement. I won't also forget to express my gratitude to Dr. Jagodige P. Yasomanee and Dr. Salvatore Pistorio for the training that they provided during my first semester in the lab. I would especially like to thank Dr. Cynthia M. Dupureur and Dr. Rensheng Luo for their support in handling instruments. Also, I am very thankful to the funding received towards my PhD from the National Institutes of Health (NIH) and the University of Missouri - St. Louis. I would also like to thank all faculty and staff of the Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry at UMSL for all the knowledge I have gained and for their support throughout my PhD studies at UMSL.

I would always remember my fellow Glycoworld lab mates too, Dr. Xiao Jia, Dr. Satsawat Visansirikul, Dr. Michael P. Mannino, Matteo Panza, Scott Geringer, Catherine Alex, Samira Escopy, Ganesh Shrestha, Melanie Shadrick, Dr. Crystal O'Neil, Dr. Yashapal Singh for the fun-time we spent together and for stimulating discussions.

In the end, I am grateful to my former teachers, my parents, brother, sister in law, relatives and friends who remembered me in their prayers for the ultimate success. I consider myself nothing without them. Specially my parents always have been by my side throughout the graduate school, and gave me moral support, encouragement and motivation to accomplish my goals. Without them, this thesis would never have been written in the first place. I dedicate this thesis to the memory of my mother who always believed in my ability to be successful in the academic arena.

Å	Ångström
Ac	Acetyl
Ac ₂ O	Acetic anhydride
AcOH	Acetic acid
AgOTf	Silver(I) trifluoromethanesulfonate
Ag ₂ CO ₃	Silver carbonate
$BF_3 \cdot OEt_2$	Boron trifluoride etherate
BH3•THF	Borane tetrahydrofuran complex
Bn	Benzyl
BnBr	Benzyl bromide
Br ₂	Bromine
Bz	Benzoyl
BzCl	Benzoyl chloride
BzCN	Benzoyl cyanide
CaH ₂	Calcium hydride
CCI3CN	Trichloroacetonitirle
CDCl ₃	Deuterated chloroform
CD ₃ COCD ₃	Deuterated acetone
CH ₂ Cl ₂	Dichloromethane
CH ₃ CN	Acetonitrile
ClCH ₂ CH ₂ Cl	1,2-Dichloroethane
Cu(OAc) ₂	Copper(II) acetate

Cu(OTf)2	Copper(II) trifluoromethanesulfonate
d	Doublet
DBU	
dd	Doublet of doublets
DMAP	4-Dimethylaminopyridine
DMF	N,N-Dimethylformamide
DMTST	Dimethyl(methylthio)sulfonium trifluoromethanesulfonate
D ₂ O	Deuterium oxide
EDC	1-Ethyl-3-(3-(dimethylamino)propyl)-carbodiimide
Et	Ethyl
Et ₂ O	Diethyl ether
EtOAc	Ethyl acetate
EtOH	Ethanol
EtSH	Ethane thiol
Fmoc	Fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl
Gal	
Glc	Glucose
GlcNAc	N-Acetylglucosamine
h	
HAD	H-Bond-mediated aglycone delivery
HCl	Hydrogen chloride
H ₂ O	Water
HMO	Human milk oligosaccharide(s)

HOPO(OBu) ₂	Dibutyl phosphate
H ₂ NNH ₂ H ₂ O	Hydrazine hydrate
HR-ESI MSHigh Resolu	tion Electrospray Ionization mass spectrometry
HR-FAB MSHigh Resolution	on Fast Atom Bombardment mass spectrometry
Hz	Hertz
IDCP	Iodonium(di-γ-collidine)perchlorate
LNB	Lacto-N-biose
LG	Leaving group
LNH	Lacto-N-hexaose
LNnH	Lacto-N-neohexaose
LNnT	Lacto-N-neotetraose
LNT	Lacto-N-tetraose
Μ	Molar
MeOTf	
m	
Me	Methyl
MeCN	Acetonitrile
MeOH	Methanol
MgSO ₄	
min	Minute(s)
MS	Molecular sieves
MW	Molecular weight
<i>m/z</i>	Mass to charge ratio

Na	Sodium
NaCNBH3	Sodium cyanoborohydride
NaH	Sodium hydride
NaHCO3	Sodium bicarbonate
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide
NaOMe	
NBn	ortho-Nitrobenzyl
NIS	N-Iodosuccinimide
Na ₂ S ₂ O ₃	Sodum thiosulfate
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
NPhth	Phthalimido
Pd/C	Palladium on carbon
PFBz	
Ph	Phenyl
Pico	Picoloyl
ppm	
Ру	Pyridine
RDS	Rate determining step
R _f	
RRV	Relative reactivity values
rt	Room temperature
s	Singlet
SBox	S-Benzoxazolyl

SBiz	<i>S</i> -Benzimidazolyl
SEt	
S _N 1	Nucleophilic substitution unimolecular
S _N 2	Nucleophilic substitution bimolecular
SPh	S-Phenyl
STaz	
STol	
t	Triplet
TBDMS	<i>tert</i> -Butyldimethylsilyl
TBDMSOTf	tert-Butyldimethylsilyl trifluoromethanesulfonate
TBS	<i>tert</i> -Butyldimethylsilyl
TBAI	<i>tert</i> -Butylammonium iodide
TFA	Trifluoroacetic acid
Tf ₂ O	Trifluoromethanrsulfonic anhydride
TfOH	Trifluoromethanesulfonic (triflic) acid
THF	
TIPS	Triisopropylsilyl
TLC	Thin layer chromatography
TMS	Trimethylsilyl
TMSCl	Trimethylsilyl chloride
TMSOTf	Trimethylsilyl trifluoromethanesulfonate
TolSCl	
ТsOH	<i>p</i> -Toluenesulfonic acid

TTBP......2,4,6-Tri-*tert*-butylpyrimidine

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1

Application of armed, disarmed, superarmed and superdisarmed building blocks in stereocontrolled glycosylation and expeditious oligosaccharide synthesis

1.1.	Introduction: chemical synthesis of glycosides and oligosaccharides2
1.2.	Fraser-Reid's armed-disarmed strategy for oligosaccharide synthesis5
1.3.	Many reactivity levels exist between the armed and disarmed building blocks7
1.4.	Modes for enhancing of the reactivity: superarmed building blocks10
1.5.	Modes for decreasing the reactivity: superdisarmed building blocks16
1.6.	Application of armed and disarmed building blocks in stereocontrolled
	glycosylation21
1.7.	Application of armed/superarmed and disarmed building blocks in chemoselective
	oligosaccharide synthesis27
1.8.	Conclusions and outlook
1.9.	References

CHAPTER 2

Conformationally superarmed S-ethyl glycosyl donors as effective building blocks for chemoselective oligosaccharide synthesis in one pot

2.1. Introduction	57
2.2. Results and discussion	
2.3. Conclusions	67

2.4.	2.4. Experimental				
	2.4.1.	General methods	57		
	2.4.2.	Preparation of glycosyl donors 2.1 , 2.2 , 2.3 , 2.5 , 2.6 , 2.8 , 2.9	58		
	2.4.3.	Synthesis of glycosyl acceptors 2.4 , 2.14 , 2.15 , 2.17 , 2.19	77		
	2.4.4.	General procedures for competition experiments	78		
	2.4.5.	Synthesis of disaccharides	79		
	2.4.6.	One-pot, one-addition trisaccharide synthesis	83		
	2.4.7.	X-ray structure determination of disaccharide 2.10	36		
2.5.	. Refere	ences	87		

The chemical synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides: lacto-N-neotetraose

$(Gal\beta 1 \rightarrow 4GlcNAc\beta 1 \rightarrow 3Gal\beta 1 \rightarrow 4Glc)$

3.1.	Introdu	action	96
3.2.	Result	s and discussion	96
3.3.	Conclu	isions	102
3.4.	Experi	mental	103
	3.4.1.	General methods	103
	3.4.2.	Preparation of monosaccharide building blocks 3.10 , 3.6 , 3.13 , 3.14	104
	3.4.3.	Synthesis of oligosaccharides 3.2 , 3.3 , 3.11 , 3.15 , 3.16 , 3.12	108
	3.4.4.	Deprotection of tetrasaccharide 3.12	116
3.5	. Refer	ences	118

The chemical synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides: lacto-N-tetraose

$(Gal\beta1 \rightarrow 3GlcNAc\beta1 \rightarrow 3Gal\beta1 \rightarrow 4Glc)$

4.1.	Introdu	action
4.2.	Result	s and discussion130
4.3.	Conclu	134 asions
4.4.	Experi	mental
	4.4.1.	General methods
	4.4.2.	Preparation of monosaccharide building blocks 4.7, 4.8, 4.5, 4.12. 4.13136
	4.4.3.	Synthesis of oligosaccharides 4.2 , 4.10 , 4.14 , 4.15 , 4.11 14
	4.4.4.	Deprotection of tetrasaccharide 4.11 148
4.5.	Refere	nces

CHAPTER 5

The chemical synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides: lacto-N-hexaose

Galβ1→3GlcNAcβ1→3 [Galβ1→4GlcNAcβ1→6] Galβ1→4Glc

5.1.	Introdu	action	156
5.2.	Results	s and discussion	157
5.3.	Conclu	isions	163
5.4.	Experi	mental1	63
	5.4.1.	General methods	163
	5.4.2.	Synthesis of oligosaccharides 5.4 , 5.9 , 5.11 , 5.12 , 5.13 , 5.14 , 5.15 , 5.18	164
	5.4.3.	Deprotection of oligosaccharides 5.15 and 5.14.	174

5.5.	References		17	8
------	------------	--	----	---

The chemical synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides: lacto-N-neohexaose

$(Gal\beta1 \rightarrow 4GlcNAc\beta1 \rightarrow)_2 3, 6Gal\beta1 \rightarrow 4Glc$

6.1.	Introdu	iction	
6.2.	• Results and discussion		
6.3.	Conclu	isions	
6.4.	Experi	mental	192
	6.4.1.	General methods	192
	6.4.2.	Synthesis of oligosaccharides 6.4, 6.8, 6.9, 6.11, 6.12	193
	6.4.3.	Deprotection of oligosaccharides 6.11 and 6.12	
6.5.	Refer	ences	

APPENDIX (selected NMR spectral data)

LIST OF SCHEMES

Scheme 1.1.	Outline of the chemical glycosylation
Scheme 1.2.	Outline of conventional approaches to oligosaccharide synthesis4
Scheme 1.3.	Fraser-Reid's armed-disarmed strategy
Scheme 1.4.	Intermediate reactivity of a series of partially benzoylated rhamnosides8
Scheme 1.5.	Disarming effects on 2,3-dideoxy donors10
Scheme 1.6.	Conformational superarming: conformational change to increase
	reactivity11
Scheme 1.7.	Conformational superarming via 3,6-silylene tethering13
Scheme 1.8.	Superarmed (1.44) and armed (1.45) glycosyl donors in competitive
	glycosylation14
Scheme 1.9.	Superarming by combined neighboring and conformational effects15
Scheme 1.10	Deactivation by strong electron withdrawal from C-617
Scheme 1.11	Chemoselective activation of disarmed donors over acceptors bearing
	fused rings
Scheme 1.12	Electronically superdisarmed building blocks
Scheme 1.13	Disarming by placing an acyl substituent on the leaving group20
Scheme 1.14	Arming participating picolinyl group mediated 1,2-trans-
	glycosylation
Scheme 1.15	. Use of O-nitrobenzyl and O-cyanobenzyl arming participating groups23
Scheme 1.16	. Bromine-mediated activation of S-ethyl donors

Scheme 1.17.	. Highly stereoselective glycosylation with armed and disarmed 2-deoxy	
	donors	
Scheme 1.18.	Armed-disarmed synthesis of glycosphingolipid 1.99 28	
Scheme 1.19.	Sequential activation of armed \rightarrow disarmed \rightarrow superdisarmed building	
	blocks	
Scheme 1.20.	Sequential activation in one-pot for the synthesis of cis-trans-trans-linked	
	tetrasaccharide	
Scheme 1.21.	Synthesis of <i>cis-cis</i> -patterned trisaccharide via the interim reprotection.32	
Scheme 1.22.	Programmable strategy for the synthesis of trans-trans-linked	
	oligosaccharide	
Scheme 1.23.	Sequential activation of picolinylated armed \rightarrow superdisarmed building	
	blocks: synthesis of <i>trans-cis</i> -linked trisaccharide 1.121 34	
Scheme 1.24.	Superarmed \rightarrow armed \rightarrow disarmed activation for the one-pot synthesis35	
Scheme 1.25.	Synthesis of tetrasaccharide with alternating trans-cis linkages	
Scheme 1.26.	One-pot synthesis of Globo H hexasaccharide based on preactivation37	
Scheme 1.27 .	DMF modulated disarmed-armed iterative glycosylation	

Scheme 2.1.	The relative reactivity of the conformationally superarmed S-phenyl	
	glycosyl donors	.58
Scheme 2.2.	The relative reactivity of S-phenyl versus S-ethyl glycosyl donors of the	
	superarmed series	59

Scheme 2.3.	The effect of the conformational and electronic superarming in the series of
	S-ethyl glycosyl donors

- Scheme 2.4. One-pot one-addition synthesis of trisaccharides 2.16, 2.18 and 2.20....65
- Scheme 2.5. The relative reactivity of glycosyl acceptors 2.14, 2.15, 2.17 and 2.19.....67

Scheme 3.1.	Retrosynthesis analysis of LNnT 3.1 97
Scheme 3.2.	Convergent synthesis of protected LNnT 3.12 99
Scheme 3.3.	The linear synthesis of tetrasaccharide 3.12 and its deprotection to obtain
	LNnT 3.1

CHAPTER 4

Scheme 4.1.	Retrosynthesis analysis of LNT 4.1	30
Scheme 4.2.	Convergent synthesis of protected LNT 4.11	32
Scheme 4.3.	The linear synthesis of tetrasaccharide 4.11 and its deprotection to obtain	
	LNT 4.1	33

Scheme 5.1.	First attempted assembly of LNH 5.1	158
Scheme 5.2.	Convergent synthesis of acceptor 5.14	159
Scheme 5.3.	Convergent synthesis of LNH 5.1 and LNT 5.2	162

Scheme 6.1.	First attempted assembly of LNnH 6.1.	186
Scheme 6.2.	Scheme 6.2. Convergent synthesis of acceptor 6.11	
Scheme 6.3.	Convergent synthesis of LNnH 6.1 and LNnT 6.2	191

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 1

Figure 1.1.	O-2/O-5 Cooperative effect in glycosylation.	7
Figure 1.2.	RRVs of differently protected STol glycosyl donors and acceptors	9
Figure 1.3.	RRVs of partially silvlated superarmed glycosyl donors	12

CHAPTER 2

Figure 2.1.	The X-ray structure of disaccharide 2.10 (hydrogens and protecting grou	ıps
	have been omitted for clarity)	64

CHAPTER 5

Figure 5.1.	Chemical structures	s of LNH 5.1	l and LNT 5.2 .	
-------------	---------------------	---------------------	------------------------	--

Figure 6.1.	Chemical structure	s of LNH 6.1 a	and LNT 6.2	
-------------	--------------------	-----------------------	--------------------	--

LIST OF TABLES

CHAPTER 1

Table 1.1.	Survey of stereoselectivity in glycosylation with different donors26
Table 1.2.	A survey of oligosaccharide sequences that can be obtained by
	chemoselective activation

Table 2.1.	Glycosylation	of acceptor 2.4	4 with different s	superarmed SEt donors	63
------------	---------------	-----------------	--------------------	-----------------------	----

Application of armed, disarmed, superarmed and superdisarmed building blocks in stereocontrolled glycosylation and expeditious oligosaccharide synthesis

M. D. Bandara, J. P. Yasomanee, and A. V. Demchenko. Application of Armed, Disarmed, Superarmed, and Superdisarmed Building Blocks. In Stereocontrolled Glycosylation and Expeditious Oligosaccharide Synthesis. Selective Glycosylations: Synthetic Methods and Catalysts, C. S. Bennett (Ed.). Willey-VCH, **2017**, 29-58.

1.1. Introduction: chemical synthesis of glycosides and oligosaccharides

From the building blocks of nature to disease-battling therapeutics and vaccines, carbohydrates have had a broad impact on evolution, society, economy, and human health. Numerous applications of these essential molecules in many areas of science and technology exist, foremost of which can be found in the areas of therapeutic-agent and diagnostic-platform development. Although carbohydrate oligomers, oligosaccharides or glycans, are desirable for biological and medical communities, these molecules remain very challenging targets for chemists. Amongst a number of hurdles including functionalization, elaborate protecting and leaving group manipulations, tedious purification and sophisticated structure analysis, it is glycosylation, a coupling reaction performed between two monosaccharide units, that has proven particularly challenging to chemists. Nature flawlessly performs this reaction to obtain complex glycans and glycoconjugates.^{1,2} Chemical glycosylation, however, remains challenging even with the aid of recent methodological breakthroughs³⁻⁸ and modern technologies.⁹⁻¹⁷

Many methods for chemical glycosylation have been developed, but it is the inability to control the stereoselectivity that has proven to be the major hurdle. The glycosylation typically follows a unimolecular S_N1 mechanism^{18,19} via four distinct steps: activation, dissociation, nucleophilic attack, and proton transfer (Scheme 1.1).¹⁸ In the case of a non-participating ether-type substituent at C-2, glycosylation proceeds via an oxacarbenium ion.⁵ The intermediacy of the flattened oxacarbenium ion typically results in the formation of anomeric mixtures in which 1,2-*cis* glycosides²⁰ (for D-gluco/galacto series) are slightly favored due to the anomeric effect.^{21,22} The goal of stereocontrolling glycosylation has been approached in many ways and much effort dedicated to

developing new leaving groups (LG in schemes) and refining the reaction conditions. We know that leaving groups, temperature, promoter/additives, and the reaction solvent may have a significant effect on the reactivity of the reactants and the stereoselectivity of glycosylation.²³ However, since these factors still often fail to adequately control the outcome of many glycosylations that tend to proceed via the oxacarbenium ion, studies are refocusing on gaining a better understanding of the reaction mechanism.

Protecting groups are extensively used in carbohydrate chemistry to mask additional sites of reactivity in polyfunctional compounds, including both donors and acceptors. Protecting groups, however, can affect the glycosylation in a variety of other ways. As stated by Fraser-Reid "protecting groups do more than protect."²⁴ Amongst the best known effects of protecting groups is the neighboring acyl group participation,²⁵ which remains one of the most powerful modes for controlling the stereoselectivity of glycosylation reaction (protecting groups do more than protect). A vast majority of 1,2-*trans* glycosides is obtained from glycosyl donors equipped with a 2-acyl protecting group. These reactions proceed via the intermediacy of a cyclic acyloxonium ion, which



Scheme 1.1. Outline of the chemical glycosylation.

is then opened with the glycosyl acceptor from the opposite (trans) face (Scheme 1.1).

In addition, protecting groups may have a profound effect on the conformation and stereoelectronics of the starting material, key reaction intermediates, and the products.^{26,27} In the recent years dedicated studies of these intermediates have led to the development of many stereocontrolled reactions, and the synthesis of β -mannosides via anomeric triflates by Crich and co-workers is arguably the best example of such a study.²⁸⁻³⁶ Nevertheless, some linkages and targets remain challenging due to the requirement to achieve complete stereocontrol in each and every step,^{37,38} and suppress side reactions.^{23,39}

Beyond that, the synthesis of oligosaccharides may require additional synthetic steps between glycosylations. In accordance with the traditional oligosaccharide synthesis, the disaccharide intermediate should be converted into either a glycosyl acceptor or donor of the second generation. As depicted in Scheme 1.2, this can be accomplished via deprotection (Method A) or introduction of a leaving group instead of a temporary anomeric substituent (Method B), respectively. The modified disaccharide building blocks can then be reacted with other glycosyl donors or acceptors, resulting in the formation of a tri- or larger saccharide if the convergent approach is incorporated. These synthetic steps can be then reiterated to obtain larger oligosaccharides.



Scheme 1.2. Outline of conventional approaches to oligosaccharide synthesis.

A large number of additional synthetic steps between each glycosylation step typically lead to reduced yields and overall efficiency of the oligosaccharide assembly. Consequently, the past quarter of the century has witnessed the development of new strategies for oligosaccharide synthesis, amongst which selective and chemoselective concepts prevail.⁴⁰ Synthetic strategies based on selective activations make use of different leaving groups that are sequentially activated and traditional selective activation,^{41,42} two-step activation,^{41,43-45} active-latent concept,⁴⁶⁻⁴⁹ and orthogonal strategv⁵⁰ are just a few examples of such approaches.⁵¹ Another general direction in expeditious oligosaccharide synthesis involves chemoselective activations. This strategy is based on the so-called armed-disarmed strategy introduced by Fraser-Reid et al.⁵² Building blocks used in chemoselective activations utilize only one type of a leaving group, and the building block reactivity is adjusted by the choice of protecting groups (protecting groups do more than protect). The next subchapter introduces this general strategy and subsequent sections elaborate on the recent progress that has been made in the area of tuning the reactivity of building blocks and their application in stereoselective glycosylation and chemoselective oligosaccharide synthesis.

1.2. Fraser-Reid's armed-disarmed strategy for oligosaccharide synthesis.

Although the effect of protecting groups on reactivity has been known for many decades,⁵³ Fraser-Reid was the first to describe a new mode by which the differential properties of protecting groups could be exploited.⁵⁴ It was noticed that ester protecting groups reduce the reactivity (disarm) of the n-pentenyl leaving group, in comparison to that of its alkylated (armed) counterpart. One explanation for this phenomenon is that the

increased electron-withdrawal of ester groups decrease the electron density (nucleophilicity) of the anomeric heteroatom. This translates into a reduced leaving group ability, and works with the leaving groups capable of either direct (thioglycosides) or remote activation (n-pentenyl).⁵⁵ To differentiate the reactivity, mild reaction conditions are required and iodonium(di- γ -collidine)perchlorate (IDCP) was found to be a suitable mild activator for the armed O-pentenyl glycosyl donors allowing for direct chemoselective coupling between an activated (armed) glycosyl donor and a deactivated (disarmed) glycosyl acceptor. The disaccharide is then used directly in subsequent glycosidation, but the activation of its disarmed leaving group may require a stronger activator (NIS/TfOH in case of pentenyl leaving group). In a more general sense, the differentiation can be achieved by modulating the reaction conditions that in addition of the choice of promoter, reaction temperature or solvent could be exploited.⁵⁶ Discovered with *n*-pentenyl glycosides, this armed-disarmed strategy ultimately proved to be of a general nature, and has been applied to many other classes of glycosyl donor (see subsequent sections).⁵⁷



Scheme 1.3. Fraser-Reid's armed-disarmed strategy

A different rationalization of the arming and disarming effects has emerged with the discovery of the "O-2/O-5 cooperative effect."⁵⁸ In case of the armed donors, it is believed that the oxacarbenium ion intermediate is stabilized by integrated assistance from the lone pair of electrons on the adjacent ring oxygen (O-5, Figure 1.1). In case of the disarmed donors, it is believed that the oxacarbenium ion intermediate is stabilized by charge distribution via acyloxonium ion intermediate formed through the acyl type protecting group at O-2. The realization of the O-2/O-5 cooperative effect in glycosylation led to the discovery of electronically superarmed and superdisarmed glycosyl donors and acceptors (vide infra). Reinforcing early work by Isbell,⁵⁹ Crich *et al.* emphasized that the 1,2*-trans* orientation of the 2-O-acyl and S-benzoxazolyl (SBox) leaving group is required for the anchimeric assistance to occur.⁶⁰ A similar conclusion was reached by Bols and Demchenko for S-phenyl glycosides (*vide infra*).⁶¹ Presumably, the stabilization takes place via the concerted displacement of the leaving group.



Figure 1.1. O-2/O-5 Cooperative effect in glycosylation.

1.3. Many reactivity levels exist between the armed and disarmed building blocks

From the early days, the researchers were devising different approaches to quantifying the relative reactivity of different building blocks. Following the pioneering study by Fraser-Reid dedicated to determining relative reactivities of variously protected pairs of the n-pentenyl glycosides,⁵³ Ley and co-workers introduced a technique wherein building block reactivity could be "tuned."⁶² In a series of competitive experiments, wherein two glycosyl donors were set to compete for one glycosyl acceptor, a series of relative reactivity ratios were established (Scheme 1.4). For instance, the greatest disarming effect was seen from the 2-benzoyl substituent in compound **1.2** in comparison to that of 3-benzoyl and 4-benzoyl substituents (**1.3** and **1.4**). Di-benzoylated glycosyl donors **1.5** and **1.6** were less reactive than their mono-benzoylated counterparts and, the disarmed per-benzoylated donor **1.7** being the least reactive in this series.



Scheme 1.4. Intermediate reactivity of a series of partially benzoylated rhamnosides.

Wong and co-workers devised a comprehensive approach wherein a broad library of glycosyl donors and acceptors was assigned relative reactivity values (RRVs).⁶³ The determination of RRVs was made using tolyl thioglycoside donors in the presence of an NIS/TfOH promoter system. More recently, Hung and Wong created a comprehensive database of RRVs for the series of D-glucose building blocks (Figure 1.2).⁶⁴ According to their database, some tri-benzylated acceptors **1.9-1.12** showed similar or even higher RRVs in comparison to that of the armed donor **1.8**. Not surprisingly, RRVs of mono-

benzoylated donors **1.13-1.16** was lower, but still much higher than that of the disarmed acceptor **1.17** or disarmed donor **1.18**. The application of this approach to chemoselective oligosaccharide synthesis and determination of the RRVs of silylated donors will be discussed below.



Figure 1.2. RRVs of differently protected STol glycosyl donors and acceptors.

Toshima *et al.* studied the effect of remote protecting groups of glycosyl donors of the 2,3-dideoxy series on the reactivity in glycosylations.⁶⁵ For this purpose, glycosylation reactions of glycosyl acetate donors **1.19** and **1.20** with acceptor **1.21** were performed in the presence of several Lewis and protic acid activators including TMSOTf, TBSOTf, BF₃-OEt₂, TfOH, and momorillonite K-10 (MK-10). It was found that glycosidation of donor **1.20** yielded disaccharide **1.23** with excellent yield while donor **1.19** with 4,6-dibenzoyl protection gave disaccharide **1.22** in low yield under the same reaction conditions. A similar reactivity profile was determined for 4-benzoyl-6-benzyl donor.⁶⁵



Scheme 1.5. Disarming effects on 2,3-dideoxy donors.

Although most reactivity levels in the studies surveyed in this section fall between the traditional armed and disarmed building blocks, Wong's and Hung's studies revealed a number of building blocks that extend beyond this boundary. For example, 2-hydroxyl galactoside⁶³ or 3-hydroxyl glucoside⁶⁴ were found to be 3 and 1.5 times more reactive than their respective per-benzylated counterparts. This important discovery led to a new direction in studying building blocks, and a variety of new reactivity levels ranging from more reactive than the armed ones (superarmed) to even less reactive than the disarmed ones (superdisarmed) has been discovered. The studies arising from these two new directions will be discussed in the subsequent two subsections, respectively.

1.4. Modes for enhancing the reactivity: superarmed building blocks

Uniformly protected per-benzylated glycosyl donors have become the benchmark for describing the armed glycosyl donors, or reactivity levels associated with it. Over the years, benzyl groups had been almost exclusively used as arming ether protecting groups until Demchenko and co-workers showed that 2-O-picolinyl group has similar electronic properties and can also be used in chemoselective armed-disarmed activations.⁶⁶ Uniquely, the picolinyl group is capable of affecting the stereoselectivity, which makes it suitable as an "arming participating group." More recently, o-cyano and o-nitrobenzyl have been introduced as arming participating groups.^{67,68}

Other recent improvements have revealed the reactivity levels that far exceed the reactivity of traditional uniformly benzylated armed building blocks. These "superarmed" glycosyl donors have further expanded the versatility of the armeddisarmed concept. Introduced by Bols for describing the reactivity of conformationally armed building blocks, the term superarmed is now used to describe all building blocks that are more reactive than per-benzylated armed building blocks. Building upon early studies of the effect of conformational changes on reactivity⁶⁹ Bols and co-workers hypothesized that the conformational change required to obtain a flattened oxacabenium intermediate that exists in a half-chair conformation will be facilitated in the axial-rich donor. If this conformational change could be facilitated, the activation energy of the rate determining step (RDS) should decrease, and the donor reactivity would be enhanced. The conformational change of SPh glucoside **1.24** was induced via creating steric congestion with *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl (TBS) groups at the C-2, 3 and 4 positions, resulting in a skew-boat conformation of **1.25** (Scheme 1.6).⁶⁹⁻⁷³



Scheme 1.6. Conformational superarming: conformation change leads to increased

reactivity.

As a result, glycosyl donor **1.25** showed an estimated 20-fold increase in reactivity in comparison to the per-benzylated donor. This was ultimately translated into the direct chemoselective coupling of donor **1.25** with the armed acceptor **1.26** in the presence of NIS/TfOH at -78 °C to give disaccharide **1.27** in a high yield.^{71,72}

The RRVs of partially silylated STol glycosyl donors reported by Hung and Wong clearly reinforce Bols' findings that the reactivity may vary drastically depending on the number of silyl groups present and their location on the sugar ring.⁶⁴ For example, mono-silylated donors **1.28-1.31** express much higher reactivity than the standard armed donor **8** (Figure 1.3). Both TBS and their tri-isopropylsilyl (TIPS) counterparts have been studied and the latter showed a marginally higher reactivity across the range of all mono-silylated derivatives studied. Di-silylated thioglycosides **1.32-1.35**, in which silyl groups were remotely positioned to each other, showed 2 to 6 times higher RRVs compared to



Figure 1.3. RRVs of partially silvlated superarmed glycosyl donors.

their mono-silylated counterparts. The greater reactivity enhancement was detected for di-silylated derivatives **1.36** and **1.37** in which the two silyl substituents were placed at

the neighboring trans-vicinal positions of the ring, 2,3 and 3,4 respectively. Interestingly, TBS substituents were more arming than TIPS in all di-silylated donors **1.32-1.37**.

The scope of conformational superarming was broadened by the investigation of a series of glycosyl donors in which the axial-rich conformation was achieved via strategic tethering. Building upon their earlier studies of 2,4-diol tethering with di-*tert*-butyl silylene⁷² and Yamada's 3,6-O-(o-xylylene)-bridging,⁷⁴ Bols and co-workers devised a series of novel glycosyl donors. Under this, 3,6-di-tert-butyl silylene tethering in gluco-, manno-, galacto-, and 2-azido-gluco pyranosides have been investigated.⁷⁵ All of these donors were found to adopt axial-rich B_{1,4} boat or ³S₁ skew boat conformations. To determine the relative reactivity, direct activations of the new donors over the armed tribenzylated acceptor **1.26** have been conducted. As depicted in Scheme 1.7, chemoselective glycosylations with donors **1.38-1.40** afforded disaccharides **1.41-1.43** in 51-70% yields with preferential α -selectivity.



Scheme 1.7. Conformational superarming via 3,6-silylene tethering.

Demchenko and co-workers took a different approach for superarming glycosyl donors. The superarming of S-benzoxazolyl (SBox) and SEt glycosyl donors was based

on the O-2/O-5 cooperative effect in glycosylation (*vide infra*).⁵⁸ In this scenario, it is believed that the oxacarbenium ion intermediate is stabilized by the cooperative assistance from both the lone pair of electrons on the adjacent ring oxygen (O-5) and charge distribution via acyloxonium ion intermediate formed through the acyl type protecting group at O-2 (Scheme 1.8). The 2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl derivatives gain extra stabilization upon activation through this O-2/O-5 cooperative mechanism and becomes a superarmed donor. As a result of the competitive glycosylation upon activation with dimethyl(thiomethyl)sulfonium trifluoromethanesulfonate (DMTST), it was observed that donors equipped with 2-OBz-3,4,6-tri-OBn pattern are 10-20 times more reactive than their armed counterparts.⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸ Thus, a competitive reaction of donors **1.44** and **1.45** with acceptor **1.21** gave disaccharide **1.46** derived from the superarmed donor **45** was found only in trace amounts.



Scheme 1.8. Superarmed (1.44) and armed (1.45) glycosyl donors in the competitive

glycosylation.

These results clearly showed that the superarmed donor is much more reactive than the armed counterpart. Further studies by the Demchenko group showed that the same trend of reactivity appears upon changing the leaving group. While efficient differentiation of glycosyl donors of the S-ethyl series could be efficiently achieved in the presence of iodine as promoter, the reactivity difference was notably lower for glycosyl donors of the SPh, S-Tolyl, STaz (S-thiazolinyl), and O-pentenyl series.⁷⁸

Through a collaboration between the Bols and Demchenko groups, the two different approaches to superarm glycosyl donors were combined in one universal platform. Glycosylations with 2-OBz-3,4-di-OTBS donor **1.49** was swift, high yielding and β -stereoselective (Scheme 1.9).⁶¹ In order to determine the relative reactivity of the new hybrid donor **1.49** in comparison to the previously investigated superarmed donors, a series of competitive experiments have been performed.



Scheme 1.9. Superarming by combined neighboring and conformational effects.

Thus, a competition experiment between the hybrid donor **1.49** and the electronically super-armed donor **1.51** showed a 88% conversion of donor **1.49** to glycoside **1.52**

whereas unreacted donor **1.51** was recovered in 94%. When a similar competition experiment was performed between donors **1.49** and **1.25**, a higher conversion of donor **1.25** to **1.53** has been observed. A significance of the anomeric configuration brought up by Crich⁶⁰ was further reinforced by this comparison study that showed higher reactivity of donor **1.49** than its β -linked counterpart **1.50**. It is also believed that the flipped skewboat conformation of the donor may also diminish the anchimeric assistance due to the non-antiperiplanar nature of the 2-OBz group to the anomeric leaving group.

On the other hand, α -configured glycosyl donors equipped with a nonparticipating group at C-2 typically by far exceed the reactivity of their β counterparts.^{61,79} This controversy reinforces the power of the anchimeric assistance that is able to invert the reactivity of α - and β -thioglycosides. Over the course of this study the order of relative reactivity of various glycosyl donors was determined. It was also learned that the conformational arming is a very powerful tool to increase the reactivity and achieve excellent yields. The anchimeric superarming effects are weaker, but the participation ensures high 1,2-*trans* selectivity, which was unavailable with other conformationally superarmed donors. A recent relevant study revealed that SEt glycosyl donors follow a very similar relative reactivity trend, but all SEt glycosides are marginally more reactive than their SPh counterparts.⁸⁰

1.5. Modes for decreasing the reactivity: superdisarmed building blocks

Standard disarmed building blocks are uniformly protected with benzoyl groups (per-benzoates). Madsen *et al* have revealed that building blocks can be deactivated by placing a single electron-withdrawing group at a remote position.^{81,82} Thus, they have
shown that 6-O-pentafluorobenzoyl (PFBz) group disarms the leaving group of **1.55**. The disarming effect is sufficient to selectively activate per-benzylated armed donor **1.54** over acceptor **55** to obtain disaccharide **1.56** (Scheme 1.10A). This concept was further extended to disarming building blocks of the galacto, manno and manosamine series. Crich and co-worker have investigated the disarming effect that 6-fluoro-6-deoxy glycosyl donors in terms of reactivity, selectivity and stability of the intermediate glycosyl triflates. Thus, it was observed that di- and tri-fluorinated D- or L-mannosyl triflates were more stable than their mono-fluorinated counterpart. This was accessed by comparing the decomposition temperatures specific to each glycosyl triflate as depicted in Scheme 10B.⁸³



Scheme 1.10. Deactivation by strong electron withdrawal from C-6.

The effect of cyclic acetals and ketals has also been studied towards expanding the scopes of armed- disarmed strategy. Fraser-Reid *et al.*⁸⁴ and Ley⁸⁵ *et al.* have shown that the presence of such cyclic protecting groups can deactivate the sugar derivative by increasing the rigidity of the sugar ring and thereby locking the ${}^{4}C_{1}$ chair conformation that may interfere with the formation of the flattened oxacarbenium ion.^{84,86} Extensive studies have led to the realization that reactivity of building blocks protected with cyclic groups can even be lower than that of the corresponding per-benzoylated disarmed building blocks. Thus, Boons and co-workers have shown that presence of the cyclic 2,3-carbonate group disarms the thioglycosidic donor more than per-acylation, making the former superdisarmed.⁸⁷ As a result, disarmed per-benzoylated glycosyl donor **1.60** could be selectively activated over the superdisarmed acceptor **1.61** to yield disaccharide **1.62** in a good yield (Scheme 1.11). Along similar lines, Demchenko *et al.* showed that even a conventional benzylidene acetal groups can superdisarm building blocks of the SBox series.⁵⁸



Scheme 1.11. Chemoselective activation of disarmed donors over acceptors bearing fused rings.

The Bols group brought up the fact that the disarming effect of cyclic acetals can be not only due to the ring rigidity, but also due to the electron withdrawing effect of C-6 group which is further enriched by its orientation.⁸⁸ From model studies, they have concluded that the torsional effect, which greatly depends on the substituent orientation, plays a role in disarming the sugar moieties. More recently, Crich and co-workers investigated the effect of a 4,6-O-alkylidene acetal or its 7-carba analog on the rates of hydrolysis of methyl and 2,4-dinitrophenyl galactopyranosides in which the methoxy group adopts either an equatorial or an axial position according to the configuration.⁸⁹ This study reinforced previous findings, and it was determined that the alkylidene acetal leads to decreased rates of hydrolysis with respect to comparable systems lacking the cyclic protecting group. A combination of the two effects, torsional and electronic, may be one of the reasons the donors containing the fused ring systems tend to be less reactive than the pure-electronically disarmed, acylated building blocks. In contrast, 7-carba analogs had practically no effect on the rates of hydrolysis.

Demchenko *et al* discovered that S-benzoxazolyl (SBox) glycosyl donor protected with arming benzyl at C-2 and disarming benzoyl groups at C-3, 4 and 6 shows greatly diminished reactivity compared to both the armed per-benzylated and disarmed perbenzoylated glycosyl donors.⁵⁸



Scheme 1.12. Electronically superdisarmed building blocks.

While glycosylation of acceptor **1.66** with SBox donors **1.45** and **1.63** in the presence of copper(II) triflate gave the respective disaccharides **1.67** and **1.68** in good yields, donor **1.69** remained totally unreactive. Interestingly, this observation was contradictory to previously predicted higher reactivity for such 2-O-benzylated glycosides compared to

disarmed per-benzoylated donors.^{62,63} This discrepancy was rationalized by the "O-2/O-5 cooperative effect".⁵⁸ In this application, the carbocation stabilization can neither be achieved from the endocyclic ring oxygen (O-5) as in the armed glycosyl donors, nor from O-2 as in disarmed donors. As a result, this combination gave rise to the "superdisarming" protecting group pattern overall.

Demchenko and co-workers discovered a conceptually new way of disarming the leaving groups. The conceptual difference of this approach from Fraser-Reid's armeddisarmed approach is that herein the disarming is achieved by acylation of the leaving group itself, not by introducing the neighboring acyl substituents in the sugar moiety. This was investigated in application to *S*-benzimidazolyl (SBiz) leaving group versus Nanisoylated SBiz.⁹⁰ First, SBiz donor **1.70** was activated with MeI over the disarmed acceptor **1.71** to afford disaccharide **1.72** (Scheme 1.13).



Scheme 1.13. Disarming by placing an acyl substituent on the leaving group.

The disarmed *N*-anisoylated SBiz disaccharide was then glycosylated with the glycosyl acceptor **1.21** in the presence of AgOTf to give the trisaccharide **1.73** in 84% yield. It was

noted that benzylated and benzoylated SBiz imidates can also be activated in the conventional armed-disarmed fashion.

1.6. Application of armed and disarmed building blocks in stereocontrolled

glycosylation

Armed and disarmed building blocks follow general stereoselectivity trends in glycosylations: armed per-benzylated derivatives provide some α -stereoselectivity, whereas disarmed benzoylated ones give complete β -selectivity due to the participation of 2-benzoyl. As aforementioned, picolinyl can be used as an arming group at C-2, but the chemoselective activation of the 2-O-picolinylated donors leads to 1,2-*trans* glycosides, inverse stereoselectivity in comparison to that achieved with traditional benzylated armed glycosyl donors. Thus, upon activation with Cu(OTf)₂ the armed S-thiazolinyl (STaz) glycosyl donor **1.74** gives the stable cyclic intermediate.



Scheme 1.14. Arming participating picolinyl group mediated 1,2-trans-

glycosylation.

The latter is subsequently glycosylated with the disarmed STaz acceptor **1.75** to give 1,2-*trans*-linked disaccharide **1.76** in 74% yield (Scheme 1.14). The resulting disarmed disaccharide donor **1.76** has been further glycosylated with the acceptor **1.21** in the presence of stronger promoter AgOTf to obtain the *trans-trans*-linked trisaccharide **1.77** in 91% yield.⁶⁶

Mlynarski and co-workers investigated ortho-nitrobenzyl (NBn) as an arming participating group.⁶⁷ They theorized that 2-O-ortho-nitrobenzyl will participate in glycosylation by stabilizing the oxacarbenium ion intermediate and hence blocking the bottom face from the nucleophilic attack (Scheme 1.15A). The activation of glucosyl donor 1.78 with Ph₂SO/Tf₂O/TTBP (2,4,6-tri-tert-butylpyrimidine) afforded disaccharide **1.79** in a high yield and preferential 1,2-*trans* selectivity. Liu and co-workers investigated another arming participating group, o-cyanobenzyl (CBn) at C-2 position of a glycosyl donor.⁶⁸

The interesting feature of this glycosylation method is that a single glycosyl donor can yield either α - or β -linked products depending on the nature of the glycosyl acceptor. It is believed that the dual directing effect of o-nitrobenzyl group is due to the equilibrium in reaction intermediates **A-C** (Scheme 1.15B). Thus, the activation of donor **1.80** will result in the formation of oxacarbenium ion **B** that is stabilized via *cis*nitronium ion **A**. The latter will direct the nucleophilic attack from the top face hence offering β -directing effect that is preferred with reactive electron-rich glycosyl acceptors. Another mode by which o-cyanobenzyl group can react is via H-bond-mediated aglycone delivery (HAD). Discovered with remote picolinyl and picoloyl groups, the HAD method has already yielded a number of highly selective syntheses and applications.⁹¹⁻¹⁰⁰ A similar HAD action can be envisaged for 2-O-ortho-cyanobenzyl group (see intermediate **C** in Scheme 1.15B). It was concluded that this mechanism of action leading to high α -selectivity is preferred with electron-deficient acceptors.



Scheme 1.15. Use of O-nitrobenzyl and O-cyanobenzyl arming participating groups.

In the context of the stereoselective synthesis of α -glycosides, electronically superdisarmed glycosyl donors, which are also 2-O-benzylated, often provide higher stereoselectivity than their per-benzylated counterparts.²⁰ A valuable application of superdisarmed SEt donors has emerged with the synthesis and glycosidation of glycosyl sulfonium salts as activated intermediates of thioglycoside glycosidation. The mode of activation of thioglycosides has been proposed multiple times although direct evidence could only be acquired with superdisarmed thioglycosides due to high stability of the intermediate. Thus, direct alkylation of a superdisarmed ethylthio glycoside with MeOTf led to a sulfonium salt that could be isolated and characterized by NMR.⁷⁹ A number of other anomeric sulfonium salts, most notably that derived from the reaction with dimethyl(methylthio)sulfonium triflate (DMTST) was obtained.⁷⁹ Various experiments with simple alcohol acceptors showed high 1,2-*cis* stereoselectivity of glycosidation of sulfonium salt intermediates.

Bromine-activated glycosylation of thioglycosides introduced by Demchenko *et al.* gave high stereoselectivity only with superdisarmed thioglycosides.¹⁰¹ Thus, it was demonstrated that the 1,2-*trans* glycosyl bromide is the only intermediate leading to products while the 1,2-*cis* bromide remains unreactive and the oxacarbenium intermediate does not form. Resultantly, the nucleophilic displacement of β -bromide takes place in a concerted bimolecular fashion leading to exclusive α -stereoselectivity. For instance, 3,4,6-tri-O-benzoyl-2-O-benzyl thioglycoside **1.86** was coupled with acceptor **1.21** in the presence of bromine to afford disaccharide **1.87** with exclusive 1,2-*cis* selectivity in 67% yield (Scheme 1.16).



Scheme 1.16. Bromine-mediated activation of S-ethyl donors.¹⁰¹

The use of α -thioglycoside starting material was found advantageous for generating β bromide intermediate. The average yield, which is due to the competing isomerization of β - to α -bromide, could be further improved by using HgBr₂ as the co-promoter, but this could also decrease the stereoselectivity. For comparison, armed donor **1.85** or 4-benzoyl donor **1.88**, gave no stereoselectivity for the formation of the respective disaccharides **1.47** and **1.89**.

Bennett and co-workers devised new promoter systems that gave high α selectivity for both armed and disarmed glycosyl donors of the 2-deoxy series **1.90** and **1.93**, respectively (Scheme 1.17).¹⁰² NMR monitoring showed that the armed hemiacetal donor **1.90** is first converted into to the respective glycosyl chloride intermediate by the action of 3,3-dichloro-1,2-diphenylcyclopropene promoter. The latter is then converted into a mixture of α - and β -glycosyl iodides with TBAI, but predominantly the more reactive β -iodide reacts with glycosyl acceptor **1.91**. Presumably, this displacement proceeds in the S_N2 fashion leading to glycosides in high α -selectivity. Interestingly, 3,3dichloro-1,2-diphenylcyclopropene promoter failed to activate the disarmed donor **1.93** due to the high stability of the intermediate chloride. In this case, 3,3-dibromo-1,2diphenylcyclopropene was found to be an effective promoter that provided glycosides **1.94** in excellent stereoselectivity.



Scheme 1.17. Highly stereoselective glycosylation with armed and disarmed 2-deoxy

donors.

Superarmed glycosyl donors allow to achieve various selectivities depending on their structure and the mode of superarming. Conformationally superarmed donor **1.25** introduced by Bols et al is capable of providing high stereoselectivity that was attributed to the steric hindrance from the bulky 2-O-silyl substituents.⁶⁹⁻⁷² Depicted in Scheme 1.6 is a β -stereoselective glycosylation of acceptor **1.26** that afforded disaccharide **1.27** in a high yield of 85% and complete selectivity. In application of the synthesis of rhamnosides, a drastic temperature effect on stereoselectivity was observed. The conformationally superarmed rhamnosyl donors produced modest β -selectivity at low temperatures, but increasing the temperature gave excellent α -selectivity.¹⁰³

Type of donors	Stereoselectivity	Ref
Armed per-benzyl	Cis/trans-mixtures, mainly	52,54,104,105
	1,2- <i>cis</i>	
Disarmed per-benzoyl	Complete 1,2-trans	52,54,104,105
Armed with 2-O-arming participating	Complete 1,2-trans	66-68,106
group		
Electronically superdisarmed	Moderate or high 1,2-cis	58,101
Superdisarmed by fused ring systems	High or complete 1,2-cis*	31,34,107-111
Conformationally superarmed	Cis/trans-mixtures	70,71
Conformationally and anchimerically	Complete 1,2-trans	61
superarmed		
Anchimerically superarmed	Complete 1,2-trans	76-78
Conformational superarming by tethering	High 1,2-cis	75

Table 1.1.	Survey of	stereoselectivity in	glycosylation	with	different	donors.
------------	-----------	----------------------	---------------	------	-----------	---------

* - high stereoselectivity can be achieved in 4,6-benzylidene or 2,3cyclocarbonyl/ oxazolidinone systems. However, little has been investigated in the context of the chemoselective oligosaccharide synthesis. A relaxed stereoselectivity obtained with conformationally superarmed donors was addressed by the introduction of a hybrid donor **1.49** in which the superarming was achieved by the combined anchimeric and conformational factors (2-O-Bz-3,4-di-O-TBS protection). All glycosylations with donor **1.49** were completely β -selective⁶¹ as well as the electronically superarmed donors bearing 2-O-Bz-tri-O-Bn protection.⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸ Very differently, glycosyl donors in which the superarming is achieved by 3,6-silicon tethering, such as donor **1.38**, provide predominant α -selectivity, which was attributed to the steric hindrance of the top face of the oxacarbenium intermediate.⁷⁵ Table 1.1 surveys currently known modes for arming/ disarming and stereoselectivities that can be achieved by using these approaches.

1.7. Application of armed/superarmed and disarmed building blocks in

chemoselective oligosaccharide synthesis.

The expeditious preparation of complex oligosaccharides remains a significant challenge to synthetic organic chemistry. The combined demands of regio- and stereoselectivity in glycosidic bond formation, has led to complex synthetic schemes and extensive protecting group manipulations. As aforementioned, the use of a chemoselective activation strategy avoids such extraneous manipulations, thus offering significant advantages for expeditious glycoside synthesis. Since the glycosidation of 2-O-acylated glycosyl donors typically proceeds via the formation of the bicyclic acyloxonium intermediate, the overall two-step armed-disarmed activation sequence leads to a *cis-trans*-patterned trisaccharide. Starting with Fraser-Reid's pentenyl-based synthesis,⁵⁴ a number of relevant examples have emerged.⁵⁷ For instance, Hashimoto *et*

al. activated the armed galactosyl donor **1.95** over the disarmed galactosyl acceptor **1.96** with TMSOTf at -46 °C to obtain disaccharide **1.97** in 85% yield. The latter was then glycosidated with glycosyl acceptor **1.98** in the presence of TMSOTf at 0 °C to provide the requisite *cis-trans*-sequenced trisaccharide **1.99** in 85% yield.¹¹² While this synthesis is highly stereoselective, a majority of glycosylation with armed donors suffers from low stereoselectivity.



Scheme 1.18. Armed-disarmed synthesis¹¹² of glycosphingolipid 1.99.

While the traditional armed-disarmed strategy provides a straightforward access to *cis-trans* sequenced trisaccharides, other sequences cannot be directly accessed. It was quickly realized that for this excellent concept to become universally applicable it should be expanded to a broader range of linkages, protecting group patterns, and oligosaccharide sequences. Major improvements in this direction that have emerged in the past decade are summarized in Table 1.2. With the discovery of other levels of reactivity, a more flexible synthesis of a variety of oligosaccharide sequences using the chemoselective activation has become possible.

Sequence*	Building blocks needed	Ref
Cis-trans	Traditional armed \rightarrow disarmed	54,112
Cis-trans-cis	Armed \rightarrow disarmed \rightarrow superdisarmed	58
Cis-trans-trans	Programmable strategy	63
Cis-cis	Armed \rightarrow disarmed with the interim reprotection	113,114
	Armed \rightarrow torsionally or anchimerically superdisarmed	84,106
	Armed \rightarrow 6-PFB disarmed	82
Trans-trans	2-Pico armed \rightarrow traditional disarmed (Scheme 14)	66,106
	Anchimerically superarmed \rightarrow armed	77
Trans-cis	2-Pico armed \rightarrow superdisarmed	106
	Anchimerically superarmed \rightarrow disarmed	77
Trans-cis-trans	Conformationally superarmed \rightarrow armed \rightarrow disarmed	70
	Anchimerically superarmed \rightarrow armed \rightarrow disarmed	78

Table 1.2. A survey of oligosaccharide sequences that can be obtained by

chemoselective activation.

* - practically any sequence can be achieved with the use of selective activations based on building blocks with different leaving groups. Preactivation concept pioneered by Huang and Ye is another way to achieve flexible sequencing.

For example, *cis-trans* oligosaccharide sequence obtained through the traditional armed and disarmed donor could be extended to *cis-trans-cis* sequence by adding a superdisarmed acceptor to this combination.⁵⁸ However, if the extension to another *trans*-linkage is desired, Wong's programmable strategy is the only way to achieve the chemoselective synthesis of *cis-trans-trans* oligosaccharides.⁶³ With many reactivity

levels, the programmable strategy can be applied to many other targets and sequences and some representative examples will be discussed below.

A number of approaches have been developed for the synthesis of *cis-cis* sequenced oligosaccharides.^{82,84,106,113,114} Arming participating 2-O-picolinyl and other similar groups can simplify the syntheses wherein the *trans*-linkage needs to be introduced first.^{66-68,106} For instance, activation of 2-picolinyl donor over disarmed or superdisarmed acceptors can be used to obtain *trans-trans* or *trans-cis* oligosaccharide sequences, respectively.¹⁰⁶ The *trans*-cis-*trans* sequence has been obtained by the combination of either conformationally superarmed or anchimerically superarmed donor with armed and disarmed acceptors.^{70,78} Preactivation-based strategies, which tend to be classified as selective rather than chemoselective, also allow for obtaining many of these sequences. A few examples of such sequences are discussed below.



Scheme 1.19. Sequential activation of armed → disarmed → superdisarmed building blocks.⁵⁸

With the discovery of the anchimerically superdisarmed building blocks, it is now possible to produce the *cis-trans-cis* oligosaccharide sequence.⁵⁸ Thus, it was

demonstrated that disarmed disaccharide **1.101**, obtained by classic armed-disarmed approach from building blocks **1.45** and **1.100**, could be chemoselectively activated over superdisarmed building block **1.102** (Scheme 1.19). This was affected in the presence of $Cu(OTf)_2/TfOH$ to produce trisaccharide **1.103** (70% yield),⁵⁸ which can be used for further glycosylations directly.

The programmable strategy revealed many reactivity levels, which allow to modulate building blocks to obtain various sequences. An example of a sequence wherein no other chemoselective approaches could be used is depicted in Scheme 1.20. This approach was conducted in one-pot with no isolation and characterization of intermediate oligosaccharides. Armed glycosyl donor **1.104** was chemoselectively activated over glycosyl acceptor **1.105** in the presence of NIS/TfOH. The resulting disaccharide intermediate was then reacted with added disarmed glycosyl acceptor **1.106** to form the trisaccharide intermediate that was then glycosidated with added glycosyl acceptor **1.107** to provide *cis-trans-trans*-linked tetrasaccharide **1.108** in 39% overall yield.⁶³



Scheme 1.20. Sequential activation in one-pot for the synthesis of *cis-trans-trans*linked tetrasaccharide.

Van Boom and co-workers invented a two-step method, glycosylation and protecting group manipulation, to obtain *cis-cis*-linked oligosaccharides.¹¹³ Here, after the

first armed-disarmed activation step the resulting disaccharide was reprotected (OBz \rightarrow OBn) prior to the subsequent glycosidation. A more recent example of this strategy wherein propargyl mannosyl donors have been used is shown in Scheme 1.21.¹¹⁴ Glycosylation of the armed mannosyl donor **1.109** with disarmed acceptor **1.110** was performed in the presence of 5 mol % of AuCl₃ and AgSbF₆ in CH₃CN/CH₂Cl₂ (1/1) at 25 °C. As a result, the disarmed disaccharide **1.111** obtained in 85% yield was then reprotected with benzyls to obtain the armed disaccharide **1.112** in 84% yield. The glycosylation between disaccharide **1.112** and disarmed acceptor **1.113** was performed under the same conditions to obtain the desired trisaccharide **1.114** in 21% yield.



Scheme 1.21. Synthesis of *cis-cis*-patterned trisaccharide via the interim

reprotection.

The utilization of the cooperative effect allows for the direct synthesis of *cis-cis*linked oligosaccharides, similar to that discussed previously. In this application, the sequential activation of armed per-benzylated glycosyl donor over superdisarmed 3,4-di-O-benzoyl-2-O-benzyl protected STaz glycosyl acceptor led to the *cis-cis*-linked oligosaccharide.¹⁰⁶ The presence of the remote 6-O-pentafluorobenzoyl group disarms the glycosyl acceptor and also facilitates the synthesis of *cis-cis*-linked sequences.⁸²

As aforementioned, the application of the 1,2-*trans*-directing picolinyl functionality of armed glycosyl donor in activation over the standard disarmed glycosyl acceptor will allow for the synthesis of *trans-trans*-patterned oligosaccharides (see Scheme 1.14). The programmable strategy was also applied to the synthesis of *trans-trans* linked oligosaccharide as shown in Scheme 1.22.⁶⁴ Coupling of thioglycoside **1.115** and acceptor **1.116** in the presence of NIS/TMSOTf followed by quenching the activator with tripropargylamine and glycosylation with the lactosyl diol **1.117** in the presence of NIS/AgOTf afforded tetrasaccharide **1.118** in 40% yield in one pot.



Scheme 1.22. Programmable strategy for the synthesis of *trans-trans*-linked oligosaccharide.

The application of the *trans*-directing 2-O-picolinylated armed glycosyl donors in activation over the superdisarmed acceptors allows to obtain a *trans-cis* glycosylation pattern, which is opposite to the traditional armed-disarmed methodology.¹⁰⁶ Thus,

glycosylation between S-thiazolinyl donor **1.74** and the disarmed acceptor **1.119** in the presence Cu(OTf)₂/TfOH afforded *trans*-linked disaccharide **1.120** in 70% yield. Disaccharide **1.120** was then glycosylated with acceptor **1,21** in the presence of AgOTf to give the anticipated inverse-patterned *trans-cis*-linked trisaccharide **1.121** in 54% yield (Scheme 1.23).



Scheme 1.23. Sequential activation of picolinylated armed → superdisarmed building blocks: synthesis of *trans-cis*-linked trisaccharide 1.121.

The conformational superarming concept has been successively proven by a onepot glycosylation reaction performed between three building blocks **1.25**, **1.122**, and **1.123**, which were placed in the same reaction vessel from the beginning (Scheme 1.24).⁷⁰ In this method, it is essential that all reaction components, not only glycosyl donors (**1.25** and **1.122**), but also glycosyl acceptors (**1.122** and **1.123**) have differential reactivity. The superarmed glycosyl donor **1.25** will be glycosylated with the more reactive primary glycosyl acceptor **1.122**. The resulting disaccharide intermediate with then react with the remaining glycosyl acceptor **1.123** to yield the desired trisaccharide **1.124** in 64% in the one-pot fashion.



Scheme 1.24. Superarmed → armed → disarmed activation for the one-pot synthesis.

A similar sequence was obtained with the electronically superarmed glycosyl donors, but in this approach a more conventional stepwise synthesis was performed. Thus, disaccharide **1.127** was obtained in 80% yield from the glycosylation between superarmed glycosyl donor **1.125** and armed acceptor **1.126** upon activation with iodine at -25 °C (Scheme 1.25). The resulting disaccharide **1.127** was glycosylated with the disarmed acceptor **1.128** in the presence of iodine at room temperature to afford trisaccharide **1.129** in 55% yield. Finally, trisaccharide **1.129** was glycosylated with glycosyl acceptor **1.21** in the presence of NIS/ TfOH to obtain the desired tetrasaccharide **1.130** composed of the *trans-cis-trans* sequence.



Scheme 1.25. Synthesis of tetrasaccharide with alternating *trans-cis* linkages.

Preactivation concept is independent of the building-block reactivity since the leaving group of the glycosyl donor is first converted into a highly reactive species (preactivation) and then the acceptor is added.¹¹⁵ Although this approach involves additional steps because the glycosylation herein is a two-step reaction, it offers more flexibility with the leaving and/or protecting groups. A relevant example illustrating this excellent concept in application to the synthesis of the tumor associated carbohydrate antigen Globo H hexasaccharide is shown in Scheme 1.26.¹¹⁶ The fucosyl donor **1.131** was preactivated at -78 °C with p-TolSCl/AgOTf and then the first acceptor **1.132** was added along with a sterically hindered base TTBP. The temperature was then raised to -20 °C to obtain the trisaccharide intermediate. Upon complete disappearance of acceptor **1.132**, the reaction mixture was cooled again to -78 °C followed by the sequential addition of AgOTf, p-TolSCl, galactose acceptor **1.133**, TTBP and then warming up the

reaction to -20 °C. After complete disappearance of the acceptor **1.133**, the temperature was lowered to -78 °C and the sequence was reiterated for glycosylation of lactoside **1.134**. The resulting Globo H hexasaccharide α -**1.135** was isolated in 47% overall yield based on the four-component one-pot reaction within 7 h.



Scheme 1.26. One-pot synthesis of Globo H hexasaccharide based on preactivation.

Mong *et al.* investigated the possibility of using DMF-modulated glycosylation concept¹¹⁷ in so-called disarmed-armed glycosylation, which is also based on preactivation.¹¹⁸ In accordance with this approach, the glycosyl donor produces β -glycosyl imidinium triflate in the presence of DMF. It has been shown that dioxalenium ion and β -imidinium triflate are in equilibrium and the acceptor can react with both of these species resulting in an α/β -mixture of glycosides. The β -selectivity is inversely

correlated to the amount of DMF, and pure β -selectivity was achieved with 1.2 equiv of DMF.¹¹⁷ Since DMF modulated glycosylations induce a preactivation step, this method opens the glycosyl donor to iterative glycosylations.



Scheme 1.27. DMF modulated disarmed-armed iterative glycosylation

To demonstrate the applicability of this method in oligosaccharide synthesis several different trisaccharides, including the one-pot synthesis of the α -(1,2)-linked trisaccharide **1.139** shown in Scheme 1.27, were obtained. Gildersleeve *et al.* have shown that the aglycone transfer side reaction may occur when the preactivation method is applied for the glycosylations of armed acceptors with the disarmed donors.¹¹⁹ A number of approaches including the use of sterically hindered leaving groups (aglycones)¹¹⁹⁻¹²¹ have been invented to overcome the aglycone transfer in such preactivation glycosylations.

1.8. Conclusions and Outlook

Since the first glycosylation reactions performed in the late 1800s, carbohydrate chemistry has evolved into a broad area of research that has persistently captured the

interest of the scientific community. With recent advances in the rapidly expanding fields of glycosciences, the demand for reliable and stereocontrolled glycosylation methods has increased. Nevertheless, the installation of the glycosidic linkages and the assembly of oligosaccharide sequences remain cumbersome due to the lack of understanding of the mechanistic detail of glycosylation or the inability to translate such knowledge into practical execution. A number of excellent strategies that offer a reasonably efficient route to oligosaccharide assembly have already emerged and the armed-disarmed approach for chemoselective oligosaccharide synthesis is undoubtedly amongst them. The search of new concepts continues, and the field of armed-disarmed glycosylations enjoyed an explosive expansion. New reactivity levels have been revealed and a few new concepts for glycosyl donor activation have been introduced and tested in armeddisarmed strategies.¹²²⁻¹²⁴ Many new sequences can now be achieved directly, but in a majority of application, one needs to take care of protecting groups: protecting groups do more than protect. Although recent advancements discussed in this Chapter have already significantly expanded the scope of the armed-disarmed methodology it is clear that further development of efficient and general methods for the expeditious synthesis of complex carbohydrates will remain an important and active arena for scientific endeavors of the 21st century.

1.9. References

(1) Hehre, E. J. Glycosyl transfer: a history of the concept's development and view of its major contributions to biochemistry. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2001**, *331*, 347-368.

(2) Muthana, S.; Cao, H.; Chen, X. Recent progress in chemical and chemoenzymatic synthesis of carbohydrates. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* **2009**, *13*, 573-581.

(3) Toshima, K.; Tatsuta, K. Recent progress in O-glycosylation methods and its application to natural-products synthesis. *Chem. Rev.* **1993**, *93*, 1503-1531.

(4) Zhu, X.; Schmidt, R. R. New principles for glycoside-bond formation. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2009**, *48*, 1900-1934.

(5) Whitfield, D. M. Computational studies of the role of glycopyranosyl oxacarbenium ions in glycobiology and glycochemistry. *Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem.* 2009, 62, 83-159.

(6) Boltje, T. J.; Kim, J. H.; Park, J.; Boons, G. J. Chiral-auxiliary-mediated 1,2-cis-glycosylations for the solid-supported synthesis of a biologically important branched α-glucan. *Nature Chemistry* **2010**, *2*, 552-557.

Huang, M.; Garrett, G. E.; Birlirakis, N.; Bohe, L.; Pratt, D. A.; Crich, D.
 Dissecting the mechanisms of a class of chemical glycosylation using primary ¹³C kinetic isotope effects. *Nature: Chemistry* 2012, *4*, 663-667.

(8) Frihed, T. G.; Bols, M.; Pedersen, C. M. Mechanisms of glycosylation
 reactions studied by low-temperature nuclear magnetic resonance. *Chem. Rev.* 2015, *115*, 4963-5013.

(9) Seeberger, P. H.; Werz, D. B. Automated synthesis of oligosacchraides as a basis for drug discovery. *Nature Rev.* **2005**, *4*, 751-763.

Krock, L.; Esposito, D.; Castagner, B.; Wang, C.-C.; Bindschadler, P.;
 Seeberger, P. H. Streamlined access to conjugation-ready glycans by automated
 synthesis. *Chem. Sci.* 2012, *3*, 1617-1622.

(11) Vijaya Ganesh, N.; Fujikawa, K.; Tan, Y. H.; Stine, K. J.; Demchenko, A.
 V. HPLC-assisted automated oligosaccharide synthesis. *Org. Lett.* 2012, *14*, 3036-3039.

(12) Bennett, C. S. Principles of modern solid-phase oligosaccharide synthesis.*Org. Biomol. Chem.* 2014, *12*, 1686-1698.

(13) Grob, V. D.; Squires, T. G.; Vercellotti, J. R. Glycosyl chlorides through reaction with zinc chloride-thionyl chloride *Carbohydr. Res.* **1969**, *10*, 595-597.

(14) Pistorio, S. G.; Stine, K. J.; Demchenko, A. V.: Automated chemical synthesis of oligosaccharides and glycoconjugates. In *Carbohydrate Chemistry: State-of-the-art and challenges for drug development*; Cipolla, L., Ed.; Imperial College Press: London, 2015; pp 247-276.

(15) Seeberger, P. H. The logic of automated glycan assembly. *Acc. Chem. Res.***2015**, *48*, 1450-1463.

(16) Ratner, D. M.; Swanson, E. R.; Seeberger, P. H. Automated Synthesis of aProtected N-Linked Glycoprotein Core Pentasaccharide. *Org. Lett.* 2003, *5*, 4717-4720.

(17) Hsu, C. H.; Hung, S. C.; Wu, C. Y.; Wong, C. H. Toward automated oligosaccharide synthesis. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50*, 11872-11923.

(18) Nukada, T.; Berces, A.; Whitfield, D. M. Can the stereochemical outcome of glycosylation reactions be controlled by the conformational preferences of the glycosyl donor? *Carbohydr. Res.* **2002**, *337*, 765-774.

(19) Bohe, L.; Crich, D. A propos of glycosyl cations and the mechanism of chemical glycosylation; the current state of the art. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2015**, *403*, 48-59.

(20) Nigudkar, S. S.; Demchenko, A. V. Stereocontrolled 1,2-cis glycosylation as the driving force of progress in synthetic carbohydrate chemistry. *Chem. Sci.* **2015**, *6*, 2687–2704.

(21) *The Anomeric Effect*; Juaristi, E.; Cuevas, G., Eds.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, 1995, pp 1-48, 95-112, 173-194 and references therein.

(22) Tvaroska, I.; Bleha, T. Anomeric and exo-anomeric effects in carbohydrate chemistry. *Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem.* **1989**, *47*, 45-123.

(23) Handbook of chemical glycosylation: advances in stereoselectivity and therapeutic relevance; Demchenko, A. V., Ed.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, Germany, 2008.

(24) Fraser-Reid, B.; Jayaprakash, K. N.; López, J. C.; Gómez, A. M.; Uriel,
C.: Protecting groups in carbohydrate chemistry profoundly influence all selectivities in glycosyl couplings. In ACS Symp. Ser. (Frontiers in Modern Carbohydrate Chemistry)
Demchenko, A. V., Ed.; ACS Symp. Ser; Oxford Univ. Press, 2007; Vol. 960; pp 91-117.

(25) Goodman, L. Neighboring-group participation in sugars. *Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem.* **1967**, *22*, 109-175.

(26) Manabe, S.; Ito, Y. Optimizing glycosylation reaction selectivities by protecting group manipulation. *Curr. Bioact. Comp.* **2009**, *4*, 258-281.

(27) Guo, J.; Ye, X. S. Protecting groups in carbohydrate chemistry: influence on stereoselectivity of glycosylations. *Molecules* **2010**, *15*, 7235-7265.

(28) Crich, D.; Sun, S. Formation of β-mannopyranosides of primary alcohols using the sulfoxide method. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 4506-4507. (29) Crich, D.; Sun, S. Are glycosyl triflates intermediates in the sulfoxide glycosylation method? a chemical and ¹H, ¹³C, and ¹⁹F NMR spectroscopic investigation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1997**, *119*, 11217-11223.

(30) Crich, D.; Sun, S. Direct formation of β-mannopyranosides and other hindered glycosides from thioglycosides. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1998**, *120*, 435-436.

(31) Crich, D.; Cai, W. Chemistry of 4,6-O-benzylidene-D-glucopyranosyl triflates: Contrasting behavior between the gluco and manno series. *J. Org. Chem.* 1999, 64, 4926-4930.

(32) Crich, D. Chemistry of glycosyl triflates: synthesis of βmannopyranosides (Reprinted from Glycochemistry: Principles, Synthesis, and Applications, pg 53-75, 2001). *J. Carbohydr. Chem.* **2002**, *21*, 667-690.

(33) Crich, D.; Banerjee, A.; Yao, Q. Direct chemical synthesis of the β -Dmannans: the β -(1-2) and β -(1-4) series. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126*, 14930-14934.

(34) Crich, D.; Vinogradova, O. On the Influence of the C2–O2 and C3–O3
 Bonds in 4,6-O-Benzylidene-Directed β-Mannopyranosylation and α Glucopyranosylation. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 8473-8480.

(35) Nokami, T.; Shibuya, A.; Tsuyama, H.; Suga, S.; Bowers, A. A.; Crich,
D.; Yoshida, J. Electrochemical generation of glycosyl triflate pools. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2007**, *129*, 10922-10928.

(36) Crich, D. Methodology development and physical organic chemistry: a powerful combination for the advancement of glycochemistry. *J. Org. Chem.* **2011**, *76*, 9193-9209.

(37) Mydock, L. K.; Demchenko, A. V. Mechanism of chemical O-glycosylation: from early studies to recent discoveries. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* 2010, *8*, 497-510.

(38) Crich, D. Mechanism of a chemical glycosylation reaction. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2010**, *43*, 1144-1153.

(39) Christensen, H. M.; Oscarson, S.; Jensen, H. H. Common side reactions of the glycosyl donor in chemical glycosylation. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2015**, *408*, 51-95.

(40) Smoot, J. T.; Demchenko, A. V. Oligosaccharide synthesis: from conventional methods to modern expeditious strategies. *Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem.* **2009**, *62*, 161-250.

(41) Koto, S.; Uchida, T.; Zen, S. Syntheses of isomaltose, isomaltotetraose, and isomaltooctaose. *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.* **1973**, *46*, 2520-2523.

(42) Nicolaou, K. C.; Ueno, H.: Oligosaccharide synthesis from glycosyl fluorides and sulfides. In *Preparative Carbohydrate Chemistry*; Hanessian, S., Ed.;
 Marcel Dekker, Inc.: New York, 1997; pp 313-338.

(43) Nicolaou, K. C.; Dolle, R. E.; Papahatjis, D. P.; Randall, J. L. Practical synthesis of oligosaccharides. Partial synthesis of avermectin B1a. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1984**, *106*, 4189-4192.

(44) Nicolaou, K. C.; Caulfield, T.; Kataoka, H.; Kumazawa, T. A practical and enantioselective synthesis of glycosphingolipids and related compounds. Total synthesis of globotriaosylceramide (Gb₃). *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1988**, *110*, 7910-7912.

(45) Williams, L. J.; Garbaccio, R. M.; Danishefsky, S. J.: Iterative assembly of glycals and glycal derivatives: the synthesis of glycosylated natural products and

complex oligosaccharides. In *Carbohydrates in Chemistry and Biology*; Ernst, B., Hart,G. W., Sinay, P., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, New York, 2000; Vol. 1; pp 61-92.

(46) Roy, R.; Andersson, F. O.; Letellier, M. "Active" and "latent" thioglycosyl donors in oligosaccharide synthesis. Application to the synthesis of α-sialosides.
 Tetrahedron Lett. **1992**, *33*, 6053-6056.

(47) Boons, G. J.; Isles, S. Vinyl glycosides in oligosaccharide synthesis. Part
1: A new latent-active glycosylation strategy. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1994, *35*, 3593-3596.

(48) Allen, J. G.; Fraser-Reid, B. n-Pentenyl glycosyl orthoesters as versatile intermediates in oligosaccharide synthesis. The proteoglycan linkage region. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1999**, *121*, 468-469.

(49) Kim, K. S.; Kim, J. H.; Lee, Y. J.; Lee, Y. J.; Park, J. 2-

(Hydroxycarbonyl)benzyl glycosides: a novel type of glycosyl donors for highly efficient β -mannopyranosylation and oligosaccharide synthesis by latent-active glycosylation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123*, 8477-8481.

(50) Kanie, O.; Ito, Y.; Ogawa, T. Orthogonal glycosylation strategy in oligosaccharide synthesis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1994**, *116*, 12073-12074.

(51) Kaeothip, S.; Demchenko, A. V. On orthogonal and selective activation of glycosyl thioimidates and thioglycosides: application to oligosaccharide assembly. *J. Org. Chem.* **2011**, *76*, 7388-7398.

(52) Fraser-Reid, B.; Wu, Z.; Udodong, U. E.; Ottosson, H. Armed/disarmed effects in glycosyl donors: rationalization and sidetracking. *J. Org. Chem.* **1990**, *55*, 6068-6070.

(53) Paulsen, H. Advances in selective chemical syntheses of complex oligosaccharides. *Angew. Chem. Int. Edit. Engl.* **1982**, *21*, 155-173.

(54) Mootoo, D. R.; Konradsson, P.; Udodong, U.; Fraser-Reid, B. "Armed" and "disarmed" n-pentenyl glycosides in saccharide couplings leading to oligosaccharides. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1988**, *110*, 5583-5584.

(55) Ranade, S. C.; Demchenko, A. V. Mechanism of chemical glycosylation: focus on the mode of activation and departure of anomeric leaving groups. *J. Carbohydr. Chem.* **2013**, *32*, 1-43.

(56) Lahmann, M.; Oscarson, S. One-pot oligosaccharide synthesis exploiting solvent reactivity effects. *Org. Lett.* **2000**, *2*, 3881-3882.

(57) Premathilake, H. D.; Demchenko, A. V.: Superarmed and superdisarmed building blocks in expeditious oligosaccharide synthesis. In *Topics in Current Chemistry: Reactivity Tuning in Oligosaccharide Assembly*; Fraser-Reid, B., Lopez, J. C., Eds.;
Topics in Current Chemistry; Springer-Verlag: Berlin-Heidelberg, 2011; Vol. 301; pp 189-221.

(58) Kamat, M. N.; Demchenko, A. V. Revisiting the armed-disarmed concept rationale: chemoselective activation of the S-benzoxazolyl glycosides in oligosaccharide synthesis. *Org. Lett.* **2005**, *7*, 3215-3218.

(59) Isbell, H. S.; Frush, H. L. Mechanisms for the Formation of
Acetylglycosides and Orthoesters from Acetylglycosyl Halides. *J. Res. Nat. Bur. Stand.* **1949**, *43*, 161-171.

(60) Crich, D.; Li, M. Revisiting the armed-disarmed concept: The importance of anomeric configuration in the activation of S-benzoxazolyl glycosides. *Org. Lett.***2007**, *9*, 4115-4118.

(61) Heuckendorff, M.; Premathilake, H. D.; Pornsuriyasak, P.; Madsen, A. Ø.;
Pedersen, C. M.; Bols, M.; Demchenko, A. V. Superarming of glycosyl donors by
combined neighboring and conformational effects. *Org. Lett.* 2013, *15*, 4904–4907.

(62) Douglas, N. L.; Ley, S. V.; Lucking, U.; Warriner, S. L. Tuning glycoside reactivity: new tool for efficient oligosaccharides synthesis. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1* **1998**, 51-65.

(63) Zhang, Z.; Ollmann, I. R.; Ye, X. S.; Wischnat, R.; Baasov, T.; Wong, C.
H. Programmable one-pot oligosaccharide synthesis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1999, *121*, 734-753.

(64) Hsu, Y.; Lu, X. A.; Zulueta, M. M.; Tsai, C. M.; Lin, K. I.; Hung, S. C.;
Wong, C. H. Acyl and silyl group effects in reactivity-based one-pot glycosylation:
synthesis of embryonic stem cell surface carbohydrates Lc4 and IV(2)Fuc-Lc4. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, *134*, 4549-4552.

(65) Tomono, S.; Kusumi, S.; Takahashi, D.; Toshima, K. Armed–disarmed effect of remote protecting groups on the glycosylation reaction of 2,3-dideoxyglycosyl donors. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2011**, *52*, 2399-2403.

(66) Smoot, J. T.; Pornsuriyasak, P.; Demchenko, A. V. Development of an arming participating group for stereoselective glycosylation and chemoselective oligosaccharide synthesis. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2005**, *44*, 7123-7126.

(67) Buda, S.; Gołębiowska, P.; Mlynarski, J. Application of the 2-nitrobenzyl group in glycosylation reactions: a valuable example of an arming participating group. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2013**, 3988-3991.

(68) Hoang, K. L. M.; Liu, X.-W. The intriguing dual-directing effect of 2cyanobenzyl ether for a highly stereospecific glycosylation reaction. *Nat. Commun.* 2014, 5, 5051.

(69) Pedersen, C. M.; Marinescu, L. G.; Bols, M. Glycosyl donors in
"unusual" conformations – influence on reactivity and selectivity. *C. R. Chimie* 2011, 14, 17-43.

(70) Jensen, H. H.; Pedersen, C. M.; Bols, M. Going to extremes: "super" armed glycosyl donors in glycosylation chemistry. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2007**, *13*, 7576-7582.

(71) Pedersen, C. M.; Nordstrom, L. U.; Bols, M. "Super armed" glycosyl donors: conformational arming of thioglycosides by silylation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2007**, *129*, 9222-9235.

(72) Pedersen, C. M.; Marinescu, L. G.; Bols, M. Conformationally armed glycosyl donors: reactivity quantification, new donors and one pot reactions. *Chem. Commun.* 2008, 2465-2467.

(73) Heuckendorff, M.; Pedersen, C. M.; Bols, M. Quantifying electronic
 effects of common carbohydrate protecting groups in a piperidine model system. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2010, *16*, 13982-13994.

(74) Okada, Y.; Asakura, N.; Bando, M.; Ashikaga, Y.; Yamada, H.
 Completely β-Selective Glycosylation Using 3,6-O-(o-Xylylene)-Bridged Axial-Rich
 Glucosyl Fluoride. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, *134*, 6940-6943.

(75) Heuckendorff, M.; Pedersen, C. M.; Bols, M. Conformationally Armed
3,6-Tethered Glycosyl Donors: Synthesis, Conformation, Reactivity, and Selectivity. J. *Org. Chem.* 2013, 78, 7234-7248.

(76) Mydock, L. K.; Demchenko, A. V. Superarming the S-benzoxazolyl glycosyl donors by simple 2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl protection. *Org. Lett.* 2008, *10*, 2103-2106.

(77) Mydock, L. K.; Demchenko, A. V. Application of the superarmed
glycosyl donor to chemoselective oligosaccharide synthesis. *Org. Lett.* 2008, *10*, 2107-2110.

(78) Premathilake, H. D.; Mydock, L. K.; Demchenko, A. V. Superarming common glycosyl donors by simple 2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl protection. *J. Org. Chem.* **2010**, *75*, 1095-1100.

(79) Mydock, L. K.; Kamat, M. N.; Demchenko, A. V. Direct synthesis of diastereomerically pure glycosyl sulfonium salts. *Org. Lett.* **2011**, *13*, 2928-2931.

(80) Bandara, M. D.; Yasomanee, J. P.; Rath, N. P.; Pedersen, C. M.; Bols, M.;
Demchenko, A. V. Conformationally superarmed S-ethyl glycosyl donors as effective building blocks for chemoselective oligosaccharide synthesis in one pot. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* 2017, *15*, 559-563.

(81) Clausen, M. H.; Madsen, R. Synthesis of hexasaccharide fragments of pectin. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2003**, *9*, 3821-3832.

(82) Schmidt, T.; Madsen, R. Glycosylations directed by the armed-disarmed effect with acceptors containing a single ester group. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2007, 3935-3941.

(83) Crich, D.; Vinogradova, O. Synthesis and glycosylation of a series of 6mono-, di-, and trifluoro S-phenyl 2,3,4-tri-O-benzylthiorhamnopyranosides. Effect of the fluorine substituents on glycosylation stereoselectivity. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2007**, *129*, 11756-11765.

(84) Fraser-Reid, B.; Wu, Z.; Andrews, C. W.; Skowronski, E. Torsionaleffects in glycoside reactivity: saccharide couplings mediated by acetal protecting groups.*J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1991, *113*, 1434-1435.

(85) Boons, G. J.; Grice, P.; Leslie, R.; Ley, S. V.; Yeung, L. L. Dispiroketals in synthesis (Part 5): a new opportunity for oligosaccharide synthesis using differentially activated glycosyl donors and acceptors. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34*, 8523-8526.

(86) Ley, S. V.; Baeschlin, D. K.; Dixon, D. J.; Foster, A. C.; Ince, S. J.;
Priepke, H. W. M.; Reynolds, D. J. 1,2-Diacetals: a new opportunity for organic
synthesis. *Chem. Rev.* 2001, *101*, 53-80.

(87) Zhu, T.; Boons, G. J. Thioglycosides protected as trans-2,3-cyclic carbonates in chemoselective glycosylations. *Org. Lett.* **2001**, *3*, 4201-4203.

(88) Jensen, H. H.; Nordstrom, L. U.; Bols, M. The disarming effect of the 4,6acetal group on glycoside reactivity: torsional or electronic? *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126*, 9205-9213.

(89) Moumé-Pymbock, M.; Furukawa, T.; Mondal, S.; Crich, D. Probing the Influence of a 4,6-O-Acetal on the Reactivity of Galactopyranosyl Donors: Verification of the Disarming Influence of the trans–gauche Conformation of C5–C6 Bonds. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135*, 14249-14255. (90) Hasty, S. J.; Kleine, M. A.; Demchenko, A. V. S-Benzimidazolyl glycosides as a platform for oligosaccharide synthesis by an active-latent strategy *Angew*. *Chem. Int. Ed.* 2011, *50*, 4197-4201.

(91) Yasomanee, J. P.; Demchenko, A. V. The effect of remote picolinyl and picoloyl substituents on the stereoselectivity of chemical glycosylation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2012**, *134*, 20097-20102.

(92) Pistorio, S. G.; Yasomanee, J. P.; Demchenko, A. V. Hydrogen bondmediated aglycone delivery: focus on β-mannosylation. *Org. Lett.* **2014**, *16*, 716-719.

(93) Yasomanee, J. P.; Demchenko, A. V. Hydrogen bond-mediated aglycone delivery: the synthesis of linear and branched α-glucans. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2014**, *53*, 10453–10456.

(94) Kayastha, A. K.; Jia, X. G.; Yasomanee, J. P.; Demchenko, A. V. 6-O-Picolinyl and 6-O-picoloyl building blocks as glycosyl donors with switchable stereoselectivity. *Org. Lett.* **2015**, *17*, 4448-4451.

(95) Visansirikul, S.; Yasomanee, J. P.; Demchenko, A. V. Halobenzoyl groups in glycosylation: effect on stereoselectivity and reactivity of glycosyl donors. *Russ. Chem. Bull.* 2015, 1107-1118.

(96) Yasomanee, J. P.; Demchenko, A. V. Hydrogen bond-mediated aglycone delivery (HAD): a highly stereoselective synthesis of 1,2-cis α-D-glucosides from common glycosyl donors in the presence of bromine. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2015**, *21*, 6572-6581.

(97) Yasomanee, J. P.; Parameswar, A. R.; Pornsuriyasak, P.; Rath, N. P.; Demchenko, A. V. 2,3-Di-O-picolinyl building blocks as glycosyl donors with switchable stereoselectivity. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2016**, *14*, 3159-3169. (98) Liu, Q.-W.; Bin, H.-C.; Yang, J.-S. β-Arabinofuranosylation using 5-O-(2-quinolinecarbonyl) substituted ethyl thioglycoside donors. *Org. Lett.* 2013, *15*, 3974-3977.

(99) Ruei, J.-H.; Venukumar, P.; Ingle, A. B.; Mong, K.-K. T. C6 Picoloyl protection: a remote stereodirecting group for 2-deoxy-β-glycoside formation. *Chem. Commun.* 2015, *51*, 5394-5397.

(100) Xiang, S.; Hoang Kle, M.; He, J.; Tan, Y. J.; Liu, X. W. Reversing the stereoselectivity of a palladium-catalyzed O-glycosylation through an inner-sphere or outer-sphere pathway. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 604-607.

(101) Kaeothip, S.; Yasomanee, J. P.; Demchenko, A. V. Glycosidation of
 thioglycosides in the presence of bromine: mechanism, reactivity, and stereoselectivity. *J. Org. Chem.* 2012, 77, 291-299.

(102) Nogueira, J. M.; Issa, J. P.; Chu, A.-H. A.; Sisel, J. A.; Schum, R. S.;
Bennett, C. S. Halide effects on cyclopropenium cation promoted glycosylation with deoxy sugars: highly α-selective glycosylations using a 3,3-dibromo-1,2diphenylcyclopropene promoter. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2012**, *2012*, 4927-4930.

(103) Heuckendorff, M.; Pedersen, C. M.; Bols, M. Rhamnosylation:Diastereoselectivity of Conformationally Armed Donors. *J. Org. Chem.* 2012, 77, 5559-5568.

(104) Mootoo, D. R.; Fraser-Reid, B. n-Pentenyl 2-amino-2-deoxy glycosides undergo stereoselective coupling under mild, chemospecific conditions. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1989**, *30*, 2363-2366.
(105) Fraser-Reid, B.; Udodong, U. E.; Wu, Z. F.; Ottosson, H.; Merritt, J. R.;

Rao, C. S.; Roberts, C.; Madsen, R. n-Pentenyl glycosides in organic chemistry: a contemporary example of serendipity. *Synlett* **1992**, 927-942 and references therein.

(106) Smoot, J. T.; Demchenko, A. V. How the arming participating moieties can broaden the scope of chemoselective oligosaccharide synthesis by allowing the inverse armed-disarmed approach *J. Org. Chem.* **2008**, *73*, 8838-8850.

(107) Crich, D.; Chandrasekera, N. S. Mechanism of 4,6-O-benzylidene-directed β -mannosylation as determined by α -deuterium kinetic isotope effects. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2004**, *43*, 5386-5389 and references therein.

(108) Crich, D.; Sharma, I. Is Donor–Acceptor Hydrogen Bonding Necessary for 4,6-O-Benzylidene-directed β-Mannopyranosylation? Stereoselective Synthesis of β-C-Mannopyranosides and α-C-Glucopyranosides. *Org. Lett.* **2008**, *10*, 4731-4734.

(109) Manabe, S.; Ishii, K.; Ito, Y. N-Benzyl-2,3-oxazolidinone as a glycosyl donor for selective α-glycosylation and one-pot oligosaccharide synthesis involving 1,2cis-glycosylation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2006**, *128*, 10666-10667.

(110) Manabe, S.; Ishii, K.; Ito, Y. N-Benzyl-2,3-trans-carbamate-bearing glycosyl donors for 1,2-cis-selective glycosylation reactions. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2011, 497-516.

(111) Satoh, H.; Manabe, S.; Ito, Y.; Lüthi, H. P.; Laino, T.; Hutter, J.
Endocyclic cleavage in glycosides with 2,3-trans cyclic protecting groups. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2011, *133*, 5610-5619.

(112) Hashimoto, S. I.; Sakamoto, H.; Honda, T.; Abe, H.; Nakamura, S. I.; Ikegami, S. "Armed-disarmed" glycosidation strategy based on glycosyl donors and acceptors carrying phosphoroamidate as a leaving group: a convergent synthesis of globotriaosylceramide. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 8969-8972.

(113) Veeneman, G. H.; van Boom, J. H. An efficient thioglycoside-mediated formation of alpha-glycosidic linkages promoted by iodonium dicollidine perchlorate. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, *31*, 275-278.

(114) Kayastha, A. K.; Hotha, S. Gold-catalyzed glycosidation for the synthesis of trisaccharides by applying the armed-disarmed strategy. *Beilstein J. Org. Chem.* 2013, 9, 2147-2155.

(115) Huang, X.; Huang, L.; Wang, H.; Ye, X. S. Iterative one-pot synthesis of oligosaccharides. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2004**, *43*, 5221-5224.

(116) Wang, Z.; Zhou, L.; Ei-Boubbou, K.; Ye, X. S.; Huang, X. Multicomponent one-pot synthesis of the tumor-associated carbohydrate antigen Globo-H based on preactivation of thioglycosyl donors. *J. Org. Chem.* **2007**, *72*, 6409-6420.

(117) Lu, S. R.; Lai, Y. H.; Chen, J. H.; Liu, C. Y.; Mong, K. K.
Dimethylformamide: an unusual glycosylation modulator. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2011, 50, 7315-7320.

(118) Lin, Y. H.; Ghosh, B.; Mong, K.-K. T. In situ formation of b-glycosyl imidinium triflate from participating thioglycosyl donors: elaboration to disarmed-armed iterative glycosylation. *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 10910-10912.

(119) Li, Z.; Gildersleeve, J. Mechanistic studies and methods to prevent aglycon transfer of thioglycosides. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2006**, *128*, 11612-11619.

(120) Crich, D.; Li, W. Selective Sialylations at -78 C in Nitrile Solvents with a1-Adamantanyl Thiosialoside. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 7794-7797.

(121) Peng, P.; Xiong, D. C.; Ye, X. S. ortho-Methylphenylthioglycosides as glycosyl building blocks for preactivation-based oligosaccharide synthesis. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2014**, *384*, 1-8.

(122) Wever, W. J.; Cinelli, M. A.; Bowers, A. A. Visible Light Mediated Activation and O-Glycosylation of Thioglycosides. *Org. Lett.* **2013**, *15*, 30-33.

(123) He, H.; Zhu, X. Thioperoxide-mediated activation of thioglycoside donors. *Org. Lett.* **2014**, *16*, 3102-3105.

(124) Nokami, T.; Saito, K.; Yoshida, J. Synthetic carbohydrate research based on organic electrochemistry. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2012**, *363*, 1-6.

CHAPTER 2

Conformationally superarmed S-ethyl glycosyl donors as effective building blocks for chemoselective oligosaccharide synthesis in one pot

M. D. Bandara, J. P. Yasomanee, N. P. Rath, C. M. Pedersen, M. Bols, and A. V. Demchenko . "Conformationally Superarmed S-Ethyl Glycosyl Donors as Effective Building Blocks for Chemoselective Oligosaccharide Synthesis in One Pot." Organic & Biomolecular Chemistry, **2017**, 15 (3), 559-563.

2.1. Introduction

Mechanistic challenges of the chemical glycosylation reaction have been consistently capturing the attention of the synthetic community.¹⁻⁵ Many classes of glycosyl donors have been developed^{6,7} and many strategies for oligosaccharide synthesis have emerged.⁸⁻¹⁰ Among the methods and strategies available, the development of the armed-disarmed strategy for chemoselective oligosaccharide synthesis occupies an important niche.¹¹⁻¹³ Reactivity tuning of various series of thioglycosides has been reported and applied to the synthesis of a variety of oligosaccharide sequences.¹⁴⁻¹⁹ Bevond the traditional scope of the armed-disarmed strategy, superarmed and superdisarmed building blocks have also been identified and studied.²⁰ Bols and coworkers developed an approach to superarm glycosyl donors by changing the equatorialrich ${}^{4}C_{1}$ conformation to an axial-rich conformation.²¹⁻²⁵ These conformational changes were induced by creating steric congestion with tert-butyldimethylsilyl (TBS) or related bulky protecting groups at the C-2, 3 and 4 positions of S-phenyl (SPh) glucosides, resulting in a skew-boat conformation. These donors showed a 20-fold increase in reactivity as compared to the armed per-O-benzylated counterparts.²³ The Demchenko group also reported superarmed S-benzoxazolyl (SBox) and S-ethyl (SEt) glycosyl donors, but the superarming was based on the O2/O5-cooperative effect in glycosylation.²⁶ Thus, it was demonstrated that donors equipped with 2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6tri-O-benzyl protecting group pattern are 10 times more reactive than their armed counterparts.²⁷⁻²⁹

With the two different approaches to superarm glycosyl donors, our groups jointly developed a 2-O-benzoyl donor **2.1** with 3,4-di-O-TBS protection (Scheme 2.1).

Over the course of that study we learned that conformational arming is a powerful tool to increase the reactivity and achieve excellent yields and the 2-O-benzoyl substituent ensures complete 1,2-trans stereoselectivity.³⁰ The anchimeric superarming effects in the conformationally modified donor **2.1** are significantly weaker to the extent that 2-O-benzoylated SPh donor **2.1** is 5.8 and 4.5 times less reactive than its 2-O-TBS and 2-O-benzylated counterparts **2.2** and **2.3**, respectively (Scheme 2.1). Although glycosylations with the hybrid donor **2.1** were swift, high yielding and β -stereoselective,³⁰ we feared that the reduced reactivity could translate into the decreased efficacy of these building blocks in application to sequential chemoselective glycosylations in one-pot. This led us to a hypothesis that the use of a more reactive S-ethyl leaving group^{31,32} would help us to develop a complementary superarmed glycosyl donor with a superior reactivity profile while still maintaining β -stereoselectivity.



Scheme 2.1. The relative reactivity of the conformationally superarmed S-phenyl glycosyl donors.³⁰

2.2. Results and discussion

Right off the start, when donor **2.1** was subjected to the competition experiment with the equally protected SEt donor **2.5**, a much higher reactivity of the latter has been detected. The competition experiments for this study were conducted following essentially the same experimental conditions and ratios as in our previous study.³⁰ Two glycosyl donors, used in equimolar amounts (1.0 equiv. each), were set to compete for excess glycosyl acceptor **2.4**³³ (2.0 equiv.) in the presence of NIS (1.0 equiv.) and TfOH (0.1 equiv.) at -78 °C. The use of low temperature, that was allowed to gradually increase over the course of the reaction, and the use of a very limited amount of the promoter helped to maintain workable reaction rates. All competition experiments were quenched after 1 h and the remaining glycosyl donors were isolated and quantified.



Numbers represent a ratio of remaining donors in the competition reactions. Arrows point towards the more reactive building block of the pair

Scheme 2.2. The relative reactivity of S-phenyl versus S-ethyl glycosyl donors of the superarmed series.

Thus, as a result of the first competition experiment, SPh donor **2.1** remained as the major monosaccharide component of the mixture and was isolated in 87% yield, whereas only 13% of SEt donor **2.5** was remaining (Scheme 2.2). This translates into the 1/6.7 reactivity ratio between the two donors, or in other words, the SEt donor **2.5** is 6.7 times more reactive than its SPh counterpart **2.1**.

Subsequent competition experiments led to a realization that 2-O-benzoyl SEt donor **2.5** is nearly as reactive as 2-O-benzyl SPh donor **2.3** (1/1.1) and even only slightly less reactive than the most reactive superarmed 2-O-TBS protected SPh donor **2.2** known to date (1/1.6, Scheme 2). To explore the reactivity limits of superarmed glycosyl donors of the SEt series, we obtained donor **2.6** equipped with 2-O-benzyl protecting group. The competition experiment with equally protected SPh donor **2.3** led to a realization of the higher reactivity of donor **2.6** (**2,3/2.6** = 1/3.8). Along similar lines, we determined that donor **6** is 3.7 times more reactive than the 2-O-TBS SPh donor **2.2**.³⁰

Being encouraged by the first series of comparative experiments, we decided to investigate the new hybrid donor **2.5** in the context of other SEt donors. For this study we obtained anchimerically superarmed derivative **2.7** along with two conformationally superarmed donors equipped with 6-O-benzoyl and 2,6-di-O-benzoyl protections, **2.8** and **2.9**, respectively. The first competition experiment between donors **2.5** and **2.7** provided a very impressive reactivity difference: donor **2.5** was 95 times more reactive that donor **2.7** (Scheme 2.3). This result is more indicative of the superior reactivity of **2.5** rather than poor reactivity of **2.7**. The latter is still superarmed because it is more reactive than its per-benzylated counterpart. In addition, donor **2.7** is 2.2 times more reactive than the previously developed hybrid SPh donor **2.1**. Moreover, compound **2.7** is also 2.3

more reactive than the conformationally superarmed SEt donor **2.8** equipped with two benzoyl groups at O-2 and O-6.



Numbers represent a ratio of remaining donors in the competition reactions. Arrows point towards the more reactive building block of the pair

Scheme 2.3. The effect of the conformational and electronic superarming in the series of S-ethyl glycosyl donors.

A comparison of donors **2.5** and **2.8** showed a very significant deactivating effect of 6-O-benzoyl in comparison with 6-O-benzyl, the only structural difference between the two donors.³⁴ Thus, 6-O-benzyl donor **2.5** was 97 times more reactive than its 6-O-benzoylated counterpart **2.8**. Donor **2.5** was also found to be 5.3 times more reactive than donor **2.9** with the reverse positioning of benzyl and benzoyl substituents: 2-O-benzyl, 6-O-benzoyl.

With this comprehensive set of competitive experiments, we began investigating the glycosyl donor properties of compounds **2.5-2.8** with the model acceptor **2.4**. After screening a number of promoters for the activation of thioglycosides,

we chose NIS/TfOH and DMTST. These reaction conditions offered a good balance of reactivity, selectivity and yields. Other promoters, including iodine that was successfully used in our previous study of the anchimerically superarmed SEt donors, let to decreased yieds resulting from high rates of major side reactions: TBS cleavage and/or SEt hydrolysis. Thus, NIS/TfOH-promoted coupling between donor **2.5** and acceptor **2.4** swiftly (20 min) produced disaccharide **2.10** in 83% yield and complete β -stereoselectivity (entry 1, Table 2.1). Practically the same outcome was achieved in the DMTST-promoted reaction listed in entry 2. NIS/TfOH-promoted activation of donor **2.6** gave disaccharide **2.11** in 81% yield (entry 3). In this case, the reaction was non-stereoselective due to the absence of neighboring group participation. DMTST was less effective and TBS groups showed high propensity to cleavage. As a result, disaccharide **2.11** was obtained in a poor yield of 21% (entry 4). The outcome of this reaction could be improved (44% yield) using only a slight excess DMTST (1.3 equiv.).

Glycosidation of the anchimerically superarmed donor **2.7** was successful in case of either NIS/TfOH or DMTST-promoted activations. Disaccharide **2.12** was obtained with complete β -stereoselectivity in 82 or 85% yield, respectively (entries 5 and 6). In case of donor **2.8**, only NIS/TfOH gave a practical result, whereas DMTST showed a high level of competing processes. Thus, NIS/TfOH-promoted activation of **2.8** produced disaccharide **2.13** in 85% yield and complete β -stereoselectivity (entry 7). The conformational properties of disaccharide **2.10** were studied by X-ray crystallography (Figure 2.1). The crystals of **2.10** were obtained by slow evaporation of aq. MeOH. The skew-boat conformation of disaccharide **2.10** was deduced from the X-ray data and was consistent with altered coupling constants obtained from its ¹H NMR spectrum.



Table 2.1. Glycosylation of acceptor 2.4 with different superarmed SEt donors.

^a – Conditions A: NIS/TfOH (1.3 equiv), 3 Å mol sieves; B: DMTST (2.0 equiv), 4 Å mol sieves; ^b - the yield is impacted by fair stability of the TBS groups (see text)

2.13 (85, β-only)



Figure 2.1. The X-ray structure of disaccharide 2.10 (hydrogens and protecting groups have been omitted for clarity)

With a series of glycosyl donors of differential reactivity, we began studying the applicability of this method to the one-pot oligosaccharide synthesis.³⁵ With a number of different concepts for the one-pot synthesis, we chose one-pot/one-addition method, the pure fashioned approach wherein all building blocks are present from the beginning. Invented by Kahne,³⁶ and further explored by Fraser-Reid³⁷ and Bols²¹, this approach requires fine tuning of reactivity for differentiation of all reaction components. The general idea underpinning this approach is that the more reactive donor will react with the more reactive acceptor (hydroxyl). Subsequently, the second-step coupling will involve the coupling between the less reactive donor with the less reactive acceptor.

With these considerations, we chose highly reactive donor **2.5** to couple with the reactive 6-OH in benzylated building block **2.14** equipped with the anomeric SEt group. Fast first-step reaction will permit the sequential (rather than competitive) activation of the SEt leaving group of the intermediate disaccharide in reaction with the less reactive acceptor **2.15** (Scheme 2.4).



Scheme 2.4. One-pot one-addition synthesis of trisaccharides 2.16, 2.18 and 2.20.

Building block **2.14** is the key reaction component in the mixture because it is set to react both as the more reactive acceptor and then as the less reactive donor. The role of the highly reactive superarmed donor is also essential to ensure that the first coupling step is swift. The synthesis of trisaccharide **2.16** was conducted from building blocks **2.5**, **2.14** and **2.15** that were mixed together and NIS/TfOH were added. As a result, compound **2.16** was obtained in one pot in 42% yield and high stereoselectivity ($\alpha/\beta = 14/1$, Scheme 2.4). A substantial quantity of the cross-coupled disaccharide resulting from the reaction between **2.5** and **2.15** indicated that the reactivity difference between primary hydroxyls in **2.15** and **2.16** is insufficient to ensure effective one-pot coupling. A simple competitive experiment set up between the two acceptors and donor **2.5** showed that **2.14** is only 2.1.6 times reactive than **2.15** (Scheme 2.5).

To improve the outcome of the one-pot synthesis we prepared secondary acceptor **2.17** that was deactivated by surrounding benzoyl substituents.^{38,39} The competition experiment showed that primary acceptor **2.14** is 10.1 times more reactive than its secondary counterpart **2.17** (Scheme 2.5). Theorizing that this reactivity difference will be sufficient, we set up the synthesis of trisaccharide **2.18** from building blocks **2.5**, **2.14** and **2.17** that were mixed and NIS/TfOH were added. As a result, trisaccharide **2.18** was obtained in one pot in 37% yield and high stereoselectivity ($\alpha/\beta = 11/1$, Scheme 2.4). No cross-coupled disaccharide was found in the reaction mixture, but attempts to push the reaction to completion promoted competitive TBS group hydrolysis. In a further search of suitable building blocks for the one-pot synthesis, we obtained acceptor **2.19** benzylated at C-6. This acceptor is only 2.5 times less reactive than its primary counterpart **2.14** (Scheme 2.5). Nevertheless, this reactivity difference was sufficient for

the synthesis of trisaccharide **2.20** in a good yield of 65% and high stereoselectivity (α/β = 10/1, Scheme 2.4) showing the utility of this approach and also the necessity to fine-tune all reaction components.



Scheme 2.5. The relative reactivity of glycosyl acceptors 2.14, 2.15, 2.17 and 2.19.

2.3. Conclusions

We have developed a series of superarmed SEt glycosyl donors that were applied to stereoselective glycosylations and multi-step oligosaccharide synthesis in onepot. Further application of these highly reactive compounds to glycosylation of various glycosyl acceptors in solution and on solid supports is currently underway in our laboratories.

3.4 Experimental

3.4.1 General methods

The reactions were performed using commercial reagents and the ACS grade solvents were purified and dried according to standard procedures. Column chromatography was performed on silica gel 60 (70-230 mesh), reactions were monitored by TLC on Kieselgel 60 F_{254} . The compounds were detected by examination under UV

light and by charring with 10% sulfuric acid in methanol. Solvents were removed under reduced pressure at <40 °C. CH₂Cl₂ was distilled from CaH₂ directly prior to application. Acetonitrile was dried by refluxing with CaH₂ and then distilled and stored over molecular sieves (3 Å). Molecular sieves (3 or 4Å), used for reactions, were crushed and activated *in vacuo* at 390 °C during 8 h in the first instance and then for 2-3 h at 390 °C directly prior to application. Optical rotations were measured using a polarimeter. ¹H NMR spectra were recorded at 300 or 600 MHz, ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded at 75 MHz or 150 MHz. The ¹H chemical shifts are referenced to the signal of the residual CHCl₃ ($\delta_{\rm H} = 7.24$ ppm). The ¹³C chemical shifts are referenced to the central signal of CDCl₃ ($\delta_{\rm C} = 77.23$ ppm). HRMS determinations were made with the use of a mass spectrometer with FAB ionization and ion-trap detection.

3.4.2 Preparation of glycosyl donors 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 2.5, 2.6, 2.8, 2.9



Scheme 2.6. Preparation of glycosyl donors 2.5, 2.6, 2.8, 2.9.

Ethyl 2-O-benzoyl-6-O-benzyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (2.22). A mixture of ethyl 2-O-benzoyl-4.6-O-benzylidene-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (2.21,⁴⁰ 2.56 g, 6.15 mmol) and molecular sieves (3 Å, 3.0 g) in dry THF (80 mL) was stirred under argon for 1 h at rt. NaCNBH₃ (5.15 g, 81.8 mmol) and a 2 M solution of HCl in diethyl ether (40.9 mL, 81.8 mmol) were added and the resulting mixture was stirred for 30 min at rt. After that, the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure and the residue was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (~150 mL). The solid was filtered off through a pad of Celite and rinsed successively with CH_2Cl_2 . The combined filtrate (~250 mL) was washed with water (50 mL), sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (50 mL), and water (3 x 50 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate – hexane gradient elution) to afford the title compound in 82% yield (2.11 g, 5.04 mmol) as a white amorphous solid. Analytical data for 2.22: $R_f = 0.25$ (ethyl acetate/hexane, 3/7, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{27}$ -54.4 (c = 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 1.21 (t, 3H, J = 7.4 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.68 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.48 (m, 1H, H-5), 3.65-3.78 (m, 3H, H-3, 4, 6b), 3.90 (s, 1H, OH), 3.82 (s, 1H, OH), 4.51 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 9.5$ Hz, H-1), 4.55 (br. s, 2H, CH₂Ph), 5.06 (dd, 1H, $J_{2,3} = 9.5$ Hz, H-2), 7.29-8.04 (10H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 15.2, 24.1, 70.1, 71.8, 73.0, 73.7, 76.7, 78.7, 83.3, 127.9 (×3), 128.5 (×4), 129.7, 130.1 (×2), 133.4, 137.7, 166.4 ppm; HR-FAB MS $[M+Na]^+$ calcd for C₂₂H₂₆NaO₆S⁺ 441.1348, found 441.1334.

Ethyl 2,6-di-*O*-benzyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (2.24). A mixture of ethyl 2-*O*-benzyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (2.23,⁴¹ 1.58 g, 3.92 mmol) and molecular sieves ⁴² in dry THF (65 mL) was stirred under argon for 1 h at rt. NaCNBH₃

(3.29 g, 52.0 mmol) and a 2 M solution of HCl in diethyl ether (26.1 mL, 52.0 mmol) were added and the resulting mixture was stirred for 30 min at rt. After that, the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure and the residue was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (~50 mL). The solid was filtered off through a pad of Celite and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~100 mL) was washed with water (20 mL), sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (20 mL), and water (3 x 20 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate – hexane gradient elution) to afford the title compound in 98% yield (1.65 g, 4.07 mmol) as a white amorphous solid. Analytical data for 2.24: $R_f = 0.25$ (ethyl acetate/hexane, 3/7, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{26.6}$ -28.7 (c = 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 1.32 (t, 3 H, J = 7.4 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.76 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.05 (s, 1H, OH), 3.26 (dd, 1H, $J_{2,3} = 8.6$ Hz, H-2), 3.41-3.62 (m, 3H, H-3, 4, 5), 3.67-3.79 (m, 2H, H-6a, 6b), 4.46 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 9.6$ Hz, H-1), 4.57 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J = 13.7$ Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.81 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J = 10.9$ Hz, CH₂Ph), 7.19-7.50 (m, 10H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 15.3, 25.3, 70.6, 72.0, 73.8, 75.3, 77.8, 78.2, 80.9, 85.0, 127.9 (×2), 128.0, 128.3, 128.5 (×2), 128.7 (×2), 128.8 (×2), 137.9, 138.1 ppm; HR-FAB MS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for $C_{22}H_{28}NaO_5S^+$ 427.1554, found 427.1555.

Ethyl 2-O-benzoyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (2.25). Compound 2.21 (0.71 g, 1.70 mmol) was dissolved in a mixture of trifluoroacetic acid in wet CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL, 2/0.2/17.8, v/v/v) and the resulting mixture was stirred for 30 min at rt. After that, the reaction mixture was neutralized with trimethylamine (~3 mL) and the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on

silica gel (methanol - dichloromethane gradient elution) to afford the title compound in 86% yield (0.48 g, 1.46 mmol) as a white amorphous solid. Analytical data for **2.25**: $R_f =$ 0.27 (methanol/dichloromethane, 1/9, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{19.9}$ -8.1 (c = 1, MeOH); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD): δ , 1.18 (t, 3H, *J* = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.70 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.38-3.47 (m, 2H, H-5, 4), 3.64-3.73 (m, 2H, H-3, 6a), 3.89 (dd, 1H, *J*_{6a,6b} = 12.1 Hz, *J*_{5,6b} = 1.8 Hz, H-6b), 4.65 (d, 1H, *J*_{1,2} = 10.0 Hz, H-1), 4.97 (dd, 1H, *J*_{2,3} = 9.3 Hz, H-2), 7.45-8.00 (m, 5H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CD₃OD): δ , 15.2, 24.9, 62.8, 71.6, 74.5, 77.4, 82.2, 84.6, 129.5 (×2), 130.7 (×2), 131.5, 134.3, 167.2 ppm; HR-FAB MS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₁₅H₂₀NaO₆S⁺ 351.0879, found 351.0875.

Ethyl 2-*O*-benzyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (2.27). Compound 2.23 (0.55 g, 1.36 mmol) was dissolved in a mixture of trifluoroacetic acid in wet CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL, 1.5/0.2/14.8, v/v/v) and the resulting mixture was stirred for 30 min at rt. After that, the reaction mixture was neutralized with trimethylamine (~2.5 mL) and the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (methanol - dichloromethane gradient elution) to afford the title compound in 85% yield (0.36 g, 1.16 mmol) as a white amorphous solid. Analytical data for 2.27: $R_f = 0.35$ (methanol/dichloromethane, 1/9, v/v); [α]_D^{21.5} -45.4 (c = 1, MeOH); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CD₃OD): δ, 1.17 (t, 3H, *J* = 7.4 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.65 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.07 (dd, 1H, *J*_{2,3} = 8.8 Hz, H-2), 3.11-3.26 (m, 2H, H-4, 5), 3.39 (dd, 1H, *J*_{3,4} = 8.8 Hz, H-3), 3.54 (dd, 1H, *J*_{5,6a} = 5.5 Hz, *J*_{6a,6b} = 12.0 Hz, H-6a), 3.74 (dd, 1H, *J*_{5,6b} = 2.1 Hz, H-6b), 4.36 (d, 1H, *J*_{1,2} = 9.7 Hz, H-1), 4.70 (s, 2H, CH₂Ph), 7.10-7.32 (m, 5H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CD₃OD): δ, 15.5, 25.5, 63.0, 71.8, 76.2, 79.8, 82.0, 82.9, 85.9, 128.8, 129.3

(×2), 129.5 (×2), 139.9 ppm; HR-FAB MS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₁₅H₂₂NaO₅S⁺ 337.1086, found 337.1082.

Ethyl 2,6-di-O-benzoyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (2.26). A solution of BzCN (0.08 g, 0.81 mmol) in dry CH₃CN (10.0 mL) was added dropwise to a solution of 2.25 (0.19 g, 0.58 mmol) and triethyl amine (6.0 mL) in dry CH₃CN (10.0 mL), and the resulting mixture was stirred under argon for 3 h at -30 °C. MeOH (~1 mL) was added and the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate – hexane gradient elution) to afford the title compound in 70% yield (0.175 g, 0.41 mmol) as a white amorphous solid. Analytical data for **2.26**: $R_f = 0.37$ (ethyl acetate/hexane, 1/1, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{26.6}$ -7.7 (c = 1, MeOH); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 1.24 (t, 3H, J = 7.4 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.71 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.16 (d, 1H, J = 3.9 Hz, OH), 3.52 (d, 1H, J = 3.1 Hz, OH), 3.57-3.72 (m, 2H, $J_{5,6b} = 4.2$ Hz, H-4, 5), 3.84 (ddd, 1H, $J_{3,4} = 9.3$ Hz, H-3), 4.57 (dd, 1H, $J_{6a,6b} = 12.2$ Hz, 6a), 4.63 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 9.8$ Hz, H-1), 4.74 (dd, 1H, H-6b), 5.11 (dd, 1H, $J_{2,3} = 9.3$ Hz, H-2), 7.51-8.04 (m, 10H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 15.2, 24.3, 63.9, 70.7, 73.0, 76.7, 78.2, 83.6, 128.7 (×4), 129.6, 129.7, 130.1 (×2), 130.2 (×2), 133.6, 133.7, 166.5, 167.5 ppm; HR-FAB MS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₂₂H₂₄NaO₇S⁺ 455.1141, found 455.1145.

Ethyl 6-*O*-benzoyl-2-*O*-benzyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (2.28). A solution of BzCN (0.138 g, 1.02 mmol) in dry CH₃CN (15.0 mL) was added dropwise to a solution of 2.27 (0.305 g, 0.970 mmol) and triethylamine (10.0 mL) in dry CH₃CN (15.0 mL) at -30 °C and the resulting mixture was stirred under argon for 3 h at that temperature. After that,

MeOH (1.0 mL) was added to the reaction mixture and the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate – hexane gradient elution) to afford the title compound in 75% yield (0.30 g, 0.727 mmol) as a white amorphous solid. Analytical data for **2.28**: $R_f = 0.34$ (ethyl acetate/hexane, 1/1, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{21.5}$ -31.3 (c = 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 1.30 (t, 3H, J = 7.4 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.75 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.11 (br. s, 1H, OH), 3.26 (dd, 1H, $J_{2.3} = 9.7$ Hz, H-2), 3.39-3.56 (m, 3H, H-4, 5, OH), 3.58-3.64 (m, 1H, H-3), 4.48 (d, 1H, $J_{1.2} = 9.7$ Hz, H-1), 4.51-4.60 (m, 2H, H-6a, 6b), 4.80 (dd, ²J = 10.9 Hz, CH₂Ph), 8.73-7.89 (m, 10H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 15.3, 25.3, 64.3, 70.2, 75.3, 77.8, 78.0, 80.9, 85.1, 128.3, 128.5 (×2), 128.6 (×2), 128.8 (×2), 129.8, 130.0 (×2), 138.0, 133.4, 167.2 ppm; HR-FAB MS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₂₂H₂₄NaO₇S⁺ 441.1347, found 441.1346.

Phenyl2-O-benzoyl-6-O-benzyl-3,4-di-O-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-D-lucopyranoside (2.1). The synthesis of the title compound was performed in accordancewith the reported procedure and its analytical data was in accordance with that previouslydescribed.³⁰

Phenyl 6-*O*-benzyl-2,3,4-tri-*O*-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (2.2). The synthesis of the title compound was performed in accordance with the reported procedure and its analytical data was in accordance with that previously described.²²

Phenyl 2,6-di-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (2.3). The synthesis of the title compound was performed in accordance with the reported procedure and its analytical data was in accordance with that previously described.³⁰

Ethyl 2-O-benzoyl-6-O-benzyl-3,4-di-O-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-Dglucopyranoside (2.5). TBSOTf (2.7 mL, 12.0 mmol) was added to a solution of 2.22 (1.67 g, 4.0 mmol) in 2,6-lutidine (12.0 mL) and the resulting mixture was heated at 130 ^oC for 1 h. After that, the reaction mixture was allowed to cool to rt, diluted with ethyl acetate (~250 mL), and washed with 1 M aq. HCl (3 × 50 mL), water (50 mL), sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (50 mL), and brine (2 x 50 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried with MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate – toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound in 92% yield (2.35 g, 3.64 mmol) as a colorless syrup. Analytical data for 2.5: $R_f = 0.71$ (ethyl acetate/ toluene, 1/9, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{26.9}$ -3.7 (c = 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 0.05, 0.06, 0.07, 0.08 (4 s, 12H, 2 x SiMe₂), 0.83, 0.85 (2 s, 18H, 2 x Si'Bu), 1.25 (t, 3H, J = 7.4 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.71 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.65 (dd, 1H, $J_{6a,6b} = 9.7$ Hz, H-6a), 3.74-3.82 (m, 2H, H-4, 6b), 3.84-3.91 (m, 2H, $J_{5,6a} = 6.6$ Hz, H-3, 5), 4.58 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J = 12.0$ Hz, CH_2Ph), 4.85 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 8.8$ Hz, H-1), 5.13 (dd, 1H, $J_{2,3} = 4.1$ Hz, H-2), 7.22-8.04 (m, 10H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, -4.2, -4.0, -3.6, -3.4, 0.2, 15.2, 18.2 (×2), 24.6 (×3), 26.1 (×3), 71.0, 71.5, 73.6, 74.5, 75.8, 81.6, 81.7, 127.8, 127.8 (×2), 128.5 (×4), 130.2 (×2), 130.3, 133.3, 138.5, 165.7 ppm; HR-FAB MS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₃₄H₅₄NaO₆SSi₂⁺ 669.3078, found 669.3064.

Ethyl 2,6-di-O-benzyl-3,4-di-O-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (2.6). TBSOTf (1.05 mL, 4.60 mmol) was added to a solution of 2.24 (0.85 g, 1.53 mmol) in 2,6-lutidine (5.0 mL) and the resulting mixture was heated at 130 °C for 1 h. After that, the reaction mixture was allowed to cool to rt, diluted with ethyl acetate (~100 mL) and washed with 1 M aq. HCl (3×20 mL), water (20 mL), sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (20 mL) and brine (2 x 20 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried with MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound in 90% yield (0.87g, 1.37 mmol) as a colorless syrup. Analytical data for 2.6: $R_f = 0.75$ (ethyl acetate/ toluene, 1/9, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{26.8}$ -26.4 (c = 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , -0.04, -0.01, 0.01, 0.03 (4 s, 12H, 2 x SiMe₂), 0.80, 0.84 (2 s, 18H, 2 x Si^tBu), 1.26 (t, 3H, J = 7.4 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.69 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.33 (dd, 1H, J_{2,3} = 3.6 Hz, H-2), 3.56 (dd, 1H, $J_{5.6a} = 6.6$ Hz, $J_{6a.6b} = 9.6$ Hz, H-6a), 3.62-3.84 (m, 4H, H-3, 4, 5, 6b), 4.51 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J =$ 12.0 Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.51 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J = 10.9$ Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.74 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 8.6$ Hz, H-1), 7.17-7.37 (m, 10H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, -4.2, -3.9, -3.5, -3.4, 15.3, 18.2 (×2), 25.3, 26.1 (×3), 26.3 (×3), 71.3, 71.7, 73.4 (×2), 76.5, 81.3, 82.7, 82.8, 127.6, 127.7, 127.8 (×4), 128.3 (×2), 128.5 (×2), 138.6, 138.6 ppm; HR-FAB MS $[M+Na]^+$ calcd for C₃₄H₅₆NaO₅SSi₂⁺ 655.3285, found 655.3291.

Ethyl 2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl-1-thio-\beta-D-glucopyranoside (2.7). The synthesis of the title compound was performed in accordance with the reported procedure and its analytical data was in accordance with that previously described.⁴³

Ethyl 2,6-di-O-benzoyl-3,4-di-O-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (2.8). TBSOTf (1.13 mL, 4.93 mmol) was added to a solution of 2.26 (0.71 g, 1.64 mmol) in 2,6-lutidine (4.0 mL) and the resulting mixture was heated at 130 °C for 1 h. After that, the reaction mixture was allowed to cool to rt, diluted with ethyl acetate (~100 mL) and washed with 1 M aq. HCl (3×15 mL), water (20 mL), sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (20 mL), and brine (2 x 20 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried with MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate – toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound in 89% yield (0.96 g, 1.46 mmol) as a colorless syrup. Analytical data for 2.8: $R_f = 0.75$ (ethyl acetate/ toluene, 1/9, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{26.9}$ -0.3 (c = 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , -0.02, -0.01, -0.01, 0.00 (4 s, 12H, 2 x SiMe₂), 0.75, 0.79 (2 s, 18H, 2 x Si'Bu), 1.12 (t, 3H, J =7.4 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.58 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.75 (dd, 1H, J_{4.5} = 5.4 Hz, H-4), 3.84-3.91 (m, 2H, *J*_{3,4} = 5.4 Hz, *J*_{5,6a} = 7.0 Hz, *J*_{5,6b} = 4.6 Hz, H-3, 5), 4.36 (dd, 1H, *J*_{6a,6b} = 11.4 Hz, H-6a), 4.60 (dd, 1H, H-6b), 4.78 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2}$ = 8.6 Hz, H-1), 5.07 (dd, 1H, $J_{2,3}$ = 4.9 Hz, H-2), 7.40-8.05 (m, 10H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, -4.2, -3.9, -3.4, -3.2, 15.2, 18.2 (×2), 24.8, 26.1 (×3), 26.2 (×3), 65.2, 71.5, 74.1, 75.6, 79.7, 81.9, 128.5 (×2), 128.6 (×2), 129.8 (×4), 130.2 (×2), 130.3, 133.3, 165.7, 166.5 ppm. HR-FAB MS $[M+Na]^+$ calcd for C₃₄H₅₂NaO₇SSi₂⁺ 683.2870, found 683.2877.

Ethyl6-O-benzoyl-2-O-benzyl-3,4-di-O-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (2.9).TBSOTf (0.30 mL, 1.28 mmol) was added to a solution of 2.28(0.18 g, 0.429 mmol) in 2,6-lutidine (3.0 mL) and the resulting mixture was heated at 130

 $^{\circ}$ C for 1 h. After that, the reaction mixture was allowed to cool to rt, diluted with ethyl acetate (~60 mL) and washed with 1 M aq. HCl (3×5 mL), water (5 mL), sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (5 mL) and brine (2 x 5 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried with MgSO₄, and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate – toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound in 86% yield (0.24g, 0.37 mmol) as a colorless syrup. Analytical data for 2.9: $R_f = 0.75$ (ethyl acetate/ toluene, 1/9, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{21.6}$ -0.8 (c = 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , -0.05-0.02 (4 s, 12H, 2 x SiMe₂), 0.80, 0.82 (2 s, 18H, 2 x Si^tBu), 1.18 (t, 3H, J = 7.4 Hz, CH_2CH_3), 2.62 (m, 2H, CH_2CH_3), 3.32 (dd, 1H, $J_{2,3} = 4.0$ Hz, H-2), 3.71 (dd, 1H, H-4), 3.78-3.86 (m, 2H, $J_{3.4} = 5.0$ Hz, H-3, 5), 4.32 (dd, 1H, $J_{5.6a} = 7.4$ Hz, $J_{6a,6b} = 11.3$ Hz, H-6a), 4.52 (dd, 1H, $J_{5.6b}$ = 4.8 Hz, H-6b), 4.65 (dd, ²J = 11.1 Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.74 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2}$ = 8.4 Hz, H-1), 7.10 - 8.01 (m, 10H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , -4.2, -3.8, -3.3, -3.2, 15.3, 18.2, 18.3, 25.4, 26.1 (×3), 26.4 (×3), 65.6, 71.7, 73.6, 76.5, 79.4, 82.5, 82.9, 127.6, 127.8 (×2), 128.3 (×2), 128.5 (×2), 129.8 (×2), 130.2, 133.2, 138.5, 166.4 ppm; HR-FAB MS $[M+Na]^+$ calcd for $C_{34}H_{54}NaO_6SSi_2^+$ 669.3077, found 669.3087.

2.4.3 Synthesis of glycosyl acceptors 2.4, 2.14, 2.15, 2.17, 2.19

Methyl 2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (2.4). The synthesis of the title compound was performed in accordance with the reported procedure and its analytical data was in accordance with that previously described.^{33,44}

Ethyl 2,3,4-tri-*O***-benzyl-1-thio-** β **-D-glucopyranoside (2.14).** The synthesis of the title compound was performed in accordance with the reported procedure and its analytical data was in accordance with that previously described.⁴⁵

Methyl 2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzoyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (2.15). The synthesis of the title compound was performed in accordance with the reported procedure and its analytical data was in accordance with that previously described.⁴⁶

Methyl 2,3,6-tri-O-benzoyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (2.17). The synthesis of the title compound was performed in accordance with the reported procedure and its analytical data was in accordance with that previously described.⁴⁷

Methyl 2,3-di-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (2.19). The synthesis of the title compound was performed in accordance with the reported procedure and its analytical data was in accordance with that previously described.⁴⁸

2.4.4. General procedures for competition experiments

Donor competition experiments. A mixture of two glycosyl donors (0.035 mmol each), glycosyl acceptor **2.4** (0.071 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3 Å, 150 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (2.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 16 h at rt. The mixture was cooled to -78 °C, NIS (0.035 mmol) and TfOH (0.0035 mmol) were added, and the resulting mixture was stirred under argon for 1 h. During this time, the temperature of the reaction mixture was allowed to gradually increase to 0 °C. After that, triethylamine (~ 0.1 mL) was

added, the solid was filtered off, and rinsed successively with CH_2Cl_2 . The combined filtrate (~60 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (5 mL), 10% aq. Na₂S₂O₃ (5 mL) and water (3 x 10 mL). The organic layer was separated, dried with MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate – toluene gradient elution) and the amount of unreacted donors quantified.

Acceptor competition experiments. A mixture of two glycosyl acceptors (0.042 mmol each), glycosyl donor 2.5 (0.038 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3 Å, 150 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (2.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 16 h at rt. The mixture was cooled to -78 °C, NIS (0.038 mmol) and TfOH (0.0038 mmol) were added, and the resulting mixture was stirred under argon for 1 h. During this time, the temperature of the reaction mixture was allowed to gradually increase to 0 °C. After that, triethylamine (~0.1 mL) was added, the solid was filtered off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~60 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (5 mL), 10% aq. Na₂S₂O₃ (5 mL) and water (3 x 10 mL). The organic layer was separated, dried with MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate – toluene gradient elution) and the amount of unreacted acceptors quantified.

2.4.5. Synthesis of disaccharides

Method A. General glycosylation procedure in the presence of NIS/TfOH. A mixture of glycosyl donor (0.039 mmol), glycosyl acceptor (0.043 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3Å, 60 mg) in CH_2Cl_2 (2.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 16 h at rt. The mixture was cooled to -78 °C, NIS (0.051 mmol) and TfOH (0.0039 mmol) were

added, and the resulting mixture was stirred under argon for 15-30 min (see Table 1 of the article). During this time, the temperature of the reaction mixture was allowed to increase gradually. After that, triethylamine (~0.1 mL) was added, the solid was filtered off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~60 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (5 mL), 10% aq. Na₂S₂O₃ (5 mL) and water (3 x 10 mL). The organic layer was separated, dried with MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate – toluene gradient elution) to afford the corresponding disaccharide derivative.

Method B. General glycosylation procedure in the presence of DMTST. A mixture of glycosyl donor (0.039 mmol), glycosyl acceptor (0.043 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (4Å, 60 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (2.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 16 h at rt. The mixture was cooled to -78 °C, DMTST (0.051-0.078 mmol, see Table 1 of the article) was added, and the resulting mixture was stirred under argon for 10-20 min (see Table 1 of the article). During this time, the temperature of the reaction mixture was allowed to increase gradually. After that, triethylamine (~0.1 mL) was added, the solid was filtered off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~60 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (5 mL), 10% aq. Na₂S₂O₃ (5 mL) and water (3 x 10 mL). The organic layer was separated, dried with MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate – toluene gradient elution) to afford the corresponding disaccharide derivative.

Methyl 6-O-(2-O-benzoyl-6-O-benzyl-3,4-di-O-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-β-Dglucopyranosyl)-2,3,4-tri-O-benzyl-α-D-glucopyranoside (2.10). The title compound was prepared from donor 2.5 and acceptor 2.4 by Method A or B in 83 or 85% yield, respectively, as a colorless crystalline solid. Analytical data for 2.10: $R_f = 0.43$ (ethyl acetate/ toluene, 1/9, v/v); m.p. 111-112.5 °C (methanol/water); $[\alpha]_D^{26.9} + 3.2$ (c = 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 0.01, 0.02, 0.04, 0.12 (4 s, 12H, 2 x SiMe₂), 0.84 (s, 18H, 2 x Si^tBu), 3.24 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.44-3.49 (m, 2H, $J_{2,3} = 9.3$ Hz, H-2, 4), 3.67-3.73 (m, 3H, H-5, 6a, 6a'), 3.77 (dd, 1H, $J_{6a',6b'} = 9.7$ Hz, H-6b'), 3.82 (dd, 1H, $J_{4',5'} = 4.0$ Hz, H-4'), 3.86 (dd, 1H, $J_{3',4'}$ = 4.3 Hz, H-3'), 3.91 (dd, 1H, $J_{3,4}$ = 9.3 Hz, H-3), 3.95 (m, 1H, $J_{5',6a'} = 3.6$ Hz, $J_{5',6b'} = 6.4$ Hz, H-5'), 4.16 (br. d, 1H, J = 8.9 Hz, H-6b), 4.49 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J = 10.7$ Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.50 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 3.5$ Hz, H-1), 4.53 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J = 10.8$ Hz, CH_2Ph), 4.67 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J = 12.1$ Hz, CH_2Ph), 4.82 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J = 11.0$ Hz, CH_2Ph), 4.94 (d, 1H, $J_{1',2'} = 6.3$ Hz, H-1'), 5.11 (dd, 1H, $J_{2',3'} = 3.3$ Hz, H-2'), 7.07-7.99 (m, 25H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, -4.3, -4.1 (×2), -3.8, 18.1, 18.2, 26.0 (×6), 55.2, 67.9, 69.8, 71.1, 71.2, 73.5, 73.6, 75.1 (×2), 75.7 (×2), 77.6, 79.5, 79.9, 82.2, 98.2, 100.2, 127.6, 127.7 (×4), 127.8, 128.0 (×5), 128.3 (×2), 128.4 (×3), 128.5 (×4), 128.6 (×2), 130.0 (×2), 130.1, 133.1, 138.4 (×2), 138.5, 139.1, 165.4 ppm; HR-FAB MS $[M+Na]^+$ calcd for $C_{60}H_{80}NaO_{12}Si_2^+$ 1071.5085, found 1071.5066.

Methyl 6-*O*-(2,6-di-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tert-butyldimethylsilyl- α/β -D-glucopyranosyl)-2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (2.11). The title compound was prepared from donor 6 and acceptor 2.4 by Method A or B in 81 or 21% yield, respectively, as a colorless syrup. Selected analytical data for α -11: $R_f = 0.50$ (ethyl acetate/ toluene, 1/9, v/v); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 3.28 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.29 (dd, 1H, H-2') ppm; ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 96.7 (C-1), 98.1 (C-1') ppm; Selected analytical data for β-**2.11**: $R_f = 0.50$ (ethyl acetate/ toluene, 1/9, v/v); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 3.36 (s, 3H, OCH₃) ppm; ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 98.2 (C-1), 102.6 (C-1') ppm; HR-FAB MS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₆₀H₈₂NaO₁₁Si₂⁺ 1057.5293, found 1057.5288.

Methyl *O*-(2-*O*-Benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (2.12). The analytical data of 2.12 was in accordance with that previously described.⁴⁹

Methyl 6-*O*-(2,6-di-*O*-benzoyl-3,4-di-*O*-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl-α-D-glucopyranoside (2.13). The title compound was prepared from donor 2.8 and acceptor 2.4 by Method A in 85% yield as a colorless syrup. Analytical data for 2.13: $R_f = 0.60$ (ethyl acetate/ toluene, 1/9, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{26.9} + 12.5$ (c = 1, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 0.01, 0.05, 0.10, 0.14 (4 s, 12H, 2 x SiMe₂), 0.84, 0.86 (2 s, 18H, 2 x Si⁷Bu), 3.16 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 3.44 (dd, 1H, *J*_{2,3} = 9.7 Hz, H-2), 3.46 (dd, 1H, *J*_{4,5} = 9.4 Hz, H-4), 3.64-3.67 (m, 2H, H-5, 6a), 3.85 (dd, 1H, *J*_{4',5'} = 3.7 Hz, H-4'), 3.88 (dd, 1H, *J*_{3,4} = 9.3 Hz, H-3), 3.93 (dd, 1H, *J*_{3',4'} = 3.7 Hz, H-3'), 4.08 (m, 1H, H-5), 4.14 (d, 1H, *J*_{6a,6b} = 9.3 Hz, H-6b), 4.49 (dd, 2H, ²*J* = 10.9 Hz, C*H*₂Ph), 4.50 (d, 1H, *J*_{1,2} = 3.2 Hz, H-1), 4.57-4.59 (m, 2H, H-6a', 6b'), 4.66 (dd, 2H, ²*J* = 11.8 Hz, C*H*₂Ph), 4.82 (dd, 2H, ²*J* = 10.9 Hz, C*H*₂Ph), 4.91 (d, 1H, *J*_{1',2'} = 4.4 Hz, H-1'), 5.06 (dd, 1H, *J*_{2',3'} = 4.4 Hz, H-2'), 7.11-8.05 (m, 25H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , -4.4, -4.1 (×2), -3.8, 18.2 (×2), 26.0 (×6), 29.9, 55.0, 65.6, 67.8, 69.7, 70.7, 73.5, 73.7, 74.6, 75.1, 75.7, 77.6, 79.9, 82.2, 98.0, 100.0, 127.6, 127.8, 128.0 (×5), 128.3 (×2), 128.4 (×2), 128.5 (×4), 128.6 (×4), 129.8 (×2), 130.0, 130.1 (×2), 130.4, 133.2 (×2), 138.4 (×2), 139.2, 165.5, 166.4 ppm; HR-FAB MS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for $C_{60}H_{78}NaO_{13}Si_2^+$ 1085.4878, found 1085.4913.

3.4.6. One-pot one-addition trisaccharide synthesis

General procedure. A mixture of glycosyl donor **2.5** (0.038 mmol), glycosyl donor/acceptor **2.14** (0.038 mmol), glycosyl acceptor **2.15**, **2.17** or **2.19** (0.042 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3 Å, 150 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (2.0 mL) was stirred under for 16 h at rt. The mixture was cooled to -78 °C, NIS (0.116 mmol) and TfOH (0.0116 mmol) were added, and the resulting mixture was stirred under argon for 5 h. During this time, the temperature of the reaction mixture was allowed to gradually increase to rt. After that, triethylamine (~0.1 mL) was added, the solid was filtered off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~60 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (5 mL), 10% aq. Na₂S₂O₃ (5 mL) and water (3 x 10 mL). The organic layer was separated, dried with MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on Sephadex LH-20 (methanol – dichlorometane, 1/1, v/v) to afford the corresponding trisaccharide derivative **2.16**, **2.18** or **2.20**.

Methyl O-(2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-β-Dglucopyranosyl)-(1→6)-*O*-(2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α/β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1→6)-2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzoyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (2.16). The title compound was prepared from building blocks 2.5, 2.14, and 2.15 in accordance with the general procedure in 42% yield as a colorless syrup. Analytical data for α -**2.16**: $R_f = 0.46$ (ethyl acetate/ toluene, 1/9, v/v); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , -0.01, 0.03, 0.05, 0.12 (4 s, 12H, 2 x SiMe₂), 0.80, 0.83 (2 s, 18H, 2 x Si'Bu), 3.35-3.39 (m, 4H), 3.40 (d, 1H), 3.48 (dd, 1H), 3.56 (t, 1H), 3.60-3.66 (m, 2H), 3.72 (dd, 1H), 3.76-3.82 (m, 2H), 3.86-3.89 (m, 1H), 3.90-3.93 (m, 1H), 4.06 (dd, 1H), 4.15 (d, 1H), 4.23-4.28 (m, 1H), 4.39-4.47 (m, 3H), 4.52-4.58 (m, 2H), 4.67 (dd, 3H), 4.85 (d, 1H), 4.92 (d, 1H), 5.05 (dd, 2H), 5.20 (dd, 2H), 5.48 (t, 1H), 7.95-6.12 (m, 40H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , -4.3, -4.1 (×2), -3.8, 18.2 (×2), 26.1 (×6), 29.9, 55.9, 67.8, 68.7, 69.0, 70.1, 70.7, 70.9, 71.2, 72.4, 73.4, 74.5, 74.6, 75.0, 75.1, 75.2, 75.6, 79.0, 82.4, 84.7, 96.9, 100.1, 104.2, 127.8 (×2), 127.9 (×2), 128.2 (×2), 128.4 (×7), 128.5 (×6), 128.6 (×3), 129.2, 129.3, 129.5, 129.9 (×2), 130.1 (×2), 130.1 (×2), 130.1 (×2), 133.1, 133.23, 133.5, 138.2, 138.6, 138.8, 139.0, 165.4, 165.6, 166.0 (×2) ppm; HR-FAB MS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₈₇H₁₀₄NaO₁₉Si₂⁺ 1545.6400, found 1545.6368.

Methyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-β-Dglucopyranosyl)-(1→6)-*O*-(2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl-α/β-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1→4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzoyl-α-D-glucopyranoside (2.18). The title compound was prepared from building blocks 2.5, 2.14 and 2.17 in accordance with the general procedure in 37% yield as a colorless syrup. Analytical data for α-2.18: $R_f = 0.55$ (ethyl acetate/ toluene, 1/9, v/v); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, -0.03, 0.00, 0.03, 0.08 (4 s, 12H, 2 x SiMe₂), 0.81 (s, 18H, 2 x Si'Bu), 3.24 (dd, 1H), 3.40 (s, 3H), 3.45-3.50 (m, 1H), 3.64-3.56 (m, 2H), 3.70-3.76 (m, 1H), 3.79-3.89 (m, 4H), 3.95 (d, 1H), 4.05 (d, 1H), 4.19 (dd, 3H), 4.31 (d, 1H), 4.39 (d, 1H), 4.48-4.71 (m, 6H), 4.79 (d, 1H), 4.84 (d, 1H), 5.05 (m, 1H), 5.08 (d, 1H), 5.12 (d, 1H), 5.18 (dd, 1H), 6.18 (dd, 1H), 7.01-8.04 (m, 40H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , -4.4, -4.3, -4.2, -4.0, 18.1, 18.2, 26.0(×6), 29.9, 55.5, 63.5, 67.6, 68.9, 70.8, 71.0, 71.4, 72.3, 72.4, 73.1, 73.5, 75.0, 75.3, 75.4, 75.5, 75.8, 79.1, 79.8, 81.4, 96.9, 98.9, 99.9, 127.4, 127.6, 127.7 (×4), 127.9 (×4), 128.0 (×2), 128.3 (×4), 128.4 (×4), 128.5 (×2), 128.6 (×4), 129.9 (×2), 130.00 (×2), 130.2 (×2), 133.0, 133.1, 133.3, 133.4, 138.2, 138.4, 138.6, 139.1, 165.3, 165.6, 166.1, 166.2 ppm. HR-FAB MS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₈₇H₁₀₄NaO₁₉Si₂⁺ 1545.6400, found 1545.6366.

Methyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-*tert*-butyldimethylsilyl-β-Dglucopyranosyl)-(1→6)-*O*-(2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl-*a*/β-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1→4)-2,3-di-*O*benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-*a*-D-glucopyranoside (2.20). The title compound was prepared from building blocks 2.5, 2.14 and 2.19 in in accordance with the general procedure in 65% yield as a colorless syrup. Analytical data for α -18: R_f = 0.60 (ethyl acetate/ toluene, 1/9, v/v); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 0.01, 0.05, 0.05, 0.12 (4 s, 12H, 2 x SiMe₂), 0.83, 0.84 (2s, 18H, 2 x Si/Bu), 3.18 (dd, 1H), 3.41 (s, 3H), 3.51 (dd, 1H), 3.65-3.73 (m, 2H), 3.76 (dd, 1H), 3.79-3.92 (m, 6H), 3.92-4.05 (m, 4H), 4.20-4.27 (m, 2H), 4.35 (d, 1H), 4.46 (s, 2H), 4.50 (dd, 2H), 4.54-4.63 (m, 3H), 4.87 (d, 1H), 4.97 (d, 1H), 5.07 (d, 1H), 5.07 (d, 1H), 5.15-5.22 (m, 2H), 6.11 (dd, 1H), 7.04-7.94 (m, 40H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , -4.4, - 4.3, -4.2, -4.0, 18.1, 18.2, 26.0 (×6), 29.9, 55.5, 67.9, 68.7, 70.4, 70.8, 71.1 (×2), 72.3, 72.5, 72.7, 73.4, 73.5, 74.9, 75.0, 75.3, 75.4, 75.8, 79.4, 79.8, 81.5, 97.0, 98.4, 100.0, 127.7 (×2), 127.8 (×3), 127.9 (×2), 128.0 (×2), 128.1 (×2), 128.4 (×11), 128.5 (×2), 129.4, 129.9 (×2), 130.0 (×2), 130.1 (×2), 130.3, 133.0, 133.1, 133.4, 138.3, 138.4, 138.5, 138.6, 139.1, 165.3, 165.9, 166.2 ppm; HR-FAB MS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₈₇H₁₀₆NaO₁₁₈Si₂⁺ 1531.6608, found 1531.6576.

2.4.7. X-ray structure determination of disaccharide 2.10

A crystal of approximate dimensions 0.324 x 0.121 x 0.098 mm³ was mounted on MiTeGen cryoloops in a random orientation. Preliminary examination and data collection were performed using a Bruker X8 Kappa Apex II Charge Coupled Device (CCD) Detector system single crystal X-Ray diffractometer equipped with an Oxford Cryostream LT device. All data were collected using graphite monochromated Mo Ka radiation ($\lambda = 0.71073$ Å) from a fine focus sealed tube X-Ray source. Preliminary unit cell constants were determined with a set of 36 narrow frame scans. Typical data sets consist of combinations of ϖ and ϕ scan frames with typical scan width of 0.5° and counting time of 15 seconds/frame at a crystal to detector distance of 4.0 cm. The collected frames were integrated using an orientation matrix determined from the narrow frame scans. Apex II and SAINT software packages (Bruker Analytical X-Ray, Madison, WI, 2010) were used for data collection and data integration. Analysis of the integrated data did not show any decay. Final cell constants were determined by global refinement of reflections harvested from the complete data set. Collected data were corrected for systematic errors using SADABS (Bruker Analytical X-Ray, Madison, WI, 2010) based on the Laue symmetry using equivalent reflections.

Crystal data and intensity data collection parameters are listed in Table 1S. Structure solution and refinement were carried out using the SHELXTL- PLUS software package.⁵⁰ The structure was solved by direct methods and refined successfully in the space group P2₁. Full matrix least-squares refinements were carried out by minimizing Σ w(Fo²-Fc²)². The non-hydrogen atoms were refined anisotropically to convergence. All hydrogen atoms were treated using appropriate riding model (AFIX m³). The final residual values and structure refinement parameters are listed in Table 1S. Several motifs are disordered in this structure. The disorder was modeled with partial occupancy atoms and rigid body restraints (RIGU). Absolute structure determination was confirmed with a Flack x of -0.02(11).

Complete listings of positional and isotropic displacement coefficients for hydrogen atoms, anisotropic displacement coefficients for the non-hydrogen atoms are listed as supplementary material (Tables 2S and 4S). Table of calculated and observed structure factors are available in electronic format. The structural data have been deposited with Cambridge Crystallographic Data center with the CCDC number 1509777.

2.5. References

(1) Capon, B. Mechanism in carbohydrate chemistry. *Chem. Rev.* 1969, *69*, 407-496.

(2) Crich, D. Mechanism of a chemical glycosylation reaction. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2010**, *43*, 1144-1153.

(3) Mydock, L. K.; Demchenko, A. V. Mechanism of chemical O-glycosylation: from early studies to recent discoveries. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* 2010, *8*, 497-510.

(4) Ranade, S. C.; Demchenko, A. V. Mechanism of chemical glycosylation: focus on the mode of activation and departure of anomeric leaving groups. *J. Carbohydr. Chem.* **2013**, *32*, 1-43.

(5) Frihed, T. G.; Bols, M.; Pedersen, C. M. Mechanisms of glycosylation
reactions studied by low-temperature nuclear magnetic resonance. *Chem. Rev.* 2015, *115*, 4963-5013.

(6) Zhu, X.; Schmidt, R. R. New principles for glycoside-bond formation. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2009**, *48*, 1900-1934.

Nigudkar, S. S.; Demchenko, A. V. Stereocontrolled 1,2-cis glycosylation
 as the driving force of progress in synthetic carbohydrate chemistry. *Chem. Sci.* 2015, *6*, 2687–2704.

(8) Smoot, J. T.; Demchenko, A. V. Oligosaccharide synthesis: from conventional methods to modern expeditious strategies. *Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem.* **2009**, *62*, 161-250.

(9) Hsu, C. H.; Hung, S. C.; Wu, C. Y.; Wong, C. H. Toward automated oligosaccharide synthesis. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2011**, *50*, 11872-11923.

(10) Seeberger, P. H. The logic of automated glycan assembly. *Acc. Chem. Res.***2015**, *48*, 1450-1463.

(11) Mootoo, D. R.; Konradsson, P.; Udodong, U.; Fraser-Reid, B. "Armed" and "disarmed" n-pentenyl glycosides in saccharide couplings leading to oligosaccharides. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1988**, *110*, 5583-5584.
(12) Fraser-Reid, B.; Wu, Z.; Udodong, U. E.; Ottosson, H. Armed/disarmed effects in glycosyl donors: rationalization and sidetracking. *J. Org. Chem.* **1990**, *55*, 6068-6070.

(13) Fraser-Reid, B.; Udodong, U. E.; Wu, Z. F.; Ottosson, H.; Merritt, J. R.;
Rao, C. S.; Roberts, C.; Madsen, R. n-Pentenyl glycosides in organic chemistry: a
contemporary example of serendipity. *Synlett* **1992**, 927-942 and references therein.

(14) Grice, P.; Ley, S. V.; Pietruszka, J.; Priepke, H. W. M.; Walther, E. P. E.
Tuning the reactivity of glycosides: efficient one-pot oligosaccharide synthesis. *Synlett* 1995, 781-784.

(15) Douglas, N. L.; Ley, S. V.; Lucking, U.; Warriner, S. L. Tuning glycoside reactivity: new tool for efficient oligosaccharides synthesis. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1* 1998, 51-65.

(16) Zhang, Z.; Ollmann, I. R.; Ye, X. S.; Wischnat, R.; Baasov, T.; Wong, C.
H. Programmable one-pot oligosaccharide synthesis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1999, *121*, 734-753.

(17) Ritter, T. K.; Mong, K.-K. T.; Liu, H.; Nakatani, T.; Wong, C.-H. A
programmable one-pot oligosaccharide synthesis for diversifying the sugar domains of
natural products: A case study of vancomycin. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2003, *42*, 46574660.

(18) Hsu, Y.; Lu, X. A.; Zulueta, M. M.; Tsai, C. M.; Lin, K. I.; Hung, S. C.;
Wong, C. H. Acyl and silyl group effects in reactivity-based one-pot glycosylation:
synthesis of embryonic stem cell surface carbohydrates Lc4 and IV(2)Fuc-Lc4. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, *134*, 4549-4552.

(19) *Reactivity tuning in oligosaccharide assembly*; Fraser-Reid, B.; Lopez, J.C., Eds.; Springer-Verlag: Berlin-Heidelberg, 2011; Vol. 301.

(20) Premathilake, H. D.; Demchenko, A. V.: Superarmed and superdisarmed building blocks in expeditious oligosaccharide synthesis. In *Topics in Current Chemistry: Reactivity Tuning in Oligosaccharide Assembly*; Fraser-Reid, B., Lopez, J. C., Eds.;
Topics in Current Chemistry; Springer-Verlag: Berlin-Heidelberg, 2011; Vol. 301; pp 189-221.

(21) Jensen, H. H.; Pedersen, C. M.; Bols, M. Going to extremes: "super" armed glycosyl donors in glycosylation chemistry. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2007**, *13*, 7576-7582.

(22) Pedersen, C. M.; Nordstrom, L. U.; Bols, M. "Super armed" glycosyl donors: conformational arming of thioglycosides by silylation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2007, *129*, 9222-9235.

(23) Pedersen, C. M.; Marinescu, L. G.; Bols, M. Conformationally armed glycosyl donors: reactivity quantification, new donors and one pot reactions. *Chem. Commun.* 2008, 2465-2467.

(24) Heuckendorff, M.; Pedersen, C. M.; Bols, M. Quantifying electronic
 effects of common carbohydrate protecting groups in a piperidine model system. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2010, *16*, 13982-13994.

(25) Pedersen, C. M.; Marinescu, L. G.; Bols, M. Glycosyl donors in
"unusual" conformations – influence on reactivity and selectivity. *C. R. Chimie* 2011, 14, 17-43.

(26) Kamat, M. N.; Demchenko, A. V. Revisiting the armed-disarmed concept rationale: chemoselective activation of the S-benzoxazolyl glycosides in oligosaccharide synthesis. *Org. Lett.* **2005**, *7*, 3215-3218.

Mydock, L. K.; Demchenko, A. V. Superarming the S-benzoxazolyl glycosyl donors by simple 2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl protection. *Org. Lett.* 2008, *10*, 2103-2106.

(28) Mydock, L. K.; Demchenko, A. V. Application of the superarmed
glycosyl donor to chemoselective oligosaccharide synthesis. *Org. Lett.* 2008, *10*, 2107-2110.

(29) Premathilake, H. D.; Mydock, L. K.; Demchenko, A. V. Superarming common glycosyl donors by simple 2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl protection. *J. Org. Chem.* **2010**, *75*, 1095-1100.

(30) Heuckendorff, M.; Premathilake, H. D.; Pornsuriyasak, P.; Madsen, A. Ø.;
Pedersen, C. M.; Bols, M.; Demchenko, A. V. Superarming of glycosyl donors by
combined neighboring and conformational effects. *Org. Lett.* 2013, *15*, 4904–4907.

(31) Lahmann, M.; Oscarson, S. Investigation of the reactivity difference
between thioglycoside donors with variant aglycon parts. *Can. J. Chem.* 2002, *80*, 889893.

(32) Yasomanee, J. P.; Demchenko, A. V. Hydrogen bond-mediated aglycone
 delivery (HAD): a highly stereoselective synthesis of 1,2-cis α-D-glucosides from
 common glycosyl donors in the presence of bromine. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 6572-6581.

(33) Kuester, J. M.; Dyong, I. Partially benzylated carbohydrates, 2. Synthesis
 of all methyl mono-, di-, and tri-O-benzyl-α-D-glucopyranosides. *Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem.* 1975, 2179-2189.

(34) Schmidt, T.; Madsen, R. Glycosylations directed by the armed-disarmed effect with acceptors containing a single ester group. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2007, 3935-3941.

(35) Parameswar, A. R.; Demchenko, A. V.: One-pot oligosaccharide synthesis. In *Progress in the synthesis of complex carbohydrate chains of plant and microbial polysaccharides*; Nifantiev, N. E., Ed.; Transworld Res. Network: Kerala, 2009; pp 463-488.

(36) Raghavan, S.; Kahne, D. A one-step synthesis of ciclamycin trisaccharide.*J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1993, *115*, 1580-1581.

(37) Fraser-Reid, B.; Lopez, J. C.; Radhakrishnan, K. V.; Nandakumar, M. V.;
Gomez, A. M.; Uriel, C. One pot/two donors /one diol give one differentiated
trisaccharide: powerful evidence for reciprocal donor-acceptor selectivity (RDAS). *Chem. Commun.* 2002, 2104-2105.

(38) Martín-Lomas, M.; Cid, M. B.; Alfonso, F. A Comparative Study of the Influence of Protecting Groups on the Reactivity of chiro-Inositol Glycosyl Acceptors. *Synlett* **2005**, 2052-2056.

(39) Kaeothip, S.; Akins, S. J.; Demchenko, A. V. On the stereoselectivity of glycosidation of thiocyanates, thioglycosides, and thioimidates. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2010**, *345*, 2146-2150.

(40) Garegg, P. J.; Kvarnstrom, I.; Niklasson, A.; Niklasson, G.; Svensson, S.

C. T. Partial substitution of thioglycosides by phase transfer catalyzed benzoylation and benzylation. *J. Carbohydr. Chem.* **1993**, *12*, 933-953.

(41) Mydock, L. K.; Kamat, M. N.; Demchenko, A. V. Direct synthesis of diastereomerically pure glycosyl sulfonium salts. *Org. Lett.* **2011**, *13*, 2928-2931.

(42) Craft, K. M.; Townsend, S. D. Synthesis of lacto-N-tetraose.

Carbohydrate Research 2017, 440-441, 43-50.

(43) Ekelof, K.; Oscarson, S. Synthesis of oligosaccharide structures from the lipopolysaccharide of *Moraxella catarrhalis*. J. Org. Chem. **1996**, *61*, 7711-7718.

(44) Ranade, S. C.; Kaeothip, S.; Demchenko, A. V. Glycosyl alkoxythioimidates as complementary building blocks for chemical glycosylation. *Org. Lett.* 2010, *12*, 5628-5631.

(45) Fei, C.; Chan, T. H. Stereoselective synthesis and 2D NMR study of S-Dglucopyranoside. *Acta Chimica Sinica, Engl. Edit.* **1989**, 258-264.

(46) Boltje, T. J.; Kim, J.-H.; Park, J.; Boons, G.-J. Stereoelectronic effects
 determine oxacarbenium vs β-sulfonium ion mediated glycosylations. *Org. Lett.* 2011, *13*, 284-287.

(47) Zhang, Z.; Wong, C. H. *Tetrahedron* **2002**, *58*, 6513-6519.

(48) Dara, S.; Saikam, V.; Yadav, M.; Singh, P. P.; Vishwakarma, R. A.

HClO4-silica-catalysed regioselective opening of benzylidene acetals and its application towards regioselective HO-4 glycosylation of benzylidene acetals in one-pot. *Carbohydr*. *Res.* **2014**, *391*, 93-96.

(49) Nguyen, H. M.; Chen, Y. N.; Duron, S. G.; Gin, D. Y. Sulfide-mediated dehydrative glycosylation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123*, 8766-8772.

(50) Sheldrick, G. M. Acta Crystallogr., Sect. A: Fundam. Crystallogr., 2008,64, 112-122.

CHAPTER 3

The chemical synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides: lacto-N-neotetraose (Galβ1→4GlcNAcβ1→3Galβ1→4Glc)

M. D. Bandara, K. J. Stine, and A. V. Demchenko. The chemical synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides: lacto-N-neotetraose
 (Galβ1→4GlcNAcβ1→3Galβ1→4Glc). Carbohydr. Res., 2019, 483, 107743; DOI: 10.1016/j.carres.2019.107743

3.1. Introduction

Carbohydrates are involved in many processes and are referred to as the "essential *molecules of life*".¹ Our life begins with fertilization, which takes place via carbohydrateprotein recognition.² Our journey with sugars continues with human milk that becomes the ideal first food.³ Glycans present in human milk can provide prebiotic effects.⁴ function as antimicrobial agents.⁵⁻¹³ and provide necessary nutrients for the development of the brain and cognition of infants.¹⁴ Thanks to advances in glycosciences, we already know that Human Milk Oligosaccharides (HMO) are a unique and diverse family of glycans.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ Structures of 162 HMO have been elucidated,¹⁸⁻²² but our understanding of how HMO function is far from complete and is severely hampered by the lack of simple, efficient and cost effective methods for synthesizing glycans. Despite many efforts to prepare HMO enzymatically²³⁻⁴² or chemically,⁴³⁻⁵⁴ their availability in pure form remains poor. Adding HMO to infant formulas could be beneficial for infants' health,⁵⁵⁻⁵⁸ but HMO are challenging to produce and purify, and exact roles of individual HMO remain unknown.⁵⁹⁻ ⁶¹ Only two simple glycans have been approved for infant formulas in the US and Europe, and three more HMO entered clinical trials.⁶²

One of the two approved HMO structures is lacto-N-neotetraose **3.1** (LNnT), which is a linear tetrasaccharide comprising a Gal β 1 \rightarrow 4GlcNAc β 1 \rightarrow 3Gal β 1 \rightarrow 4Glc sequence shown in Scheme 3.1. More specifically, LNnT contains lactose disaccharide (Gal β 1 \rightarrow 4Glc) at the reducing end elongated by N-acetyllactosamine (Gal β 1 \rightarrow 4GlcNAc).

3.2. Results and discussion

During the incipient stage of the synthesis of LNnT **3.1**, we decided to perform a convergent (2+2) synthetic strategy. Thus, per our retrosynthetic analysis, we chose the

protected lactosamine donor **3.2**, containing a suitable leaving group (LG), and the regioselectively protected lactose acceptor **3.3**. The latter was designed as a universal precursor for the synthesis of other HMO sequences elongated at C-2 and/or C-6 of the galactose unit. The access to those sequences is enabled by temporary protecting groups, benzoyl and picoloyl (Pico). Another key aspect in our design is the use of benzyl groups as semi-permanent protecting groups, whereas a majority of previous syntheses used acetyl groups that are prone to migration leading to side products.



Scheme 3.1. Retrosynthesis analysis of LNnT 3.1.

The projected synthesis of lactosamine donor **3.2** involved coupling of galactosyl trichloroacetimidate donor **34** with glucosamine acceptor **3.5**. To achieve the synthesis of lactose precursor **3.3**, we projected the coupling between the orthogonally protected galactose donor **3.6** and tetrabenzylated glucose 4-OH acceptor **3.7**. The protecting groups

in donor **3.6** were chosen to provide access to the universal lactose acceptor precursor that would be suitable for glycosylation at C-3 via Fmoc removal (like in case of acceptor **3.3**), C-6 via OPico removal, or provide access to 3,6-branched HMO sequences.

For the synthesis of lactosamine building block 3.2 we obtained known trichloroacetimidate donor **3.4**.⁶³ Also known glucosamine thioglycoside acceptor **3.5** was obtained following a seven-step protocol similar to that previously described method.⁶⁴ Unfortunately, coupling between donor **3.4** and acceptor **3.5** in the presence of TMSOTF was not straightforward as anticipated. Instead of the desired product **3.2**, the major product was tetrabenzoylated ethylthio galactoside, presumably generated through an aglycone transfer side reaction. Gildersleeve et al. has done a careful mechanistic study on the aglycone transfer reactions.⁶⁵ According to their mechanistic picture, several factors play a role in determining whether transfer occurs. One is the electronic, armed or disarmed, nature of the donor and the acceptor. Based on that, Gildersleeve et al. hypothesized that any thioglycoside could undergo transfer as long as the oxacarbenium ion or the glycosyl intermediate derived from the thioglycoside is more stable than the oxacarbenium ion derived from the glycosyl donor. In further investigation of our coupling reaction, we came to realization that the aglycone transfer practically always takes place in reactions between disarmed galactose donors, regardless of the leaving group, and glucosamine acceptor 3.5. The same issue was reported by Wang,³¹ and the solution was found in applying galactosyl bromide as the donor that produced the respective lactosamine disaccharide with moderate yield of 70%.



Scheme 3.2. Convergent synthesis of protected LNnT 3.12.

In order to eliminate the aglycone transfer side reaction and to obtain the desired disaccharide **3.2** in high yield, we first investigated whether galactose trichloroacetimidate donor⁶⁶ equipped with the superarming 2-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-benzyl pattern^{67,68} would be advantageous. This reaction indeed produced disaccharide **3.2**, and no aglycone transfer was detected in this case. However, multiple by-products have been detected that resulted in only a fair yield of disaccharide **3.2**. At this point we decided to screen other leaving

groups and determined that the superarmed S-benzoxazolyl (SBox) thioimidate $3.8^{67,68}$ provides a superior combination of simplicity, efficiency and yields for the synthesis of lactosamine, which is a major constituent in many HMO. Thus, selective activation of the SBox leaving group in glycosyl donor **3.8** over thioethyl anomeric moiety of glycosyl acceptor **3.5** was achieved in the presence of silver trifluoromethanesulfonate (AgOTf). This glycosylation afforded the desired β -linked lactosamine disaccharide **3.2** in excellent yield of 98% (Scheme 3.2).

Having achieved success in the synthesis of lactosamine disaccharide **3.2**, we turned our attention to the synthesis of lactose derivative **3.3**. The synthesis of galactose donor **3.6** started from known precursor **3.9**⁶⁹ that was converted to the intermediate **3.10** via the reductive regioselective opening of the benzylidene acetal by reaction with 1 M BH₃ in THF in the presence of catalytic TMSOTf in 91% yield. Subsequently, the 6-hydroxyl derivative **3.10** was reacted with picolinic acid (PicoOH) in the presence of 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide (EDC) and 4-dimethylaminopyridine (DMAP) to afford 6-picoloyl derivative **3.6** in 94% yield. The synthesis of the 4-OH acceptor **3.7** followed previously reported procedure.⁷⁰ The coupling of donor **3.6** and acceptor **3.7** was carried out by the activation of the thioethyl leaving group with *N*-iodosuccinimide (NIS) and TfOH in the presence of molecular sieves (3 Å). Subsequent deprotection of the Fmoc group with triethyl amine (Et₃N) in one pot led to the desired disaccharide acceptor **3.3** in 84% yield.

With the key disaccharide building blocks **3.2** and **3.3** in hand, we began to assemble the target tetrasaccharide sequence using the convergent strategy. The coupling of the disaccharide donor **3.2** bearing the SEt leaving group was very sluggish, and despite

all attempts to push the reaction to completion, significant amounts of both the donor and the acceptor remained. To increase the reactivity of the glycosyl donor counterpart, we converted thioglycoside **3.2** into a phosphate donor **3.11** in 97% yield via a one-step protocol developed by Seeberger.⁷¹ The coupling of phosphate donor **3.11** with lactose acceptor **3.2** was then conducted in the presence of TMSOTf as depicted in Scheme 3.2. As a result, tetrasaccharide **3.14** was obtained in a good yield of 70% with complete β -stereoselectivity.

With a very minimal strategic adjustment to our synthetic scheme, we were also able to investigate whether the linear synthetic approach is able to offer any advantage for the synthesis of the target tetrasaccharide sequence. For this purpose, we converted building block **3.5** into its 4-*O*-Fmoc derivative **3.13** that was subsequently converted into phosphate donor **3.14**. The linear synthesis started by glycosylation between donor **3.14** and lactose acceptor **3.3** in the presence of TMSOTf to afford the intermediate trisaccharide **3.15** in 70% yield. The Fmoc protecting group was removed with 30% Et₃N in CH₂Cl₂ and glycosylation of the resulting trisaccharide acceptor **3.16** with SBox donor **3.8** in the presence of AgOTf afforded the desired β -linked tetrasaccharide **3.12** in 87% yield.

With the key tetrasaccharide intermediate **3.12** which was obtained via both convergent and linear synthesis methods, we then endeavored a series of deprotection steps to obtain the target LNnT tetrasaccharide **3.1**. Deprotection of the phthalimido and the ester groups was achieved by refluxing with $NH_2NH_2-H_2O$ in MeOH, and the treatment with acetic anhydride in MeOH furnished tetrasaccharide **3.17** in 87% yield. Finally, the remaining benzyl groups were removed by hydrogenation the presence of 10% palladium on charcoal in wet ethanol to obtain the target trisaccharide **3.1** in 92% yield.



Scheme 3.3. The linear synthesis of tetrasaccharide 3.12 and its deprotection to obtain LNnT 3.1.

3.3. Conclusions

In summary, the total synthesis of lacto-N-neotetraose has been completed using both linear and convergent synthesis approaches. Both approaches employed the universal lactose building block **3.3** and offered similar efficiency. In accordance with the convergent approach, lactosamine building block **3.11** needed for glycosylation of acceptor **3.3** was obtained in three steps from monosaccharide building blocks **3.5** and **3.8** followed by the introduction of the phosphate leaving group. As a result, the convergent assembly of tetrasaccharide **3.12** was achieved in 66% yield over three steps. The linear synthesis of **3.12** involved glycosylation of acceptor **3.3** with donor **3.14**, interim Fmoc deprotection, followed by glycosylation with **3.8**. As a result, the linear assembly of tetrasaccharide **3.12** was also achieved in three synthetic steps in 57% yield overall. Along the way, we have developed new synthetic protocols for different glycosidic linkages. Notably, the donor and acceptor protecting group and the leaving group combinations were found to be of paramount significance to successful coupling. The discovery of innovative methods and accessible technologies that will offer new capabilities for obtaining individual HMO will help to improve understanding their roles and boost practical applications. Further synthetic studies of HMO are underway in our laboratory.

3.4. Experimental

3.4.1. General methods

The reactions were performed using commercial reagents and the ACS grade solvents were purified and dried according to standard procedures. Column chromatography was performed on silica gel 60 (70-230 mesh) and Sephadex G-25 size exclusion resin, reactions were monitored by TLC on Kieselgel 60 F_{254} . The compounds were detected by examination under UV light and by charring with 10% sulfuric acid in methanol. Solvents were removed under reduced pressure at <40 °C. CH₂Cl₂ was distilled

from CaH₂ directly prior to application. Molecular sieves (3Å), used for reactions, were crushed and activated *in vacuo* at 390 °C during 8 h in the first instance and then for 2-3 h at 390 °C directly prior to application. AgOTf was co-evaporated with toluene (3 x 10 mL) and dried *in vacuo* for 2-3 h directly prior to application. Optical rotations were measured using a Jasco polarimeter. ¹H NMR spectra were recorded at 300 MHz or 600 MHz, and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded at 75 MHz or 151 MHz. The ¹H chemical shifts are referenced to the signal of the residual TMS ($\delta_H = 0.00$ ppm) for solutions in CDCl₃ or the signal of the central signal of CDCl₃ ($\delta_C = 77.16$ ppm) for solutions in CDCl₃ or the central signal of CD₃COCD₃ $\delta_C = 29.84$ ppm) for solutions in D₂O. Accurate mass spectrometry determinations were performed using Agilent 6230 ESI TOF LCMS mass spectrometer.

3.4.2. Preparation of monosaccharide building blocks 3.10, 3.6, 3.13. 3.14

Ethyl 2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-3-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-1-thio-β-Dgalactopyranoside (3.10). A 1 M solution of BH₃ in THF (48 mL, 48 mmol) was added to a solution of ethyl 2-*O*-benzoyl-3-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene-1thio-β-D-galactopyranoside⁶⁹ (6.15 g, 9.62 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (50 mL). The resulting mixture was cooled to 0 °C, TMSOTf (0.87 mL, 4.81 mmol) was added, and the resulting mixture was stirred under argon 2 h. During this time, the reaction was allowed to gradually increase to rt. After that, the reaction was quenched with Et₃N (~2 mL) and MeOH (~5 mL), and the resulting mixture was concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (~500 mL) and washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (50 mL) and water (2 x 50 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate - hexane gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 91% yield (5.61 g, 8.75 mmol). Analytical data for **3.10**: $R_f = 0.27$ (ethyl acetate/hexane, 2/3, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{22}$ +31.8 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 1.23 (t, 3H, J = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.75 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.56 (m, 1H, J = 5.4, 8.4, 11.2 Hz, H-6a), 3.67 (m, 1H, J = 6.1 Hz, H-5), 3.85 (m, 1H, H-6b), 4.04 (br d, 1H, H-4), 4.08 (d, 1H, J = 7.4 Hz, OCOCH₂CH), 4.29 (m, 2H, OCOCH₂CH), 4.60 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 10.0$ Hz, H-1), 4.67 (dd, 2H, ²J = 11.6 Hz, CH₂Ph), 5.07 (dd, 1H, $J_{3,4} = 2.9$ Hz, H-3), 5.76 (t, 1H, $J_{2,3} = 10.0$ Hz, H-2), 7.03-8.10 (m, 18H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 14.9, 24.0, 46.5, 61.7, 68.5, 70.3, 73.5, 74.9, 79.0, 79.2, 84.0, 120.1, 125.0, 125.2, 125.4, 127.2 (×2), 127.9, 128.2, 128.3 (×2), 128.6 (×4), 129.1, 129.6, 130.0, 133.4, 137.6, 141.2, 141.3, 142.9, 143.3, 154.6, 165.4 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+NH4]⁺ calcd for C₃₇H₄₀NO₈S 658.2475, found 658.2477.

Ethyl 2-*O***-benzoyl-4-***O***-benzyl-3-***O***-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-6-***O***-picoloyl-1-thio-β-D**-galactopyranoside (3.6). Picolinic acid (1.21 g, 9.83 mmol), EDC (0.90 g, 9.83 mmol), and DMAP (0.18 g, 1.31 mmol) were added to a stirring solution of **310** (4.20 g, 6.55 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (60 mL) and the resulting mixture was stirred for 1 h at rt. After that, the reaction mixture was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (~500 mL) and washed with water (50 mL), 1% aq. HCl (50 mL) and water (2 x 50 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate - hexane gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white form in 94% yield (5.30 g, 6.14 mmol). Analytical data for **3.6**: $R_f = 0.41$ (ethyl acetate/hexane, 3/2, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{23} + 36.8$ (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 1.22 (t, 3H, J = 7.5 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.73 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 4.06 (m, 2H, H-5, OCOCH₂CH), 4.15 (d,1H, H-4), 4.28 (m, 2H, OCOCH₂CH), 4.47 (dd, 1H, $J_{5,6a} = 11.2$ Hz, $J_{6a,6b} = 6.5$ Hz, H-6a), 4.61 (dd, 1H, H-6b), 4.68 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 10.0$ Hz, H-1) 4.73 (dd, 2H, ²J = 11.4 Hz, CH₂Ph), 5.13 (dd, 1H, $J_{3,4} = 2.8$ Hz, H-3), 5.79 (dd, 1H, $J_{2,3} = 10.0$ Hz, H-2), 7.00-8.82 (m, 22H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 15.0, 24.1, 46.5, 63.8, 68.5, 70.3, 73.6, 75.2, 76.0, 79.0, 83.9, 120.1, 125.0, 125.2, 125.4, 127.2 (×3), 127.9 (×2), 128.0, 128.5 (×5), 128.6 (×2), 129.5, 130.0 (×2), 133.4, 137.1, 137.4, 141.2, 141.3, 142.8, 143.3, 147.6, 150.1, 154.6, 164.7, 165.3 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₄₃H₃₉NNaO₉S 768.2243, found 768.2247.

Ethyl 3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-4-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-2-phthalimido-1-thioβ-D-glucopyranoside (3.13). FmocCl (1.06 g, 4.12 mmol) was added to a solution of ethyl 3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside⁶⁴ (3.5, 1.10 g, 2.06 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) and pyridine (0.42 mL), and the resulting mixture was stirred under argon for 2 h at rt. After that, the reaction mixture was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (~250 mL) and washed with 1% aq. HCl (40 mL) and water (2 x 40 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate - hexane gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white form in 87% yield (1.35 g, 1.79 mmol). Analytical data for **3.13**: R_f = 0.53 (ethyl acetate/hexane, 2/3, v/v); [α]_D²³+75.8 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 1.17 (t, 3H, *J* = 7.4 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.54-2.75 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.68 (br d, 2H, $J_{6a,6b}$ = 4.5 Hz, H-6a, 6b), 3.86 (m, 1H, $J_{5,6a}$ = $J_{5,6b}$ = 4.5 Hz, H-5), 4.13 (t, 1H, *J* = 7.1 Hz, OCOCH₂C*H*), 4.27-4.44 (m, 2H, OCOC*H*₂CH), 4.30 (dd, 1H, $J_{2,3} = 10.5$ Hz, H-2), 4.44 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J = 12.2$ Hz, C*H*₂Ph), 4.50 (dd, 1H, $J_{3,4} = 9.0$ Hz, H-3), 4.55 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J = 12.0$ Hz, C*H*₂Ph), 4.99 (dd, 1H, $J_{4,5} = 10.0$ Hz, H-4), 5.27 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 10.5$ Hz, H-1), 6.78-7.83 (m, 22H, aromatic) ppm; 13 C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 15.1, 24.2, 46.9, 54.6, 69.9, 70.0, 73.6, 74.4, 77.3 (×2), 77.8, 81.3, 120.2 (×2), 123.4, 123.7, 124.8, 125.1, 125.2, 127.2, 127.3 (×2), 127.5, 127.7 (×3), 127.9 (×2), 128.0, 128.1 (×2), 128.4 (×2), 131.7, 134.1, 137.6, 138.1, 141.4 (×2), 143.2, 143.4, 154.4, 167.3, 168.1 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₄₅H₄₁NNaO₈S; 778.2451, found 778.2457.

Di-O-butyl 3,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-4-O-fluorenylmethoxy-carbonyl-2-phthalimidoβ-D-glucopyranosyl phosphate (3.14). A mixture of thioglycoside 3.13 (0.30 g, 0.39 mmol), dibutyl hydrogen phosphate (0.23 mL, 1.19 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3 Å, 0.6 g) in CH₂Cl₂ (7.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 1 h at rt. The reaction mixture was cooled to 0 °C, NIS (0.17 g, 0.78 mmol) and TfOH (7.0 µL, 0.08 mmol) were added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 20 min at 0 °C. After that, the solids were filtered off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~100 mL) was washed with 10% aq. Na₂S₂O₃ (15 mL) and sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (15 mL), and water (2 x 15 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a clear syrup in 90% yield (0.31 g, 0.35 mmol). Analytical data for **3.14**: $R_f = 0.45$ (ethyl acetate/hexane, 1/4, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ +55.8 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 0.69, 0.83 (2 t, 6H, 2 x O(CH₂)₃CH₃), 1.03 (m, 2H, J = 7.3, 14.4 Hz, O(CH₂)₂CH₂CH₃CH₃), 1.18-1.34 (m, 4H, O(CH₂)₂CH₂CH₂CH₃ OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 1.42-1.56 (m, 2H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 3.61-3.80 (m, 4H, H-6a, 6b, OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 3.84-4.03 (m, 3H, H-5, OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 4.13 (t, 1H, J = 7.0 Hz, OCOCH₂CH), 4.29-4.43 (m, 3H, H-2, OCOCH₂CH), 4.44 (dd, 2H, ²J = 12.4 Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.51 (dd, 2H, ²J = 12.0 Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.58 (m, 1H, $J_{3,4} = 9.4$ Hz, H-3), 5.08 (t, 1H, $J_{4,5} = 9.4$ Hz, H-4), 5.84 (t, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 7.5$ Hz, H-1), 6.76-7.82 (m, 22H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 13.5, 13.6, 18.4, 18.6, 31.9 (d, J = 7.1 Hz), 32.0 (d, J = 7.2 Hz), 46.8, 55.9 (d, J = 8.2 Hz), 67.9 (d, J = 6.2 Hz), 68.1 (d, J = 6.3 Hz), 69.1, 70.1, 73.5, 73.6, 74.4, 76.4, 76.5, 94.1 (d, J = 4.5 Hz), 120.2 (×2), 123.5, 125.0, 125.2, 127.3 (×2), 127.5, 127.7 (×4), 127.8 (×3), 128.0 (×2), 128.1 (×3), 128.4 (×3), 131.6, 134.0 (×2), 137.6, 137.9, 141.4 (×2), 143.1, 143.4, 154.3 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₅₁H₅₄NNaO₁₂P 926.3281, found 926.3286.

3.4.3. Synthesis of oligosaccharides 3.2, 3.3, 3.11, 3.15, 3.16, 3.12

Ethyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-4,6-di-*O*benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (3.2). A mixture of benzoxazolyl 2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-1-thio-β-D-galactopyranoside^{67,68} (3.8, 0.20 g, 0.29 mmol), acceptor 3.5 (0.12 g, 0.22 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3Å, 600 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (7.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 2 h at rt. The reaction mixture was cooled to -30 °C, freshly conditioned AgOTf (0.15 g, 0.58 mmol) was added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 15 min. The solids were filtered-off rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~50 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL) and water (2 x 10 mL) The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 98% yield (0.23 g, 0.22 mmol). Analytical data for 3.2: $R_f = 0.54$ (acetone/toluene, 1/9, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ +28.5 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 1.11 (t, 3H, J = 7.4 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.45-2.67 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.34-3.70 (m, 7H, H-3', 5, 5', 6a, 6a', 6b, 6b'), 4.03 (m, 2H, H-4, 4'), 4.15-4.66 (m, 11H, H-1', 2, 3, 8 x CHPh), 4.66 (d, 1H, $J_{1',2'} = 7.9$ Hz, H-1'), 4.91 (d, 1H, ²J = 12.1 Hz, CHPh), 4.97 (d, 1H, ²J = 11.6 Hz, CHPh), 5.13 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 9.9$ Hz, H-1), 5.65 (dd, 1H, $J_{2',3'} = 10.1$ Hz, H-2'), 6.73-7.98 (m, 34H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 15.0. 24.0, 54.9, 68.0, 68.2, 71.4, 72.6 (×2), 73.4 (×2), 73.6, 74.6, 74.8, 77.4, 78.1, 79.0, 79.8, 81.1, 100.8, 123.4, 123.5, 126.8, 127.4, 127.6 (×2), 127.7 (×2), 127.8 (×7), 127.9 (×4), 128.0 (×2), 128.2 (×2), 128.4 (×6), 128.5 (×3), 129.9 (×2), 131.7, 133.2, 133.9, 137.8, 138.1, 138.4, 138.8, 138.9, 165.2, 167.7, 168.0 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+NH₄]⁺ calcd for C₆₄H₆₇N₂O₁₂S 1087.4415, found 1087.4426.

Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-2,3,6tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-glucopyranoside (3.3). A mixture of donor 3.6 (0.82 g, 0.96 mmol), benzyl 2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-glucopyranoside⁷⁰ (3.7, 0.40 g, 0.74 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3Å, 2.0 g) in CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) was stirred under argon for 2 h at rt. The reaction mixture was cooled to 0 °C, NIS (0.43 g, 1.96 mmol) and TfOH (17 µL, 0.19 mmol) were added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 16 h. Over this time, the reaction temperature was allowed to reach rt. After that, Et₃N (6.0 mL) was added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 1 h at rt. The solid was filtered-off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~100 mL) was washed with 10% aq. Na₂S₂O₃ (15 mL) and water (2 x 15 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and

concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 84% yield (0.61 g, 0.62 mmol). Analytical data for **3.3**: $R_f = 0.50$ (acetone/toluene, 1/4, v/v); $[\alpha]_{D}^{23}$ -7.8 (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 2.39 (d, 1H, J = 9.4 Hz, OH), $3.29 \text{ (m, 1H, } J_{5,6a} = 1.4 \text{ Hz}, J_{5,6b} = 3.8 \text{ Hz}, \text{H-5}), 3.45 \text{ (dd, 1H, } J_{2,3} = 9.0 \text{ Hz}, \text{H-2}), 3.57 \text{ (dd, 1H, } J_{2,3} = 9.0 \text{ Hz}, \text{H-2}), 3.57 \text{ (dd, 1H, } J_{2,3} = 9.0 \text{ Hz}, \text{H-2}), 3.57 \text{ (dd, 2H, } J_{2,3} = 9.0 \text{ Hz}, J_{2,3} = 9.$ 1H, $J_{3,4} = 9.1$ Hz, H-3), 3.62 (dd, 1H, $J_{6a,6b} = 10.8$ Hz, H-6a), 3.65-3.72 (m, 3H, $J_{3',4'} = 3.8$ Hz, H-3', 5', 6b), 3.93 (br d, 1H, H-4'), 3.96 (dd, 1H, *J*_{4,5} = 9.1 Hz, H-4), 4.33-4.42 (m, 3H, H-6a', 6b', CHPh), 4.41 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 8.0$ Hz, H-1), 4.58 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J = 12.0$ Hz, CHPh), 4.61 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 12.2 Hz, CHPh), 4.70 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 11.0 Hz, CHPh), 4.82-4.75 (m, 4H, $J_{1',2'}$ = 8.0 Hz, H-1', 3 x CHPh), 4.86-4.89 (m, 2H, 2 x CHPh), 5.01 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 10.9 Hz, CHPh), 5.27 (dd, 1H, $J_{2',3'} = 10.0$, H-2'), 7.12-8.82 (m, 34H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 63.1, 68.2, 71.2, 72.1, 73.5, 73.5, 74.6, 74.7, 75.0, 75.4, 75.8, 76.4, 76.8, 81.9, 82.8, 100.2, 102.6, 125.4, 124.4, 127.2, 127.4, 127.7, 127.8 (×3), 127.9 (×2), 128.0 (×2), 128.2 (×6), 128.4 (×2), 128.5 (×2), 128.6 (×4), 128.7 (×2), 129.6, 129.9 (×2), 133.5, 137.1, 137.5, 137.8, 138.3, 138.6, 139.1, 147.6, 150.1, 164.5, 166.7 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₆₀H₅₉NNaO₁₃ 1024.3884, found 1024.3878.

Di-O-butyl O-(2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-4,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl phosphate (3.11). A mixture of compound 3.2 (0.285 g, 0.282 mmol), dibutyl hydrogen phosphate (0.17 mL, 0.847 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3 Å, 0.5 g) in CH₂Cl₂ (5.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 1 h at rt. The mixture was cooled to 0 °C, NIS (0.126 g, 0.564 mmol) and TfOH (5.0 µL, 0.056 mmol) were added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 20 min at 0 °C.

After that, the solids were filtered off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~100 mL) was washed with 10% aq. Na₂S₂O₃ (15 mL), sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (15 mL), and water (2 x 15 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as an oily syrup in 97% yield (0.33 g, 0.273 mmol). Analytical data for 3.11: $R_f = 0.35$ (acetone/toluene, 1/9, v/v); $[\alpha]_{D}^{23}$ +31.7 (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 0.71, 0.86 (2 t, 6H, 2 x) O(CH₂)₃CH₃), 1.03 (m, 2H, O(CH₂)₂CH₂CH₃), 1.37-1.20 (m, 4H, O(CH₂)₂CH₂CH₃. OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 1.52 (m, 2H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 3.48-3.59 (m, 6H, H-3', 5, 6a, 6a', 6b, 6b'), 3.64-3.80 (m, 3H, H-5', OCOCH₂CH), 3.84-4.00 (m, 2H, OCOCH₂CH), 4.06 (br d, 1H, $J_{3',4'} = 2.8$ Hz, H-4'), 4.13 (dd, 1H, $J_{4,5} = 8.9$ Hz, H-4), 4.21-4.63 (m, 8H, H-2, 3, 6 x CHPh), 4.66-4.74 (m, 3H, $J_{1',2'}$ = 7.7 Hz, H-1', 2 x CHPh), 4.97 (d, 1H, ²J = 12.2 Hz, CHPh), 5.04 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 11.6 Hz, CHPh), 5.69 (dd, 1H, $J_{2',3'}$ = 9.9 Hz, H-2'), 5.75 (dd, 1H, J = 8.2, 7.1 Hz, H-1), 6.80-8.05 (m, 34H, aromatic); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 13.4, 13.6, 18.3, 18.5, 31.8 (d, J = 7.0 Hz), 32.0 (d, J = 7.2 Hz), 56.0, 56.1, 67.4, 67.7 (d, J = 6.0 Hz), 67.9 (d, J = 6.3 Hz), 68.2, 71.4, 72.4, 72.6, 73.4, 73.5 (x2), 74.5, 74.7, 75.1, 76.4, 76.8,79.7, 94.1 (d, J = 4.9 Hz), 100.7, 123.3, 125.4, 126.9, 127.4, 127.6 (×2), 127.7, 127.8 (×6), 127.9, 128.0 (×6), 128.2 (×2), 128.3, 128.4 (×2), 128.5 (×6), 129.1, 129.8, 129.9, 131.6, 133.2, 133.9, 137.8, 138.0, 138.1, 138.8 (x2), 165.1, 167.6 (×2) ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₇₀H₇₆NNaO₁₆P 1240.4799, found 1240.4826

Benzyl *O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-4-*O*-fluorenylmethoxy-carbonyl-2-phthalimidoβ-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl-β-D- galactopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -2,3,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (3.15). A mixture of donor 3.14 (0.20 g, 0.22 mmol), acceptor 3.2 (0.17 g, 0.17 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3Å, 600 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (10 mL) was stirred under argon for 2 h at rt. The mixture was cooled to -30 °C, TMSOTf (80 µL, 0.44 mmol) was added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 15 min. The reaction mixture was then diluted with CH₂Cl₂, the solid was filtered-off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~50 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL) and water (2 x 10 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO4, and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as an off-white amorphous solid in 70% yield (0.20 g, 0.12mmol). Analytical data for 3.15: $R_f = 0.52$ (acetone/toluene, 1/4 v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{23} + 10.0$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 2.90 (m, 1H, J = 9.2 Hz, H-5), 3.25 (dd, 1H, J =10.0 Hz, H-6a), 3.32 (dd, 1H, $J_{2,3} = 8.9$ Hz, H-2), 3.36-3.39 (m, 2H, H-3, 6b), 3.63-3.72 (m, 4H, H-3', 5', 6a'', 6b''), 3.81(dd, 1H, H-4), 3.88 (m, 1H, H-5''), 4.03 (br d, 1H, $J_{3',4'} =$ 1.9 Hz, H-4'), 4.11 (t, 1H, J = 6.9 Hz, OCOCH₂CH), 4.15-4.27 (m, 5H, H-1, 2", 6a', 2 x CHPh), 4.31-4.37 (m, 3H, H-6b, OCOCH₂CH), 4.42 (d, 1H, $J_{1',2'} = 8.0$ Hz, H-1'), 4.44-4.49 (m, 4H, H-3", 3 x CHPh), 4.56-4.68 (m, 5H, 5 x CHPh), 4.78-4.82 (m, 2H, 2 x CHPh), 4.89-4.94 (m, 2H, H-4", CHPh), 5.05 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 11.5 Hz, CHPh), 5.19 (d, 1H, $J_{1",2"}$ = 8.4 Hz, H-1"), 5.30 (dd, 1H, $J_{2',3'} = 9.8$ Hz, H-2'), 6.62-8.86 (m, 56H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 46.0, 55.6, 63.7, 67.4, 69.7, 69.9, 70.9, 71.9 (x2), 72.9, 73.4, 73.6 (×2), 74.1, 74.2, 74.8, 74.9, 75.4, 75.7, 76.0, 76.3, 80.0, 81.5, 82.5, 99.4, 100.1, 102.4, 120.0 (×2), 124.9, 125.0, 125.3, 126.7, 127.1 (×2), 127.2, 127.3 (×2), 127.4, 127.5, 127.6 (×4), 127.7 (×3), 127.8, 127.9 (×11), 128.0 (×3), 128.1, 128.2 (×11), 128.4 (×3), 128.5

(×2), 128.6 (×3), 129.3, 129.6, 132.8, 136.8, 137.4 (×2), 137.6, 138.2, 138.4, 138.5, 138.9, 141.2, 141.3, 143.0, 143.2, 147.7, 149.8, 154.2, 164.2, 164.3 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS
[M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₁₀₃H₉₄N₂NaO₂₁ 1718.6280, found 1718.6223.

Benzyl O-(3,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-O-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzylβ-D-glucopyranoside (3.16). Compound 3.15 (200 mg, 0.118 mmol) was dissolved in a solution of Et_3N in CH_2Cl_2 (7.0 mL, 1/165, v/v), and the resulting solution was stirred for 2 h at rt. The resulting mixture was concentrated *in vacuo*, and the residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as an off-white amorphous solid in 98% yield (170.3 mg, 0.116 mmol). Analytical data for 3.16: $R_f = 0.55$ (acetone/toluene, 1/4, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{22}$ -5.7 (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 2.92 (m, 1H, J = 1.8, 3.4, 10.0 Hz, H-5), 3.28 (dd, 1H, H-6a), 3.34 (dd, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 7.8$ Hz, $J_{2,3} = 9.2$ Hz, H-2), 3.37-3.42 (m, 2H, H-3, 6b), 3.67-3.84 (m, 7H, H-3', 4, 4", 5', 5", 6a", 6b"), 4.02 (br d, 1H, $J_{3',4'}$ = 2.2 Hz, H-4'), 4.16-4.29 (m, 5H, H-1, 2", 6a', 6b', CHPh), 4.37 (dd, 1H, J = 6.2, 11.2 Hz, H-3"), 4.41 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J = 12.1$ Hz, *CH*Ph), 4.45-4.70 (m, 9H, $J_{1',2'}$ = 8.0 Hz, H-1', 8 x *CH*Ph), 4.81 (d, 1H, ²J = 12.0 Hz, CHPh), 4.82 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 11.4 Hz, CHPh), 4.93 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 10.4 Hz, CHPh), 5.08 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J = 11.5$ Hz, CHPh), 5.22 (d, 1H, $J_{1'',2''} = 8.2$ Hz, H-1''), 5.33 (dd, 1H, $J_{2',3'} = 10.1$ Hz, H-2'), 6.63-8.81 (m, 48H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 55.7, 63.8, 67.6, 70.7, 71.0, 72.0, 73.4, 73.9 (×4), 74.3, 74.5, 74.9, 75.0, 75.5, 75.9, 76.1, 78.6, 80.1, 81.6, 82.6, 99.7, 100.3, 102.5, 122.8, 123.4, 125.4, 126.9, 127.2, 127.5, 127.5, 127.6 (×3), 127.7 (×3), 127.8 (×2), 128.0 (×5), 128.1 (×4), 128.2 (×5), 128.3 (×6), 128.4 (×2), 128.6 (×2),

128.7 (×5), 129.4, 129.7, 130.9, 131.4, 132.9, 133.4, 133.5, 137.0, 137.5, 138.1, 138.3, 138.6, 139.0, 147.8, 149.9, 164.4, 164.4, 167.2, 168.1 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₈₈H₈₄N₂NaO₁₉ 1495.5566, found 1495.5579.

Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-

glucopyranoside (3.12). A convergent (2+2) approach. A mixture of donor 3.11 (128.3) mg, 0.105 mmol), acceptor 3.3 (80.0 mg, 0.081 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3Å, 400 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (7.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 2 h at rt. The mixture was cooled to -60 °C, TMSOTf (29 µL, 0.162 mmol) was added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 30 min. During this time the reaction temperature was allowed to gradually increase to -30 °C. The reaction mixture was then diluted with CH₂Cl₂, the solid was filtered-off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~50 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL) and water (2 x 10 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as an off-white amorphous solid in 70% yield (146.6 mg, 0.073 mmol). A linear approach. A mixture of donor 3.8^{67,68} (42.5 mg, 0.062 mmol), acceptor 3.16 (70.0 mg, 0.0475 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3Å, 250 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (4.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 2 h at rt. The mixture was cooled to -30 °C, freshly conditioned AgOTf (31.8 mg, 0.124 mmol) was added, the external cooling was removed, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 15 min. During this time the reaction temperature was

allowed to gradually increase to -23 °C. The reaction mixture was then diluted with CH₂Cl₂, the solid was filtered-off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~50 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL) and water (2 x 10 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as an off-white amorphous solid in 84% yield (80.0 mg, 0.0398 mmol). Analytical data for 3.12: $R_f = 0.50$ (acetone/toluene, 1/4, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{22} + 11.5$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 2.89 (m, 1H, J = 1.9, 3.4, 9.9 Hz, H-5), 3.24 (dd, 1H, H-6a), 3.28-3.46 (m, 7H, H-2, 3, 5", 5"', 6a"', 6b, 6b"'), 3.49 (dd, 1H, J = 2.8, 10.1 Hz, H-3'''), 3.53 (dd, 1H, $J_{5'',6a''} = 0.8$ Hz, H-6a''), 3.56-3.61 (m, 2H, H-3', 5'), 3.66 (dd, 1H, $J_{5'',6b''}$ $= 3.8 \text{ Hz}, \text{H-6b''}, 3.78 \text{ (dd, 1H, } J_{4,5} = 9.2 \text{ Hz}, \text{H-4}\text{)}, 3.95 - 3.99 \text{ (m, 3H, H-4', 4'', 4''')}, 4.12 - 3.8 \text{ Hz}, \text{H-6b''}, 3.78 \text{ (dd, 1H, } J_{4,5} = 9.2 \text{ Hz}, \text{H-4}\text{)}, 3.95 - 3.99 \text{ (m, 3H, H-4', 4'', 4''')}, 4.12 - 3.8 \text{ Hz}$ 4.32 (m, 10H, H-1, 2", 3", 6a', 6b', 5 x CHPh), 4.40-4.49 (m, 4H, H-1', 3 x CHPh), 4.50-4.58 (m, 4H, 4 x CHPh), 4.60-4.67 (m, 3H, J_{1",2"} = 7.9 Hz, H-1", 2 x CHPh), 4.79 (m, 2H, 2 x CHPh), 4.85 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 12.0 Hz, CHPh), 4.90 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 10.4 Hz, CHPh), 4.95 (d, 1H, CHPh), 5.08 (m, 2H, $J_{1'',2''} = 8.1$ Hz, H-1", CHPh), 5.28 (dd, 1H, $J_{2',3'} = 10.0$, H-2'), 5.61 (dd, 1H, $J_{2'',3''} = 10.0$ Hz, H-2'''), 6.59-8.70 (m, 68H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 29.8, 56.0, 63.9, 67.6, 68.0, 68.3, 71.0, 71.4, 71.9, 72.0, 72.5, 72.6, 73.4, 73.5, 73.6, 74.3, 74.6 (x2), 74.0, 75.0, 75.1, 75.6, 76.1, 76.2, 76.8, 77.8, 79.8, 80.1, 80.3, 81.7, 82.6, 99.7, 100.4, 101.0, 102.5, 122.8, 123.3, 125.5, 126.7, 126.8, 127.2, 127.4 (×2), 127.5 (×2), 127.6, 127.7 (×7), 127.8 (×8), 127.9 (×4), 128.0 (×4), 128.1 (×6), 128.3 (×6), 128.4 (×5), 128.5 (×5), 128.6 (×3), 129.4, 129.7, 130.0 (×2), 131.0, 131.5, 132.9, 133.3, 137.0, 137.6, 137.8, 138.0 (×2), 138.3, 138.7, 138.8 (×2), 138.9, 139.0, 147.8, 149.9, 164.3, 164.4, 165.2, 167.2, 167.8 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+H]⁺ calcd for C₁₂₂H₁₁₇N₂O₂₅ 2010.7979, found 2010.7988.

3.4.4. Deprotection of tetrasaccharide 3.12

Benzyl O-(3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-O-(4-O-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-

 $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -2,3,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (3.17). Compound 3.12 (78.0 mg, 0.038) mmol) was dissolved in MeOH (5.0 mL), NH₂NH₂-H₂O (167 µL, 3.42 mmol) was added, and the resulting mixture was kept for 24 h at reflux. After that, the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure, and the residue was dried *in vacuo* for 3 h. The crude residue was dissolved in a mixture of Ac₂O/MeOH (2.0 mL, 1/1, v/v) and the resulting mixture was stirred for 12 h at rt. After that, the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. The residue was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (50 mL), and washed with water (10 mL), 1 M HCl (10 mL), and water (2 x 10 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as an off-white amorphous solid in 87% yield (53.1 mg, 0.033 mmol). Analytical data for 3.17: $R_f = 0.67$ (acetone/toluene, 2/3, v/v); [α]_D²² +12.0 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 1.75 (s, 3H, CH₃CO). 2.94-4.03 (m, 24H, H-2, 2', 2", 3, 3', 3", 3", 4, 4', 4", 4", 5, 5', 5", 5", 6a, 6a', 6a", 6a", 6b, 6b', 6b", 6b"), 4.30 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J$ = 11.7 Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.43-4.50 (m, 3H, H-1, 1', 1''), 4.52-4.73 (m, 11H, 11 x CHPh), 4.80-4.96 (m, 7H, 7 x CHPh), 4.99 (d, 1H, $J_{1''2''} = 7.8$ Hz, H-1"), 5.61 (d, 1H, J = 7.4 Hz, NHCOCH₃), 7.16-7.40 (m, 50H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 23.6, 57.2, 61.8, 68.3, 68.8, 69.0, 71.3,

71.9, 72.1, 72.3, 72.8, 73.5, 73.6 (×3), 73.7, 74.3 (×2), 74.7, 74.8, 74.9, 75.0, 75.1, 75.3, 77.1, 77.2, 80.2, 82.0, 82.2, 83.2 (×2), 102.2, 102.9, 103.2, 103.4, 127.4, 127.5 (×3), 127.6 (×2), 127.7 (×3), 127.8 (×3), 127.9 (×5), 128.0 (×7), 128.1 (×2), 128.3 (×6), 128.4 (×5), 128.5 (×4), 128.6 (×7), 137.6 (×2), 137.9 (×2), 138.1, 138.2, 138.4, 138.6, 138.8 (x2), 138.9, 139.1, 170.9 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺calcd for C₉₆H₁₀₅NNaO₂₁ 1631.7110, found 1631.7130.

O-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)-O-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-

 $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ -O-(B-D-galactopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -D-glucopyranose (LNnT, 3.1). A 10% Pd on charcoal (150 mg) was added to a solution of 3.17 (53.0 mg, 0.033 mmol) in EtOH/H₂O (5.0 mL, 4/1, v/v), and the resulting mixture was stirred under hydrogen atmosphere for 24 h at rt. After that, the solids were filtered off and rinsed successively with methanol and water. The combined filtrate (~40 mL) was concentrated in vacuo, and the residue was purified by column chromatography on Sephadex G-25 (water elution) to afford the title compound as a white amorphous solid in 92% yield (21.4 mg, 0.030 mmol). Selected analytical data for 3.1:⁷² $R_f = 0.32$ (chloroform/methanol/water, 2/1/0.4, v/v/v); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O): δ, 2.01 (s, 3H), 3.24-3.28 (m, 1H), 3.88-3.49 (m, 29H), 3.89-3.96 (m, 4H), 4.14 (d, 1H, J = 3.3 Hz), 4.42 (d, 1H, J = 7.9 Hz), 4.46 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 4.64 (d, 1H, J = 8.0 Hz), 4.68 (dd, 1H, J = 2.1, 8.4 Hz,), 5.20 (d, 1H, J = 3.8 Hz) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, D₂O): δ , 22.5, 55.5, 60.2, 60.3, 60.4, 61.3, 61.4, 68.7 (x2), 68.9, 70.3 (x2), 70.4, 70.5, 71.3, 71.5 (×2), 71.7, 72.5, 72.8, 74.1, 74.7, 74.9, 75.1, 75.2, 75.7, 78.5, 78.6, 78.7, 82.4, 92.2, 96.1, 103.1, 103.2 (x2), 103.3, 103.4, 175.2 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₂₆H₄₅NNaO₂₁ 730.2382, found 730.2392.

3.5. References

(1) Stick, R. V.; Williams, S. J.: *Carbohydrates: the essential molecules of life*; Second ed.; Elsevier: Amsterdam - Boston - Heidelberg, 2009.

Pang, P.-C.; Chiu, P. C. N.; Lee, C.-L.; Chang, L.-Y.; Panico, M.; Morris,
H. R.; Haslam, S. M.; Khoo, K.-H.; Clark, G. F.; Yeung, W. S. B.; Dell, A. Human
Sperm Binding Is Mediated by the Sialyl-Lewisx Oligosaccharide on the Zona Pellucida *Science* 2011, *333*, 1761-1764.

(3) Eriksen, K. G.; Christensen, S. H.; Lind, M. V.; Michaelsen, K. F. Human milk composition and infant growth. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* **2018**, *21*, 200-206.

(4) Thomson, P.; Medina, D. A.; Garrido, D. Human milk oligosaccharides and infant gut bifidobacteria: Molecular strategies for their utilization. *Food Microbiol.***2018**, *75*, 37-46.

(5) Plaza-Diaz, J.; Fontana, L.; Gil, A. Human Milk Oligosaccharides and Immune System Development. *Nutrients* **2018**, *10*.

(6) Craft, K. M.; Townsend, S. D. The Human Milk Glycome as a Defense
Against Infectious Diseases: Rationale, Challenges, and Opportunities. *ACS Infect. Dis.* **2018**, *4*, 77-83.

(7) Andreas, N. J.; Kampmann, B.; Mehring Le-Doare, K. Human breast milk: A review on its composition and bioactivity. *Early Hum. Dev.* **2015**, *91*, 629-635.

(8) Newburg, D. S. Glycobiology of human milk. *Biochemistry* 2013, 78, 771-785.

(9) Triantis, V.; Bode, L.; van Neerven, R. J. J. Immunological Effects of Human Milk Oligosaccharides. *Front. Pediatr.* **2018**, *6*, 190.

(10) Craft, K. M.; Gaddy, J. A.; Townsend, S. D. Human Milk
Oligosaccharides (HMOs) Sensitize Group B Streptococcus to Clindamycin,
Erythromycin, Gentamicin, and Minocycline on a Strain Specific Basis. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2018**, *13*, 2020-2026.

(11) Ayechu-Muruzabal, V.; van Stigt, A. H.; Mank, M.; Willemsen, L. E. M.;
Stahl, B.; Garssen, J.; Van't Land, B. Diversity of Human Milk Oligosaccharides and
Effects on Early Life Immune Development. *Front. Pediatr.* 2018, *6*, 239.

(12) Lin, A. E.; Autran, C. A.; Szyszka, A.; Escajadillo, T.; Huang, M.;
Godula, K.; Prudden, A. R.; Boons, G. J.; Lewis, A. L.; Doran, K. S.; Nizet, V.; Bode, L.
Human milk oligosaccharides inhibit growth of group B Streptococcus. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2017**, *292*, 11243-11249.

(13) Kulinich, A.; Liu, L. Human milk oligosaccharides: The role in the finetuning of innate immune responses. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2016**, *432*, 62-70.

(14) Wu, S.; Grimm, R.; German, J. B.; Lebrilla, C. B. Annotation and
 Structural Analysis of Sialylated Human Milk Oligosaccharides. *J. Proteome Res.* 2011, *10*, 856-868.

Bode, L. Human milk oligosaccharides: every baby needs a sugar mama.*Glycobiology* 2012, 22, 1147-1162.

(16) Wu, X.; Jackson, R. T.; Khan, S. A.; Ahuja, J.; Pehrsson, P. R. Human Milk Nutrient Composition in the United States: Current Knowledge, Challenges, and Research Needs. *Curr. Dev. Nutr.* **2018**, *2*, nzy025. (17) Kunz, C.; Rudloff, S.; Baier, W.; Klein, N.; Strobe, S. Oligosaccharides in
Human Milk: Structural, Functional, and Metabolic Aspects. *Annu. Rev. Nutr.* 2000, *20*,
699-722.

(18) Urashima, T.; Hirabayashi, J.; Sato, S.; Kobata, A. Human Milk Oligosaccharides as Essential Tools for Basic and Application Studies on Galectins. *Trends Glycosci. Glycotechnol.* **2018**, *30*, SE51-SE65.

(19) Remoroza, C. A.; Mak, T. D.; De Leoz, M. L. A.; Mirokhin, Y. A.; Stein,
S. E. Creating a Mass Spectral Reference Library for Oligosaccharides in Human Milk. *Anal. Chem.* 2018, *90*, 8977-8988.

(20) Chen, X. Human Milk Oligosaccharides (HMOS): Structure, Function, and Enzyme-Catalyzed Synthesis. *Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem.* **2015**, *72*, 113-190.

(21) Ruhaak, L. R.; Lebrilla, C. B. Advances in analysis of human milk oligosaccharides. *Adv. Nutr.* **2012**, *3*, 406S-414S.

(22) Wu, S.; Tao, N.; German, J. B.; Grimm, R.; Lebrilla, C. B. Development of an Annotated Library of Neutral Human Milk Oligosaccharides. *J. Proteome Res.* **2010**, *9*, 4138-4151.

(23) Fischoder, T.; Cajic, S.; Reichl, U.; Rapp, E.; Elling, L. Enzymatic
Cascade Synthesis Provides Novel Linear Human Milk Oligosaccharides as Reference
Standards for xCGE-LIF Based High-Throughput Analysis. *Biotechnol. J.* 2018, 1800305.

(24) Fischer, C.; Kleinschmidt, T. Synthesis of Galactooligosaccharides in Milk and Whey: A Review. *Compr. Rev. Food Sci. Food Saf.* **2018**, *17*, 678-697. (25) Fang, J.-L.; Tsai, T.-W.; Liang, C.-Y.; Li, J.-Y.; Yu, C.-C. Enzymatic Synthesis of Human Milk Fucosides α1,2-Fucosyl para-Lacto-N-Hexaose and its Isomeric Derivatives. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2018**, *360*, 3213-3219.

(26) Zhu, H.; Wu, Z.; Gadi, M. R.; Wang, S.; Guo, Y.; Edmunds, G.; Guan,
W.; Fang, J. Cation exchange assisted binding-elution strategy for enzymatic synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs). *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2017, *27*, 4285-4287.

(27) Prudden, A. R.; Liu, L.; Capicciotti, C. J.; Wolfert, M. A.; Wang, S.; Gao,
Z.; Meng, L.; Moremen, K. W.; Boons, G. J. Synthesis of asymmetrical multiantennary
human milk oligosaccharides. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* 2017, *114*, 6954-6959.

(28) Yu, H.; Yan, X.; Autran, C. A.; Li, Y.; Etzold, S.; Latasiewicz, J.;
Robertson, B. M.; Li, J.; Bode, L.; Chen, X. Enzymatic and Chemoenzymatic Syntheses of Disialyl Glycans and Their Necrotizing Enterocolitis Preventing Effects. *J. Org. Chem.* 2017, 82, 13152-13160.

(29) Zhao, C.; Wu, Y.; Yu, H.; Shah, I. M.; Li, Y.; Zeng, J.; Liu, B.; Mills, D.
A.; Chen, X. The one-pot multienzyme (OPME) synthesis of human blood group H antigens and a human milk oligosaccharide (HMOS) with highly active
Thermosynechococcus elongatus α1-2-fucosyltransferase. *Chem. Commun.* 2016, *52*, 3899-3902.

(30) Yu, H.; Zeng, J.; Li, Y.; Thon, V.; Shi, B.; Chen, X. Effective one-pot multienzyme (OPME) synthesis of monotreme milk oligosaccharides and other sialosides containing 4-: O -acetyl sialic acid. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2016**, *14*, 8586-8597.

(31) Xiao, Z.; Guo, Y.; Liu, Y.; Li, L.; Zhang, Q.; Wen, L.; Wang, X.; Kondengaden, S. M.; Wu, Z.; Zhou, J.; Cao, X.; Li, X.; Ma, C.; Wang, P. G. Chemoenzymatic Synthesis of a Library of Human Milk Oligosaccharides. *J. Org. Chem.* **2016**, *81*, 5851-5865.

(32) Lezyk, M.; Jers, C.; Kjaerulff, L.; Gotfredsen, C. H.; Mikkelsen, M. D.; Mikkelsen, J. D. Novel α-L-fucosidases from a soil metagenome for production of fucosylated human milk oligosaccharides. *PLoS ONE* **2016**, *11*.

(33) Yao, W.; Yan, J.; Chen, X.; Wang, F.; Cao, H. Chemoenzymatic synthesis of lacto-N-tetrasaccharide and sialyl lacto-N-tetrasaccharides. *Carbohydr. Res.* 2015, 401, 5-10.

(34) Chen, C.; Zhang, Y.; Xue, M.; Liu, X. W.; Li, Y.; Chen, X.; Wang, P. G.;
Wang, F.; Cao, H. Sequential one-pot multienzyme (OPME) synthesis of lacto-Nneotetraose and its sialyl and fucosyl derivatives. *Chem. Commun.* 2015, *51*, 7689-7692.

(35) Baumgaertner, F.; Conrad, J.; Sprenger, G. A.; Albermann, C. Synthesis of the Human Milk Oligosaccharide Lacto-N-Tetraose in Metabolically Engineered, Plasmid-Free E. coli. *Chem Bio Chem* **2014**, *15*, 1896-1900.

(36) Hattie, M.; Debowski, A. W.; Stubbs, K. A. Development of Tools to
Study Lacto-N-Biosidase: An Important Enzyme Involved in the Breakdown of Human
Milk Oligosaccharides. *Chembiochem : a European journal of chemical biology* 2012, 13, 1128-1131.

(37) Nishimoto, M.; Kitaoka, M. Practical preparation of lacto-N-biose I, a candidate for the bifidus factor in human milk. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* **2007**, *71*, 2101-2104.

(38) Matsuo, I.; Kim, S.; Yamamoto, Y.; Ajisaka, K.; Maruyama, J. I.;Nakajima, H.; Kitamoto, K. Cloning and overexpression of β-n-acetylglucosaminidase

encoding gene naga from aspergillus oryzae and enzyme-catalyzed synthesis of human milk oligosaccharide. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* **2003**, *67*, 646-650.

(39) Priem, B.; Gilbert, M.; Wakarchuk, W. W.; Heyraud, A.; Samain, E. A new fermentation process allows large-scale production of human milk oligosaccharides by metabolically engineered bacteria. *Glycobiology* **2002**, *12*, 235-240.

(40) Rencurosi, A.; Poletti, L.; Guerrini, M.; Russo, G.; Lay, L. Human milk oligosaccharides: An enzymatic protection step simplifies the synthesis of 3'- and 6'-O-sialyllactose and their analogues. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2002**, *337*, 473-483.

(41) La Ferla, B.; Lay, L.; Poletti, L.; Russo, G.; Panza, L. Easy chemoenzymatic synthesis of human milk trisaccharides from a common selectively protected lactose building block. *J. Carbohydr. Chem.* **2000**, *19*, 331-343.

(42) Nikrad, P. V.; Kashem, M. A.; Wlasichuk, K. B.; Alton, G.; Venot, A. P. Use of human-milk fucosyl-transferase in the chemoenzymic synthesis of analogs of the sialyl Lewis x and sialyl Lewis a tetrasaccharides modified at the C-2 position of the reducing unit. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1993**, *250*, 145-160.

(43) Arboe Jennum, C.; Hauch Fenger, T.; Bruun, L. M.; Madsen, R. One-Pot Glycosylation in the Synthesis of Human Milk Oligosaccharides. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2014**, 2014, 3232-3241.

(44) Pereira, C. L.; McDonald, F. E. Synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides:2'- and 3'-fucosyllactose. *Heterocycles* 2012, *84*, 637-655.

(45) Schmidt, D.; Thiem, J. Chemical synthesis using enzymatically generated building units for construction of the human milk pentasaccharides sialyllacto-N-tetraose and sialyllacto-N-neotetraose epimer. *Beilstein J. Org. Chem.* **2010**, *6*, 1-7.

(46) La Ferla, B.; Prosperi, D.; Lay, L.; Russo, G.; Panza, L. Synthesis of building blocks of human milk oligosaccharides. Fucosylated derivatives of the lacto- and neolacto-series. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2002**, *337*, 1333-1342.

(47) Knuhr, P.; Castro-Palomino, J.; Grathwohl, M.; Schmidt, R. R. Complex structures of antennary human milk oligosaccharides - Synthesis of a branched octasaccharide. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2001**, 4239-4246.

(48) Takamura, T.; Chiba, T.; Tejima, S. Chemical Modification of Lactose.XVI. Synthesis of Lacto-N-neohexaose. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* 1981, *29*, 2270-2276.

(49) Takamura, T.; Chiba, T.; Ishihara, H.; Tejima, S. Chemical Modification of Lactose. XIII. Synthesis of Lacto-N-tetraose. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* 1980, 28, 1804-1809.

(50) Aly, M. R. E.; Ibrahim, E. S. I.; El Ashry, E. S. H.; Schmidt, R. R. Synthesis of lacto-N-neotetraose and lacto-N-tetraose using the dimethylmaleoyl group as amino protective group. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1999**, *316*, 121-132.

(51) Craft, K. M.; Townsend, S. D. Synthesis of lacto-N-tetraose. *Carbohydr*. *Res.* **2017**, *440-441*, 43-50.

(52) Roussel, F.; Takhi, M.; Schmidt, R. R. Solid-phase synthesis of a branched hexasaccharide using a highly efficient synthetic strategy. *J. Org. Chem.* **2001**, *66*, 8540-8548.

(53) Roussel, F.; Knerr, L.; Schmidt, R. R. Solid-phase synthesis of lactosecontaining oligosaccharides. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2001**, 2067-2073.
(54) Nilsson, S.; Loenn, H.; Norberg, T. Synthesis of two tumor-associated oligosaccharides: di- and trifucosylated para-lacto-N-hexaose. *J. Carbohydr. Chem.* **1991**, *10*, 1023-1048.

(55) Sprenger, G. A.; Baumgartner, F.; Albermann, C. Production of human milk oligosaccharides by enzymatic and whole-cell microbial biotransformations. *J. Biotechnol.* **2017**, *258*, 79-91.

(56) Bych, K.; Miks, M. H.; Johanson, T.; Hederos, M. J.; Vigsnaes, L. K.; Becker, P. Production of HMOs using microbial hosts - from cell engineering to large scale production. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2019**, *56*, 130-137.

(57) Puccio, G.; Alliet, P.; Cajozzo, C.; Janssens, E.; Corsello, G.; Sprenger, N.; Wernimont, S.; Egli, D.; Gosoniu, L.; Steenhout, P. Effects of Infant Formula With Human Milk Oligosaccharides on Growth and Morbidity: A Randomized Multicenter Trial. *J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr.* **2017**, *64*, 624-631.

(58) Vandenplas, Y.; Berger, B.; Carnielli, V. P.; Ksiazyk, J.; Lagstrom, H.;
Sanchez Luna, M.; Migacheva, N.; Mosselmans, J. M.; Picaud, J. C.; Possner, M.;
Singhal, A.; Wabitsch, M. Human Milk Oligosaccharides: 2'-Fucosyllactose (2'-FL) and
Lacto-N-Neotetraose (LNnT) in Infant Formula. *Nutrients* 2018, *10*.

(59) Xu, G.; Davis, J. C.; Goonatilleke, E.; Smilowitz, J. T.; German, J. B.;
Lebrilla, C. B. Absolute Quantitation of Human Milk Oligosaccharides Reveals
Phenotypic Variations during Lactation. *J. Nutr.* 2017, *147*, 117-124.

(60) Smilowitz, J. T.; Lebrilla, C. B.; Mills, D. A.; German, J. B.; Freeman, S.
L. Breast milk oligosaccharides: structure-function relationships in the neonate. *Annu. Rev. Nutr.* 2014, *34*, 143-169.

(61) Bode, L.; Jantscher-Krenn, E. Structure-function relationships of human milk oligosaccharides. *Adv. Nutr.* **2012**, *3*, 383S-391S.

(62) Nguyen, T. Synthesizing mothers' milk. *Chem. Eng. News* **2018**, *96*, 26.

(63) Mbadugha, B. N. A.; Menger, F. M. Sugar/Steroid/Sugar Conjugates:

Sensitivity of Lipid Binding to Sugar Structure. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 4041-4044.

(64) Nagorny, P.; Fasching, B.; Li, X.; Chen, G.; Aussedat, B.; Danishefsky, S.
J. Toward Fully Synthetic Homogeneous β-Human Follicle-Stimulating Hormone (β-hFSH) with a Biantennary N-Linked Dodecasaccharide. Synthesis of β-hFSH with
Chitobiose Units at the Natural Linkage Sites. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 5792-5799.

(65) Li, Z.; Gildersleeve, J. Mechanistic studies and methods to prevent aglycon transfer of thioglycosides. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2006**, *128*, 11612-11619.

(66) Plé, K. Synthesis of the trisaccharide portion of soyasaponin βg:
 evaluation of a new glucuronic acid acceptor. *Carbohydr. Res.* 2003, *338*, 1441-1454.

(67) Mydock, L. K.; Demchenko, A. V. Superarming the S-benzoxazolyl glycosyl donors by simple 2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl protection. *Org. Lett.* 2008, *10*, 2103-2106.

(68) Mydock, L. K.; Demchenko, A. V. Application of the superarmed
glycosyl donor to chemoselective oligosaccharide synthesis. *Org. Lett.* 2008, *10*, 2107-2110.

(69) Mondal, P. K.; Liao, G.; Mondal, M. A.; Guo, Z. Chemical Synthesis of the Repeating Unit of Type Ia Group B Streptococcus Capsular Polysaccharide. *Org. Lett.* **2015**, *17*, 1102-1105.

(70) Degenstein, J. C.; Murria, P.; Easton, M.; Sheng, H.; Hurt, M.; Dow, A.
R.; Gao, J.; Nash, J. J.; Agrawal, R.; Delgass, W. N.; Ribeiro, F. H.; Kenttämaa, H. I. Fast
Pyrolysis of 13C-Labeled Cellobioses: Gaining Insights into the Mechanisms of Fast
Pyrolysis of Carbohydrates. *J. Org. Chem.* 2015, *80*, 1909-1914.

(71) Palmacci, E. R.; Plante, O. J.; Seeberger, P. H. Oligosaccharide synthesis
in solution and on solid support with glycosyl phosphates. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2002, 595-606.

(72) Strecker, G.; Wieruszeski, J.-M.; Michalski, J.-C.; Montreuil, J. Assignment of the 1H- and 13C-NMR Spectra of Eight Oligosaccharides of the Lacto-Ntetraose and Neotetraose Series. *Glycoconjugate J.* **1989**, *6*, 67-83.

CHAPTER 4

The chemical synthesis of human milk

oligosaccharides: lacto-N-tetraose

 $(Gal\beta1 \rightarrow 3GlcNAc\beta1 \rightarrow 3Gal\beta1 \rightarrow 4Glc)$

M. D. Bandara, K. J. Stine, and A. V. Demchenko. The chemical synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides: lacto-N-tetraose
(Galβ1→3GlcNAcβ1→3Galβ1→4Glc). *Carbohydr. Res.*, **2019**, 486, 107824; DOI: 10.1016/j.carres.2019.107824; PMID: 31585319

4.1. Introduction

Carbohydrates are essential biomolecules that become our first food.¹ Oligosaccharides present in human milk (HMO) can supply building blocks for the development of the infants' cognition,² act as prebiotics³ and antimicrobials.^{4,5} Thanks to advances in glycosciences, chemical structures of 162 HMO have been elucidated to date,^{6,7} but our understanding of how HMO function is incomplete.^{8,9} All HMO are composed of five monosaccharides: including glucose (Glc), galactose (Gal), *N*acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc), fucose, and sialic acid.¹⁰ Many efforts to prepare HMO enzymatically or chemically have been reported,¹¹⁻¹³ and importance of including HMO in infant formulas has been acknowledged.¹⁴

The total amount and composition of HMO varies between women and are dependent on maternal genetics, environment, and geographic location.¹⁵ Lacto-N-tetraose (LNT) **4.1** represents one of the most common and abundant core structures and is classified as a type I HMO. It comprises a Gal β 1 \rightarrow 3GlcNAc β 1 \rightarrow 3Gal β 1 \rightarrow 4Glc sequence shown in Scheme 4.1. More specifically, LNT is a linear tetrasaccharide wherein the reducing end lactose disaccharide (Gal β 1 \rightarrow 4Glc) is elongated with lacto-N-biose disaccharide residue (Gal β 1 \rightarrow 3GlcNAc). Chemical¹⁶⁻¹⁸ and enzymatic syntheses¹⁹ of LNT have been reported, and several of its derivatives have been synthesized using chemical synthesis in solution and on solid phase.²⁰⁻²⁴ Despite being one of the most abundant HMO core structures in human milk, LNT is not yet available in large quantities and at reasonable prices for research and application.

Previously, we reported the total synthesis of lacto-N-neotetraose that has been completed using both linear and convergent approaches (see Chapter 3).²⁵ Along the way,

we developed the synthesis of key building blocks, accessed scalability, and refined coupling procedures to obtain different glycosidic linkages and sequences. Notably, the donor and acceptor protecting/leaving group combinations were found to be key parameters. In further synthetic studies of HMO in our lab reported herein is the synthesis of LNT **4.1**.

4.2. Results and discussion

First, we decided to investigate a convergent (2+2) synthetic strategy, according to which we chose to converge the protected lacto-*N*-biose donor **4.2** and lactose acceptor **4.3**.²⁵ Based on our previous synthetic endeavors and preliminary refinement of reaction conditions (Chapter 3),²⁵ for the synthesis of disaccharide **4.2** we chose superarmed S-benzoxazolyl (SBox) galactosyl donor **4.4**^{29,30} and glucosamine acceptor **4.5**. SBox galactosyl donor **4.4** was very instrumental in avoiding the unwanted aglycone transfer side reaction^{12,26} that was taking place in other previously investigated building blocks.²⁵



Scheme 4.1. Retrosynthesis analysis of LNT 4.1.

The synthesis of glucosamine thioglycoside acceptor **4.5** was achieved from known building block **4.6** as depicted in Scheme 4.2.²⁷ First, precursor **4.6** was reacted with tertbutyldimethylsilyl chloride (TBDMSCl) in the presence of imidazole in DMF at 90 °C to obtain compound **4.7** in 97% yield. The latter was then converted to intermediate **4.8** via the reductive regioselective opening of the benzylidene acetal by reaction with 1 M BH₃ in THF in the presence of catalytic TMSOTf in 82% yield. Subsequently, 6-OH in compound **4.8** was benzylated with BnBr in the presence of NaH in DMF to afford compound **4.9** in 77% yield. In order to minimize the formation of side products, temperature control is highly important in this reaction (see the experimental part for further details). Finally, the silyl group of compound **4.9** was removed with BF₃-Et₂O in CH₃CN at 0 °C to afford the desired glucosamine thioglycoside acceptor **4.5** in 87% yield.

We next turned our attention to the assembly of LNB disaccharide **4.2**. Selective activation of the SBox leaving group in glycosyl donor **4.4** over thioethyl anomeric moiety of acceptor **4.5** was achieved in the presence of silver trifluoromethanesulfonate (AgOTf) to afford β -linked disaccharide **4.2** in excellent yield of 99%. Direct coupling of disaccharide **4.2** with acceptor **4.3** was proven inefficient, so we chose to employ the corresponding phosphate donor **4.10**. This was accomplished in 90% yield via an efficient one-step protocol developed by Seeberger and co-workers.²⁸ The coupling of phosphate donor **4.10** with lactose acceptor **4.3** in the presence of TMSOTf was more successful, and tetrasaccharide **4.11** was obtained in a moderate yield of 51% with complete β -stereoselectivity.



Scheme 4.2. Convergent synthesis of protected LNT 4.11.

Despite numerous attempts involving modifying the reaction condition, and replacing the glycosyl donor with O- and S-imidoyl leaving groups, we failed to improve the outcome of this reaction. We were also unable to elucidate structures of by-products forming alongside the desired tetrasaccharide **4.11**. Not being satisfied with the outcome

of the convergent synthesis, we were curious to investigate whether the linear approach would be more successful in achieving a better outcome.



Scheme 4.3. The linear synthesis of tetrasaccharide 4.11 and its deprotection to

obtain LNT 4.1.

Only a minimal strategic adjustment was required, and this involved conversion of building block **4.5** into its 4-O-Fmoc derivative **4.12** that was subsequently transformed into phosphate donor **4.13**. Glycosylation between donor **4.13** and lactose acceptor **4.3** in the presence of TMSOTf afforded trisaccharide **4.14** in 86% yield. The Fmoc protecting group was removed with 30% Et₃N in CH₂Cl₂ and glycosylation of the resulting trisaccharide acceptor **4.15** with SBox donor **4.4** in the presence of AgOTf afforded the desired β -linked tetrasaccharide **4.11** in 89% yield. Overall, the three-step linear assembly of **4.11** involving glycosylation of acceptor **4.3** with glycosyl donor **4.13**, interim Fmoc deprotection, followed by glycosylation with donor **4.4** proceeded with 68% overall yield for the synthesis of tetrasaccharide **4.11**. In contrast, the convergent approach was much less efficient, 45% over three steps, primarily due to the very low-yielding last coupling step between disaccharides **4.3** and **4.10**.

With the key tetrasaccharide intermediate **4.11** we endeavored to carry out its deprotection steps to obtain the target LNT tetrasaccharide **4.1**. Deprotection of the phthalimido and the ester groups was performed in the presence of $NH_2NH_2-H_2O$ in refluxing MeOH. Subsequent N-acetylation with acetic anhydride in MeOH furnished tetrasaccharide intermediate **4.16** in 92% yield. Subsequently, benzyl ethers were hydrogenated the presence of 10% Pd/C in wet ethanol to afford the target trisaccharide **4.1** in 81% yield.

4.3. Conclusions

In summary, the total synthesis of lacto-N-tetraose has been completed using both linear and convergent synthesis approaches. The linear approach was significantly more effective in this application. Along the way, we have developed new synthetic protocols for different glycosidic linkages. Notably, the donor and acceptor protecting group and the leaving group combinations were found to be of paramount significance to successful glycosylations. The protecting groups in precursors used for the synthesis of the key building block **4.3** were chosen to provide access to variable glycosylation sites. In this application, 3'-OH acceptor **4.3** was achieved via the Fmoc group removal,²⁵ but the same precursors could also be used to achieve 6'-OH via the OPico group removal, or provide access to 3',6'-diol for the synthesis of branched HMO. We expect that new methods for obtaining individual HMO will boost practical applications of these important biomolecules.

4.4. Experimental

4.4.1. General methods

The reactions were performed using commercial reagents and the ACS grade solvents were purified and dried according to standard procedures. Column chromatography was performed on silica gel 60 (70-230 mesh) and Sephadex G-25 size exclusion resin, reactions were monitored by TLC on Kieselgel 60 F₂₅₄. The compounds were detected by examination under UV light and by charring with 10% sulfuric acid in methanol. Solvents were removed under reduced pressure at <40 °C. CH₂Cl₂ was distilled from CaH₂ directly prior to application. Molecular sieves (3Å), used for reactions, were crushed and activated *in vacuo* at 390 °C during 8 h in the first instance and then for 2-3 h at 390 °C directly prior to application. AgOTf was co-evaporated with toluene (3 x 10 mL) and dried *in vacuo* for 2-3 h directly prior to application. Optical rotations were measured

using a Jasco polarimeter. ¹H NMR spectra were recorded at 300 MHz or 600 MHz, and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded at 75 MHz or 151 MHz. The ¹H chemical shifts are referenced to the signal of the residual TMS ($\delta_{\rm H} = 0.00$ ppm) for solutions in CDCl₃ or the signal of the residual D₂O ($\delta_{\rm H} = 4.79$ ppm) for solutions in D₂O. The ¹³C chemical shifts are referenced to the central signal of CDCl₃ ($\delta_{\rm C} = 77.16$ ppm) for solutions in CDCl₃ or the central signal of CD₃COCD₃ $\delta_{\rm C} = 29.84$ ppm) for solutions in D₂O. Accurate mass spectrometry determinations were performed using Agilent 6230 ESI TOF LCMS mass spectrometer.

4.4.2. Preparation of monosaccharide building blocks 4.7, 4.8, 4.5, 4.12. 4.13

Ethyl 4,6-*O***-benzylidene-3-***O-tert***-butyldimethylsilyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (4.7). TBDMSCl (0.37 g, 2.44 mmol) and imidazole (0.16 g, 2.44 mmol) were added to a solution of ethyl 4,6-***O***-benzylidene-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside²⁷ (4.6, 0.54 g, 1.22 mmol) in DMF (7.0 mL) and the resulting mixture was heated at 90 °C for 3 h. After that, the reaction mixture was cooled to rt, diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (~250 mL) and washed with water (40 mL), sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (40 mL), and water (40 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated** *in vacuo***. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate - hexane gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white form in 97% yield (0.65 g, 1.18 mmol). Analytical data for 4.7**: R_f = 0.60 (ethyl acetate/hexane, 3/7, v/v); [α]_D²³ -2.5 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, -0.28, -0.12 (2 s, 6H, 2 x SiCH₃), 0.59 (s, 9H, Si'Bu), 1.19 (t, 3H, *J* = 7.4 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.69 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.59 (t, 1H, *J*_{4,5} = 8.8 Hz, H-4), 3.71 (m, 1H, *J*_{5,6a} = 10.0 Hz, *J*_{5,6b} = 4.4 Hz, H-5), 3.81 (dd, 1H, *J*_{6a,6b} = 10.0 Hz, H- 6a), 4.32 (dd, 1H, *J*_{2,3} = 9.6 Hz, H-2), 4.39 (dd, 1H, H-6b), 4.67 (dd, 1H, *J*_{3,4} = 8.8 Hz, H-3), 5.37 (d, 1H, *J*_{1,2} = 10.7 Hz, H-1), 5.54 (s, 1H, *CH*Ph), 7.31-7.94 (m, 9H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, -5.1, -4.0, 15.0, 17.8, 24.2, 25.5 (×3), 56.7, 68.8, 70.6, 70.7, 81.9, 82.8, 102.1, 123.3, 123.8, 126.5 (×2), 128.3 (×2), 129.2, 131.7, 131.9, 134.3, 134.4, 137.2, 167.7, 168.4 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₂₉H₃₇NNaO₆SSi 578.2009, found 578.1997.

4-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-3-O-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-D-Ethvl glucopyranoside (4.8). A 1 M solution of BH₃ in THF (43 mL, 43 mmol) was added to a solution of 4.7 (4.80 g, 8.66 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (45 mL). The resulting solution was cooled to 0 °C, TMSOTf (0.78 mL, 4.33 mmol) was added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 5 h while the reaction temperature was allowed to gradually increase to rt. After that, the reaction was quenched with Et₃N (~2 mL) and MeOH (~5 mL), and the volatiles were removed in vacuo. The residue was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (~500 mL), washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (50 mL) and water (2 x 50 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate - hexane gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a clear syrup in 82% yield (3.80 g, 7.06 mmol). Analytical data for 4.8: $R_f = 0.80$ (ethyl acetate/hexane, 2/3, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{23} + 27.4$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , - $0.38, 0.00 (2 \text{ s}, 6\text{H}, 2 \text{ x} \text{Si}CH_3), 0.76 (\text{s}, 9\text{H}, \text{Si}'\text{Bu}), 1.20 (\text{t}, 3\text{H}, J = 7.4 \text{ Hz}, C\text{H}_2CH_3), 2.21$ (m, 1H, OH), 2.68 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.52-3.67 (m, 2H, H-4, 5), 3.73 (m, 1H, H-6a), 3.94 (m, 1H, H-6b), 4.27 (dd, 1H, $J_{2,3}$ = 10.6 Hz, H-2), 4.56 (dd, 1H, $J_{3,4}$ = 8.0 Hz, H-3), 4.80 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J = 11.7$ Hz, CH₂Ph), 5.40 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 10.6$ Hz, H-1), 7.27-7.95 (m, 9H,

aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, -4.6, -4.0, 15.0, 17.7, 24.3, 25.7 (×3), 56.8, 62.0, 73.3, 74.7, 79.7 (×2), 81.2, 123.3, 123.7, 127.3 (×2), 127.6, 128.4 (×2), 131.7, 132.1, 134.3 (×2), 138.1, 167.6, 168.8 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₂₉H₃₉NNaO₆SSi 580.2165, found 580.2163.

Ethyl 4,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-3-O-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-Dglucopyranoside (4.9). NaH (0.51 g, 0.021 mmol) was added portionwise to a cooled (-20 °C) solution of 4.8 (3.80 g, 7.06 mmol) in DMF (30 mL) and the resulting mixture was stirred under argon at -20 °C until gas evolution has ceased. After that, BnBr (1.06 mL, 9.18 mmol) was added and the resulting mixture was stirred for 6 h at -15 °C. The reaction mixture was cooled to -40 °C and glacial acetic acid (~2 mL) was added dropwise. The resulting mixture was allowed to attain rt, then diluted with EtOAc (~500 mL) and washed with water (50 mL), sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (50 mL) and water (2 x 50 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate - hexane gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a colorless syrup in 77% yield (3.65 g, 5.42 mmol). Analytical data for **4.9**: $R_f = 0.80$ (ethyl acetate/hexane,3/7, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{23} + 39.3$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300) MHz, CDCl₃): δ, -0.36, 0.00 (2 s, 6H, 2 x SiCH₃), 0.79 (s, 9H, Si'Bu), 1.26 (t, 3H, J = 7.4 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.73 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.63-3.71 (m, 2H, H-4, 5), 3.77-3.86 (br d, 2H, H-6a, 6b), 4.35 (dd, 1H, $J_{2,3}$ = 10.0 Hz, H-2), 4.58 (dd, 1H, $J_{3,4}$ = 7.6 Hz, H-3), 4.64 (d, 2H, ²J = 9.6 Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.79 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J$ = 12.0 Hz, CH₂Ph), 5.38 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2}$ = 10.5 Hz, H-1), 7.21-7.99 (m, 14H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, -4.6, -4.1, 15.1, 17.7, 23.9, 25.8 (×3), 56.8, 69.0, 73.4, 73.5, 74.6, 79.5, 80.0, 80.8, 123.2, 123.7, 127.1 (×2),

127.4, 127.6, 127.8 (×2), 128.4 (×4), 131.8, 132.2, 134.3 (×2), 138.3, 138.4, 167.7, 168.8 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₃₆H₄₅NNaO₆SSi 670.2635, found 670.2633.

Ethyl 4,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (4.5). BF₃-Et₂O (1.05 mL, 8.29 mmol) was added to a solution of 4.9 (5.07 g, 7.54 mmol) in dry CH₃CN (90 mL) and the resulting mixture was stirred under argon for 20 min at 0 °C. After that, the reaction was quenched with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (5 mL), and the volatiles were removed in vacuo. The residue was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (~500 mL) and washed with brine (2 x 50 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate hexane gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white amorphous solid in 87% yield (3.49 g, 6.54 mmol). Analytical data for 4.5: $R_f = 0.30$ (ethyl acetate/hexane, 3/7, v/v); $[\alpha]_{D}^{22}$ +7.3 (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 1.20 (t, 3H, J = 7.4 Hz, CH_2CH_3). 2.36 (d, 1H, J = 4.5 Hz, OH), 2.67 (m, 2H, CH_2CH_3), 3.58-3.69 (m, 2H, H-4, 5), 3.75-3.85 (m, 2H, H-6a, 6b), 4.24 (dd, 1H, $J_{2,3} = 10.4$ Hz, H-2), 4.48 (m, 1H, H-3), 4.63 $(dd, 2H, {}^{2}J = 12.1 Hz, CH_{2}Ph), 4.70 (m, 2H, {}^{2}J = 11.5 Hz, CH_{2}Ph), 5.29 (d, 1H, J_{1,2} = 10.4 Hz)$ Hz, H-1), 7.15-7.90 (m, 14H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 15.1, 24.1, 55.7, 69.0, 72.8, 73.6, 74.8, 79.3 (×2), 81.2, 123.4, 123.8, 127.8, 127.9 (×2), 128.0 (×2), 128.1, 128.5 (×2), 128.7 (×2), 131.7, 131.8, 134.2 (×2), 138.2 (×2), 168.1, 168.3 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₃₀H₃₁NNaO₆S 556.1770, found 556.1767.

Ethyl 4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-3-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-2-phthalimido-1-thioβ-D-glucopyranoside (4.12). FmocCl (3.88 g, 15.04 mmol) was added to a solution of 4.5 (2.08 g, 3.90 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (50 mL) and pyridine (1.72 mL) and the resulting mixture was stirred under argon for 2 h at rt. After that, the reaction mixture was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (~500 mL) and washed with 1 M aq. HCl (50 mL) and water (2 x 50 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate - hexane gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white amorphous solid in 92% yield (2.70 g, 3.58 mmol). Analytical data for 4.12: $R_f = 0.40$ (ethyl acetate/hexane,2/3, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{23} + 55.2$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 1.22 (t, 3H, J = 7.4 Hz, CH₂CH₃), 2.70 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.73-3.86 (m, 4H, H-5, 6a, 6b, OCOCH₂CH), 3.91-4.16 (m, 3H, H-4, OCOC H_2 CH), 4.47 (dd, 1H, $J_{2,3} = 10.5$ Hz, H-2), 4.62 (dd, 2H, $^2J = 12.1$ Hz, CH_2 Ph), 4.64 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J = 11.2$ Hz, CH₂Ph), 5.46 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 10.5$ Hz, H-1), 5.75 (dd, 1H, $J_{3,4} = 8.9$ Hz, H-3), 7.07-7.88 (m, 26H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 15.1, 24.2, 46.5, 54.1, 68.8, 70.3, 73.6, 75.0, 76.6, 78.5, 79.2, 81.0, 120.0 (×2), 123.7, 123.8, 125.1, 125.3, 127.3 (×2), 127.8 (×4), 127.9 (×4), 128.4 (×2), 128.5 (×2), 131.3, 131.8, 134.1, 134.4, 137.8, 138.2, 141.1, 141.2, 143.0, 143.3, 154.8, 167.5, 168.0 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₄₅H₄₁NNaO₈S 778.2451, found 778.2451.

Di-O-butyl 4,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-3-O-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl phosphate (4.13). A mixture containing thioglycoside 4.12 (0.50 g, 0.66 mmol), dibutyl hydrogen phosphate (0.39 mL, 1.99 mmol), and molecular sieves (3 Å, 1.0 g) in CH₂Cl₂ (10 mL) was stirred under argon for 1h. The mixture was cooled to 0 °C, NIS (0.29 g, 1.32 mmol) and TfOH (10 μ L, 0.13 mmol) were added, and the resulting mixture was stirred under argon for 20 min at 0 °C. After that, the solids were filtered off

and washed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~100 mL) was washed with 10% aq. Na₂S₂O₃ (15 mL), sat. aq. NaHCO3 (15 mL), and water (2 x 15 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white form in 94% yield (0.56 g, 0.62 mmol). Analytical data for **4.13**: $R_f = 0.45$ (ethyl acetate/hexane,1/4, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{23} + 43.0$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 0.71, 0.85 (2 t, 6H, 2 x O(CH₂)₃CH₃), 1.07 (m, 2H, O(CH₂)₂CH₂CH₃), 1.22-1.37 (m, 4H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 1.48-1.60 (m, 2H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 3.67-4.17 (m, 11H, 2 x OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃, H-4, 5, 6a, 6b, OCOC H_2 CH, OCOC H_2 CH), 4.49 (dd, 1H, $J_{2,3} = 10.6$ Hz, H-2), 4.60 (dd, 2H, $^2J = 11.9$ Hz, CH_2Ph), 4.64 (dd, 2H, 2J =11.2 Hz, CH_2Ph), 5.80 (dd, 1H, $J_{3,4}$ = 8.9 Hz, H-3), 6.02 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 8.3$, H-1), 6.97-7.86 (m, 22H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 13.5, 13.6, 18.4, 18.6, 31.9 (d, J = 7.0 Hz), 32.0 (d, J = 7.2 Hz), 46.4, 55.3 (d, J = 8.9 Hz). 67.9 (d, J, 6.1 Hz), 68.1 (d, J = 6.0 Hz), 70.3, 73.6, 74.9, 75.2, 76.0, 76.8, 77.3, 93.9 (d, J = 4.6)Hz), 120.0 (×2), 123.6, 125.0, 125.2, 125.4, 127.2 (×2), 127.7 (×3), 127.8 (×3), 127.9 (×3), 128.3, 128.4 (×3), 128.5 (×3), 129.1, 134.2, 137.6, 137.9, 141.1, 141.2, 143.0, 143.2, 154.6 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₅₁H₅₄NNaO₁₂P 926.3281, found 926.3285.

4.4.3. Synthesis of oligosaccharides 4.2, 4.10, 4.14, 4.15, 4.11

Ethyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-4,6-di-*O*benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (4.2). A mixture of benzoxazolyl 2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-1-thio-β-D-galactopyranoside^{29,30} (4.4, 0.20 g, 0.29 mmol), acceptor 5 (0.12 g, 0.22 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3Å, 600 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (7 mL) was stirred under argon for 2 h. The reaction mixture was cooled to -30 °C, and freshly conditioned AgOTf (0.15 g, 0.58 mmol) was added. The resulting mixture was stirred for 15 min while the temperature was allowed to increase gradually. The reaction mixture was then diluted with CH₂Cl₂, the solids were filtered off, and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~50 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL) and water (2 x 10 mL) The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 99% yield (0.23 g, 0.22 mmol). Analytical data for 4.2: $R_f = 0.55$ (acetone/toluene, 1/9 v/v; $[\alpha]_{D}^{23} + 34.1$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 1.09 (t, 3H, J = 7.4Hz, CH₂CH₃). 2.56 (m, 2H, CH₂CH₃), 3.30-3.51 (m, 4H, H-3', 5', 6a', 6b'), 3.57-3.72 (m, 2H, H-4, 5), 3.77 (br d, 2H, J = 2.1 Hz, H-6a, 6b), 3.94 (br d, 1H, $J_{3',4'} = 2.5$ Hz, H-4'), 4.26 $(dd, 2H, {}^{2}J = 11.6 Hz, CH_{2}Ph), 4.29 (d, 1H, J = 12.0 Hz, CHPh), 4.30 (dd, 1H, J_{2,3} = 10.3)$ H-2), 4.44 (d, 1H, $J_{1'2'} = 7.9$ Hz, H-1'), 4.454.64 (m, 5H, 5 × CHPh), 4.83 (dd, 1H, $J_{3,4} =$ 8.0 Hz, H-3), 4.91 (d, 1H, J = 11.3 Hz, CHPh), 5.06 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 10.4$ Hz, H-1), 5.09 (d, 1H, J = 10.5 Hz, CHPh), 5.52 (dd, 1H, $J_{2',3'} = 9.9$ Hz, H-2'), 6.92-7.78 (m, 34H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 14.9, 23.7, 54.8, 67.8, 69.2, 71.7, 72.5, 72.8, 73.3, 73.4, 73.5, 74.8, 75.0, 77.4, 77.8, 79.5, 80.3, 81.0, 100.7, 127.2, 127.5 (×3), 127.6 (×2), 127.8 (×4), 128.0 (×3), 128.1 (×6), 128.2 (×3), 128.3 (×3), 128.4 (×3), 128.5 (×3), 130.0 (×2), 130.3, 131.5, 132.8, 134.0, 137.5, 138.0, 138.3, 138.7 (×2), 165.4 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₆₄H₆₃NNaO₁₂S 1092.3969, found 1092.3981.

Di-O-butyl $O-(2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl-\beta-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-4,6-di-$ O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-β-D-glucopyranosyl phosphate (4.10). A mixture of compound 2 (0.236 g, 0.234 mmol), dibutyl hydrogen phosphate (0.14 mL, 0.802 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3 Å, 0.5 g) in CH₂Cl₂ (5.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 1 h at rt. The mixture was cooled to 0 °C, NIS (0.104 g, 0.468 mmol) and TfOH (4.15 µL, 0.047 mmol) were added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 20 min at 0 °C. After that, the solids were filtered off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~100 mL) was washed with 10% aq. Na₂S₂O₃ (15 mL) and sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (15 mL), and water (2 x 15 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as an oily syrup in 94% yield (0.267 g, 0.219 mmol). Analytical data for 4.10: $R_f = 0.35$ (acetone/toluene, 1/9, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ +26.2 (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 0.67 (t, 3H, J = 7.2 Hz, O(CH₂)₃CH₃), 0.81 (t, 3H, J = 7.3 Hz, O(CH₂)₃CH₃), 0.90-1.06 (m, 2H, O(CH₂)₂CH₂CH₃), 1.11-1.31 (m, 4H, O(CH₂)₂CH₂CH₃, OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 1.38-1.53 (m, 2H, OCH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), 3.31-3.96 (m, 13H, H-3', 4, 4', 5, 5', 6a, 6b, 6a', 6b', 2 x $OCOCH_2(CH)_2CH_3$, 4.20 (d, 1H, ²J = 11.7 Hz, CHPh), 4.24-4.32 (m, 3H, H-2, 2 x CHPh), 4.43-4.54 (m, 5H, H-1, 4 x CHPh), 4.59 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 12.0 Hz, CHPh), 4.91 (m, 2H, H-3, CHPh), 5.09 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 10.5 Hz, CHPh), 5.51 (dd, 1H, $J_{2',3'}$ = 8.8 Hz, H-2'), 5.69 (dd, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 7.4$ Hz, H-1) 6.94-7.74 (m, 36H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 13.5, 13.6, 18.3, 18.6, 31.8 (d, J = 7.1 Hz). 32.0 (d, J = 7.2 Hz), 56.1, 56.2, 67.6, 67.8 (d, J = 4.5Hz), 68.0 (d, J = 6.4 Hz), 68.6, 71.7, 72.5, 72.8, 73.3, 73.5 (×2), 74.8, 74.9, 75.6, 76.2, 80.2, 94.1 (d, J = 4.6 Hz), 100.8, 123.5, 127.3, 127.5 (×2), 127.6 (×3), 127.7, 127.8 (×3),

128.0 (×7), 128.1 (×4), 128.2 (×4), 128.3 (×2), 128.4 (×2), 128.5 (×2), 130.0, 130.2, 131.5, 132.7, 134.0, 137.5, 138.0, 138.1, 138.6, 138.7, 165.3 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₇₀H₇₆NNaO₁₆P 1240.4799, found 1240.4829.

Benzyl *O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-3-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-2-phthalimido-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1→3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl-β-D-

galactopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -2,3,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (4.14). A mixture of donor **4.13** (0.14 g, 0.15 mmol), acceptor **4.3**²⁵ (0.12 g, 0.12 mmol) (reference from LNnT paper), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3Å, 450 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (7.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 2 h. The mixture was cooled to -30 °C, TMSOTf (56 µL, 0.31 mmol) was added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 15 min while the temperature was allowed to increase gradually. The reaction mixture was then diluted with CH₂Cl₂, the solids were filtered off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~50 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL) and water (2 x 10 mL) The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 86% yield (0.17 g, 0.10 mmol). Analytical data for 4.14: R_f = 0.45 (acetone/toluene, 1/4 v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{23} + 11.3 (c 1.0, CHCl_3)$; ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl_3): δ , 2.91 (ddd, 1H, J = 1.8, 3.0, 9.9 Hz, H-5), 3.27 (dd, 1H, J = 9.5 Hz, H-6a), 3.33 (dd, 1H, $J_{2,3} = 8.4$ Hz, H-2), 3.38-3.42 (m, 2H, H-3, 6b), 3.69-3.75 (m, 3H, H-3', 5', OCOCH₂CH), 3.79-3.85 (m, 4H, H-4, 5", 6a", 6b"), 3.87-3.93 (m, 2H, H-4", OCOCH2CH), 4.02 (dd, 1H, J = 10.5, 7.2 Hz, OCOC H_2 CH), 4.11 (br d, 1H, J = 2.4 Hz, H-4'), 4.18-4.24 (m, 2H, H-6a', *CHPh*), 4.27 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2}$ = 7.7 Hz, H-1), 4.34-4.40 (m, 2H, H-2", 6b'), 4.42-4.49 (m, 3H,

 $J_{1',2'} = 8.1$ Hz, H-1', 2 x C*H*Ph), 4.5-4.69 (m, 7H, 7 x C*H*Ph), 4.80 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J = 12.0$ Hz, C*H*Ph), 4.81 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J = 12.0$ Hz, C*H*Ph), 4.92 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J = 10.4$ Hz, C*H*Ph), 5.12 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J = 11.5$ Hz, C*H*Ph), 5.36 (dd, 1H, $J_{2',3'} = 10.1$ Hz, H-2'), 5.44 (d, 1H, $J_{1'',2''} = 8.3$ Hz, H-1''), 5.66 (dd, 1H, J = 8.9, 10.7 Hz, H-3''), 6.81-8.73 (m, 56H, aromatic) ppm; 13 C NMR (151 MHz, cdcl₃): δ , 46.4, 55.2, 63.8, 67.6, 68.9, 70.3, 71.0, 71.9, 72.0, 73.5 (×2), 73.6 (×2), 74.4, 74.7, 75.0 (×2), 75.2, 75.6, 76.2, 76.6, 80.6, 81.7, 82.6, 99.4, 100.4, 102.6, 120.0, 125.0, 125.3, 125.5, 126.9, 127.2 (×2), 127.3, 127.6 (×2), 127.7 (×3), 127.8 (×3), 127.9 (×5), 128.0, 128.1 (×9), 128.3 (×6), 128.4 (×3), 128.5 (×3), 128.6 (×9), 128.7 (×3), 129.4, 129.8, 132.9, 137.0, 137.6 (×2), 137.9, 138.3, 138.7 (×2), 139.0, 141.1, 141.2, 142.9, 143.3, 147.8, 150.0, 154.6, 164.5, 164.5 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₁₀₃H94N₂NaO₂₁ 1718.6280, found 1718.6222.

Benzyl *O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1→3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzylβ-D-glucopyranoside (4.15). Compound 4.14 (135 mg, 0.0796 mmol) was dissolved in a mixture of Et₃N in CH₂Cl₂ (5.0 mL, 3/7, v/v) and the resulting solution was stirred for 2 h at rt. After that, the reaction mixture was concentrated *in vacuo*, and the residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 89% yield (104.8 mg, 0.0711 mmol). Analytical data for 4.15: R_f = 0.55 (acetone/toluene, 1/4 v/v); [α]_D²² -11.6 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 2.45 (d, 1H, *J* = 4.6 Hz, OH), 2.94 (ddd, 1H, *J* = 8.9 Hz, H-5), 3.29 (dd, 1H, *J* = 10.3 Hz, H-6a), 3.34 (dd, 1H, *J*_{2,3} = 9.0 Hz, H-2), 3.39-3.44 (m, 2H, H-3, 6b), 3.61 (dd, 1H, *J*_{3",4"} = 9.1 Hz, *J*_{4",5"} = 9.1 Hz, H-4"), 3.67-3.76 (m, 3H, H-3', 5", 6a"), 3.78-3.88 (m, 3H, H-4, 5', 6b"), 4.11 (br s, 1H, H-4'), 4.13-4.26 (m, 3H, H-2", 6a', CHPh), 4.29 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2}$ = 7.7 Hz, H-1), 4.36 (dd, 1H, J = 6.1, 11.0 Hz, H-6b'), 4.44-4.52 (m, 4H, $J_{1',2'}$ = 8.0 Hz, H-1', 3", 2 x CHPh), 4.55-4.70 (m, 6H, 6 x CHPh), 4.74 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 11.4 Hz, CHPh), 4.82 (d, 2H, ${}^{2}J$ = 12.0 Hz, CHPh × 2), 4.94 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 10.4 Hz, CHPh), 5.14 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 11.5 Hz, CHPh), 5.22 (d, 1H, $J_{1'',2''}$ = 8.3 Hz, H-1''), 5.34-5.39 (dd, 1H, $J_{2',3'}$ = 9.9 Hz, H-2'), 7.00-8.75 (m, 48H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 56.8, 63.9, 67.5, 69.1, 71.0 (×2), 72.0 (×2), 73.4, 73.6 (×2), 74.3, 74.9 (×3), 75.1, 75.6, 76.1, 79.2, 80.3, 81.6, 82.6, 99.7, 100.3, 102.5, 125.4, 126.9, 127.2, 127.5, 127.7 (×3), 127.8 (×3), 127.9, 128.0 (×8), 128.1 (×4), 128.2 (×3), 128.3 (×6), 128.4 (×3), 128.5 (×3), 128.6 (×6), 128.7 (×3), 129.4, 129.6, 132.9, 133.6, 137.0, 137.5, 137.9, 138.1, 138.2, 138.6, 138.8, 139.0, 147.7, 149.9, 164.4 (×2) ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+H]⁺ calcd for C_{88H85N2O19} 1473.5747, found 1473.5757.

Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthlimido-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1→3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-glucopyranoside (4.11). *Convergent method*. A mixture of donor 4.10 (80.0 mg, 0.065 mmol), acceptor 4.3 (49.8 mg, 0.050 mmol),²⁵ and freshly activated molecular sieves (3Å, 400 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (7.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 2 h. The mixture was cooled to -60 °C, TMSOTf (24 µL, 0.131 mmol) was added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 30 min while the temperature was allowed to increase gradually. The reaction mixture was then diluted with CH₂Cl₂, the solids were filtered off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~50 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL) and water (2

x 10 mL) The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as an off-white amorphous solid in 51% yield (66.6 mg, 0.033 mmol). Linear method. A mixture of benzoxazolyl 2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6tri-O-benzyl-1-thio-β-D-galactopyranoside^{29,30} (4.4, 13.3 mg, 0.0194 mmol), acceptor 4.15 (22 mg, 0.0149 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3Å, 100 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (2.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 2 h. The reaction mixture was cooled to -30 °C, freshly conditioned AgOTf (10.0 mg, 0.0387 mmol) was added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 15 min while the temperature was allowed to increase gradually. The reaction mixture was then diluted with CH₂Cl₂, the solids were filtered off and was rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~30 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (7 mL) and water (2 x 7 mL) The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 89% yield (26.7 mg, 0.0132 mmol). Analytical data for 4.11: $R_f = 0.45$ (acetone/toluene, 1/4, v/v; $[\alpha]_D^{22}$ +2.5 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 2.85 (ddd, 1H, J = 9.6Hz, H-5), 3.19 (dd, 1H, J = 10.2 Hz, H-6a), 3.25-3.37 (m, 6H, H-2, 3, 3", 6a", 6b, 6b"), 3.43 (m, 1H, H-5"'), 3.58-3.66 (m, 3H, H-3', 4", 5'), 3.70 (m, 1H, H-5"), 3.84-3.75 (m, 3H, H-4, 6a'', 6b''), 3.88 (br d, 1 H, J = 1.9 Hz, H-4'''), 3.98 (s, 1H, H-4'), 4.14-4.30 (m, 9H, H-1, 1''', 2'', 6a', 6b', 4 x CHPh), 4.33 (d, 1H, $J_{1',2'}$ = 8.0 Hz, H-1'), 4.41-4.60 (m, 9H, 9 x CHPh), 4.66 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 11.0 Hz, CHPh), 4.78-4.82 (m, 3H, H-3", 2 x CHPh), 4.89 (d, 2H, $^{2}J = 11.0$ Hz, 2 x CHPh), 4.95 (d, 1H, $^{2}J = 11.7$ Hz, CHPh), 5.00 (d, 1H, $J_{1''2''} = 8.3$ Hz, H-1"), 5.06 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 10.4 Hz, CHPh), 5.17 (dd, 1H, $J_{2'3'}$ = 9.8 Hz, H-2'), 5.45 (dd, 1H, J $_{2'',3''} = 8.9$ Hz, H-2'''), 6.75-8.69 (m, 68H, aromatic) ppm: ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 29.8, 31.1, 56.0, 63.8, 67.4, 67.8, 69.5, 71.0, 71.8, 72.0 (× 2), 72.6, 73.2, 73.5 (× 2), 73.6, 74.4, 74.8, 74.9, 75.0, 75.1, 75.2, 75.6, 75.8 (× 2), 76.1, 79.4, 80.2, 81.6, 82.6, 99.3, 100.4, 100.5, 102.6, 122.7, 123.7, 125.4, 126.8, 127.3, 127.4 (×2), 127.5 (×4), 127.6 (×2), 127.7, 127.8 (×7), 127.9, 128.0 (×3), 128.1 (×7), 128.2 (×8), 128.3 (×4), 128.4 (×7), 128.5 (×6), 128.6 (×2), 128.8 (×2), 129.6, 129.8, 130.0, 130.2, 130.9, 131.3, 132.7, 133.0, 133.4, 134.6, 136.9, 137.5, 137.6, 138.0, 138.1, 138.2, 138.5, 138.7, 138.8, 139.0, 147.8, 150.0, 164.3, 164.4, 165.5, 166.3, 168.4 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+H]⁺calcd for C₁₂₂H₁₁₇N₂O₂₅ 2010.7979, found 2010.7963.

4.4.4. Deprotection of tetrasaccharide 4.11

Benzyl $O-(3,4,6-\text{tri}-O-\text{benzyl}-\beta-D-\text{galactopyranosyl})-(1\rightarrow 3)-O-(3,6-\text{di}-O-\text{benzyl}-2-acetamido-2-deoxy}-\beta-D-\text{glucopyranosyl})-(1\rightarrow 3)-O-(4-O-\text{benzyl}-\beta-D-$

galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-2,3,6-tri-O-benzyl-β-D-glucopyranoside (4.16). Compound **4.11** (59.0 mg, 0.029 mmol) was dissolved in MeOH (3.0 mL), NH₂NH₂-H₂O (130 µL, 2.64 mmol) was added, and the resulting mixture was heated at 90 °C for 24 h. After that, the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure, and the residue was dried *in vacuo* for 3 h. The crude residue was dissolved in a mixture of Ac₂O and MeOH (2.0 mL, 1/1, v/v) and the resulting mixture was stirred for 12 h at rt. The volatiles were removed under reduced pressure, the residue was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (50 mL), and washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL) and 1 M HCl (10 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as an offwhite amorphous solid in 92% yield (42.9 mg, 0.026 mmol). Analytical data for **4.16**: R_f = 0.50 (acetone/toluene, 3/7 v/v); [α]_D²³ +70.8 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 1.81 (s, 3H, CH₃CO), 2.95-4.03 (m, 24H, H-2, 2', 2'', 2''', 3, 3', 3'', 4, 4', 4'', 4''', 5, 5', 5'', 5''', 6a, 6a', 6a'', 6a''', 6b, 6b', 6b'', 6b'''), 4.23 (d, 1H, ²*J* = 11.8 Hz, CHPh), 4.30-4.58 (m, 10H, H-1, 1', 1''', 7 x CHPh), 4.60-4.96 (m, 11H, 11 x CHPh), 5.01-5.04 (m, 2H, H-1'', CHPh), 6.48 (d, 1H, *J* = 6.3 Hz, NHCOCH₃), 7.12-7.37 (m, 50H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 23.7, 58.4, 61.9, 68.2, 68.8, 69.4, 71.3, 71.6, 71.9, 72.1, 72.8, 73.5, 73.7 (×3), 73.8, 74.3, 74.7, 74.8, 74.9, 75.1 (×2), 75.2, 75.4, 76.6, 77.1, 81.9, 82.1, 83.0, 83.1, 83.7, 101.8, 102.9, 103.1, 104.5, 127.4, 127.5, 127.6 (×3), 127.7 (×2), 127.8 (×3), 127.9 (×4), 128.0 (×7), 128.2 (×8), 128.3 (×6), 128.4 (×4), 128.5 (×6), 128.7 (×3), 128.8 (×2), 137.6, 138.0 (×2), 138.1, 138.2, 138.4, 138.6, 138.7, 138.9, 139.0, 172.3 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺calcd for C₉₆H₁₀₅NNaO₂₁ 1631.7110, found 1631.7121.

O-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-O-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-

(1→3)-*O*-(β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-D-glucopyranose (4.1, LNT). 10% Pd on carbon (125 mg) was added to a solution of tetrasaccharide 16 (40 mg, 0.025 mml) in 80% aq. EtOH (5.0 mL), and the resulting mixture was stirred under hydrogen atmosphere for 24 h at rt. After that, the solids were filtered off and rinsed successively with methanol and water. The combined filtrate (~40 mL) was concentrated in *vacuo*. The residue was purified by size exclusion column chromatography on Sephadex G-25 using water as the eluent to afford the title compound as a white amorphous solid in 81% yield (14.3 mg, 0.020 mmol). Analytical data for **4.1**: $R_f = 0.30$ (chloroform/methanol/water, 2/1/0.4, v/v/v); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O): δ , 2.01 (s, 3H, CH₃CO), 3.24-3.51 (m, 2H), 3.49-3.96 (m, 33H), 4.14 (d, 1H, J = 3.3 Hz), 4.43 (d, 2H, J = 7.8 Hz), 4.65 (d, 1H, J = 8.0 Hz), 4.72 (dd, 1H, J = 2.5, 8.4 Hz), 5.21 (d, 1H, J = 3.8 Hz) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, D₂O): δ , 22.6, 55.0, 60.3, 60.4, 60.8, 61.3, 61.4, 68.7, 68.8, 68.9, 70.4, 70.5, 71.0, 71.5, 71.8, 72.8, 74.1, 74.7, 75.1, 75.2, 75.5, 75.6, 78.6, 78.7, 82.3, 82.4, 92.2, 96.0, 96.1, 102.9, 103.2, 103.3, 103.8, 175.3 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺calcd for C₂₆H₄₅NNaO₂₁ 730.2382, found 730.2361.

4.5. References

 Eriksen, K. G.; Christensen, S. H.; Lind, M. V.; Michaelsen, K. F. Human milk composition and infant growth. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 2018, *21*, 200-206.

Wu, S.; Grimm, R.; German, J. B.; Lebrilla, C. B. Annotation and
 Structural Analysis of Sialylated Human Milk Oligosaccharides. *J. Proteome Res.* 2011, *10*, 856-868.

(3) Thomson, P.; Medina, D. A.; Garrido, D. Human milk oligosaccharides and infant gut bifidobacteria: Molecular strategies for their utilization. *Food Microbiol.* **2018**, 75, 37-46.

(4) Plaza-Diaz, J.; Fontana, L.; Gil, A. Human Milk Oligosaccharides and Immune System Development. *Nutrients* 2018, *10*.

(5) Craft, K. M.; Townsend, S. D. The Human Milk Glycome as a Defense
Against Infectious Diseases: Rationale, Challenges, and Opportunities. *ACS Infect. Dis.* **2018**, *4*, 77-83.

(6) Urashima, T.; Hirabayashi, J.; Sato, S.; Kobata, A. Human Milk Oligosaccharides as Essential Tools for Basic and Application Studies on Galectins. *Trends Glycosci. Glycotechnol.* **2018**, *30*, SE51-SE65.

Remoroza, C. A.; Mak, T. D.; De Leoz, M. L. A.; Mirokhin, Y. A.; Stein,
 S. E. Creating a Mass Spectral Reference Library for Oligosaccharides in Human Milk.
 Anal. Chem. 2018, *90*, 8977-8988.

(8) Xu, G.; Davis, J. C.; Goonatilleke, E.; Smilowitz, J. T.; German, J. B.;
Lebrilla, C. B. Absolute Quantitation of Human Milk Oligosaccharides Reveals
Phenotypic Variations during Lactation. *J. Nutr.* 2017, *147*, 117-124.

(9) Bode, L.; Jantscher-Krenn, E. Structure-function relationships of human milk oligosaccharides. *Adv. Nutr.* **2012**, *3*, 383S-391S.

(10) Wu, X.; Jackson, R. T.; Khan, S. A.; Ahuja, J.; Pehrsson, P. R. Human Milk Nutrient Composition in the United States: Current Knowledge, Challenges, and Research Needs. *Curr. Dev. Nutr.* **2018**, *2*, nzy025.

(11) Chen, X. Human Milk Oligosaccharides (HMOS): Structure, Function, and Enzyme-Catalyzed Synthesis. *Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem.* **2015**, *72*, 113-190.

(12) Xiao, Z.; Guo, Y.; Liu, Y.; Li, L.; Zhang, Q.; Wen, L.; Wang, X.;

Kondengaden, S. M.; Wu, Z.; Zhou, J.; Cao, X.; Li, X.; Ma, C.; Wang, P. G.

Chemoenzymatic Synthesis of a Library of Human Milk Oligosaccharides. *J. Org. Chem.* **2016**, *81*, 5851-5865.

(13) Prudden, A. R.; Liu, L.; Capicciotti, C. J.; Wolfert, M. A.; Wang, S.; Gao,
Z.; Meng, L.; Moremen, K. W.; Boons, G. J. Synthesis of asymmetrical multiantennary
human milk oligosaccharides. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* 2017, *114*, 6954-6959.

(14) Vandenplas, Y.; Berger, B.; Carnielli, V. P.; Ksiazyk, J.; Lagstrom, H.;
Sanchez Luna, M.; Migacheva, N.; Mosselmans, J. M.; Picaud, J. C.; Possner, M.;
Singhal, A.; Wabitsch, M. Human Milk Oligosaccharides: 2'-Fucosyllactose (2'-FL) and
Lacto-N-Neotetraose (LNnT) in Infant Formula. *Nutrients* 2018, *10*.

(15) Ramani, S.; Stewart, C. J.; Laucirica, D. R.; Ajami, N. J.; Robertson, B.; Autran, C. A.; Shinge, D.; Rani, S.; Anandan, S.; Hu, L.; Ferreon, J. C.; Kuruvilla, K. A.; Petrosino, J. F.; Venkataram Prasad, B. V.; Bode, L.; Kang, G.; Estes, M. K. Human milk oligosaccharides, milk microbiome and infant gut microbiome modulate neonatal rotavirus infection. *Nature Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 5010.

(16) Takamura, T.; Chiba, T.; Ishihara, H.; Tejima, S. Chemical Modification of Lactose. XIII. Synthesis of Lacto-N-tetraose. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* 1980, *28*, 1804-1809.

(17) Aly, M. R. E.; Ibrahim, E. S. I.; El Ashry, E. S. H.; Schmidt, R. R. Synthesis of lacto-N-neotetraose and lacto-N-tetraose using the dimethylmaleoyl group as amino protective group. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1999**, *316*, 121-132.

(18) Craft, K. M.; Townsend, S. D. Synthesis of lacto-N-tetraose. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2017**, *440-441*, 43-50.

Baumgaertner, F.; Conrad, J.; Sprenger, G. A.; Albermann, C. Synthesis
 of the Human Milk Oligosaccharide Lacto-N-Tetraose in Metabolically Engineered,
 Plasmid-Free E. coli. *Chem Bio Chem* 2014, *15*, 1896-1900.

(20) Arboe Jennum, C.; Hauch Fenger, T.; Bruun, L. M.; Madsen, R. One-Pot Glycosylation in the Synthesis of Human Milk Oligosaccharides. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2014**, 2014, 3232-3241.

(21) Hahm, H. S.; Hurevich, M.; Seeberger, P. H. Automated assembly of oligosaccharides containing multiple cis-glycosidic linkages. *Nat. Commun.* **2016**, *7*, 12482.

(22) Hsu, Y.; Lu, X. A.; Zulueta, M. M.; Tsai, C. M.; Lin, K. I.; Hung, S. C.;
Wong, C. H. Acyl and silyl group effects in reactivity-based one-pot glycosylation:
synthesis of embryonic stem cell surface carbohydrates Lc4 and IV(2)Fuc-Lc4. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, *134*, 4549-4552.

(23) Sherman, A. A.; Yudina, O. N.; Shashkov, A. S.; Menshov, V. M.; Nifant'ev, N. E. Synthesis of Neu5Ac-and Neu5Gc-a-(2 -> 6 ')-lactosamine 3aminopropyl glycosides. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2001**, *330*, 445-458.

(24) Schmidt, D.; Thiem, J. Chemical synthesis using enzymatically generated building units for construction of the human milk pentasaccharides sialyllacto-N-tetraose and sialyllacto-N-neotetraose epimer. *Beilstein J. Org. Chem.* **2010**, *6*, 1-7.

(25) Bandara, M. D.; Stine, K. J.; Demchenko, A. V. The chemical synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides: lacto-N-neotetraose (Galβ1à4GlcNAcβ1à3Galβ1à4Glc). *Carbohydr. Res.* **2019**, *483*, 107743.

(26) Li, Z.; Gildersleeve, J. Mechanistic studies and methods to prevent aglycon transfer of thioglycosides. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2006**, *128*, 11612-11619.

Nagorny, P.; Fasching, B.; Li, X.; Chen, G.; Aussedat, B.; Danishefsky, S.
J. Toward Fully Synthetic Homogeneous β-Human Follicle-Stimulating Hormone (β-hFSH) with a Biantennary N-Linked Dodecasaccharide. Synthesis of β-hFSH with
Chitobiose Units at the Natural Linkage Sites. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 5792-5799.

(28) Palmacci, E. R.; Plante, O. J.; Seeberger, P. H. Oligosaccharide synthesis in solution and on solid support with glycosyl phosphates. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2002**, 595-606.

(29) Mydock, L. K.; Demchenko, A. V. Superarming the S-benzoxazolyl glycosyl donors by simple 2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl protection. *Org. Lett.* **2008**, *10*, 2103-2106.

(30) Mydock, L. K.; Demchenko, A. V. Application of the superarmed
glycosyl donor to chemoselective oligosaccharide synthesis. *Org. Lett.* 2008, *10*, 2107-2110.

CHAPTER 5

The chemical synthesis of human milk

oligosaccharides: lacto-N-hexaose

Gal β 1 \rightarrow 3GlcNAc β 1 \rightarrow 3

$[Gal\beta1 \rightarrow 4GlcNAc\beta1 \rightarrow 6] Gal\beta1 \rightarrow 4Glc$

5.1. Introduction

Thanks to advances in glycosciences in recent years, the importance of human milk oligosaccharides (HMO) as the essential source of antimicrobials^{1,2} and prebiotics³ has come to the fore. Biosynthesis of HMO follows a unique structural blue print. All glycan chains contain lactose (Gal β 1 \rightarrow 4Glc) at their reducing end, which can be elongated by the addition of a β 1-3- or β 1-6-linked lacto-N-biose (Gal β 1 \rightarrow 3GlcNAc, type 1 chain) or lactosamine (Gal β 1 \rightarrow 4GlcNAc, type 2 chain). Elongation of lactose via a β 1-6 linkage introduces chain branching, and these structures are designated as *iso*-HMO, whereas linear structures are commonly designated as *para*-HMO. Lactose or the elongated oligosaccharide chain can also be fucosylated or sialylated.⁴ Structures of many HMO are known,^{5,6} many HMO sequences have already been prepared enzymatically and/or chemically,⁷⁻⁹ but the exact roles of a majority of individual HMO remain unknown.^{10,11}

With expectation that the development of reliable synthetic methods for obtaining individual HMO will boost our understanding the roles of these important biomolecules, we previously reported the total syntheses of lacto-N-neotetraose (LNnT, Chapter 3)¹² and lacto-N-tetraose (LNT, Chapter 4).¹³ In further synthetic endeavors into the field of HMO, we became interested in studying more challenging, branched structures, such as lacto-N-hexaose (LNH),^{14,15} whose exact biological roles are yet unknown. LNH **5.1** represents one of the most common core sequence and it is structurally derived from LNT **5.2** (Figure 5.1).

LNH comprises the reducing end lactose disaccharide (AB, Figure 5.1), common for all HMO, which is branched at the galactose residue (B). More specifically, it is elongated with lacto-N-biose disaccharide residue (CD) at C-3 of Gal, and also with N- acetyllactosamine residue (*EF*) at C-6 of Gal. While many chemical¹⁶⁻¹⁸ and enzymatic syntheses¹⁹ of LNT are known, to the best of our knowledge, neither chemical nor enzymatic synthesis of LNH have yet been reported. We came across an article by Schmidt and co-worker describing the synthesis of a "*branched hexasaccharide related to lacto-N-hexaose*."²⁰ However, the actual molecule obtained therein is lacto-N-neohexaose, a different HMO core sequence. Human milk isolates of LNH are available on the market, but this common HMO is not yet available in large quantities and at accessible cost for mainstream research and application. Reported herein as an efficient and versatile method for the scalable synthesis of LNH **5.1** and, by extension, LNT **5.2**.



Figure 5.1. Chemical structures of LNH 5.1 and LNT 5.2.

5.2. Results and discussion

In the previous Chapter, we described the syntheses of LNT **5.2** via convergent and linear approaches.¹³ The protecting groups in the tetrasaccharide intermediate **5.3**¹³ were strategically placed to allow for the synthesis of other derivatives. Thus, we assumed that selective removal of 6'-O-picoloyl (Pico) substituent in **5.3** would provide a straightforward access to acceptor **5.4** suitable for subsequent branching. To pursue this

route, the deprotection of 6'-O-Pico in **5.3** was affected in the presence of $Cu(OAc)_2$ -H₂O in MeOH/CH₂Cl₂ and tetrasaccharide **5.4** was obtained in 96% yield. To our disappointment, all attempts to glycosylate acceptor **5.4** with lactosamine thioglycoside donor **5.5**¹² were largely unsuccessful and practically no desired hexasaccharide was formed. Instead, a large number of unidentified side products derived from the donor have been isolated, and the acceptor remained practically intact.



Scheme 5.1. First attempted assembly of LNH 5.1.

Recalling our previous endeavors with the synthesis of HMO wherein the nature of glycosyl donor and acceptor was found to be of paramount significance, we attempted to employ the corresponding lactosamine phosphate and trichloroacetimidate donors. Despite extended study, these attempts to access the backbone of LNH were also unsuccessful. In further attempts to enhance the efficiency of this coupling we applied less bulky glucosamine thioglycoside donor **5.6** and its phosphate and trichloroacetimidate analogues. Although the formation of minor amounts of the desired pentasaccharide were observed by mass spectroscopy, these glycosylations were deemed unsuccessful. Having explored all possibilities available to us, we came to a conclusion that the bulky benzyl group at the 4'-OH position of acceptor **5.4** is hindering the glycosylation at the 6'-OH position.

In order to decrease the steric hindrance, we changed our strategy and employed building block **5.7** protected with 4,6-*O*-benzyliene acetal instead.²¹ We envisaged that if the benzylidene acetal is removed at the tetrasaccharide stage, the resulting 4,6-diol will offer a far more accessible glycosyl acceptor site for glycosylation with donor **5.5**.



Scheme 5.2. Convergent synthesis of acceptor 5.14.

With this strategic adjustment, we coupled donor 5.7 with 4-OH acceptor 5.8^{22} in the presence of N-iodosuccinimide (NIS) and TfOH. The resulting disaccharide was subjected to deprotection of the Fmoc group with triethylamine in one pot affording the desired disaccharide acceptor 5.9 in 87% yield over two steps. We then attempted to glycosylate acceptor 5.9 with thioglycoside donor 5.10. This reaction was sluggish and inefficient, and despite all attempts to push the reaction to completion, significant amounts of acceptor remained. After a quick screening of other leaving groups, we discovered that trichloroacetimidate donor 5.12 offers an effective building block to glycosylation acceptor 5.9. Glycosyl donor 5.12 was prepared from thioglycoside precursor 5.10 that was first converted into the corresponding hemiacetal 5.11 via anomeric bromination using Br_2 in CH₂Cl₂ followed by the hydrolysis of the bromide using Ag₂O in wet acetone in 81% over two steps. Next, the installation of the trichloroacetimidate group was performed using trichloroacetonitirle (CCl₃CN) in the presence of 1,8-diazabicylco[5.4.0]undec-7-ene (DBU) to afford the lacto-N-biose trichloroacetimidate 5.12 in 93% yield. Glycosylation of acceptor 5.9 with donor 5.12 was conducted in the presence of catalytic TMSOTf and the desired tetrasaccharide 5.13 was obtained in a good yield of 83% with complete β stereoselectivity. It is noteworthy that the corresponding glycosyl phosphate donor gave a comparable result in this application.

Subsequent deprotection of the 4',6'-O-benzylidene acetal in intermediate **5.13** was somewhat low-yielding in the presence of TFA in wet DCM, traditional conditions for benzylidene cleavage. Inspired by work by Williams and Sit, wherein isopropylidene ketal was removed using p-toluenesulfonic acid (TsOH) and ethanedithiol in chloroform,²³ we
conducted this reaction in the presence of TsOH and EtSH in MeOH/CH₂Cl₂. As a result, tetrasaccharide diol **5.14** was obtained in 96% yield.

Next, we attempted glycosylation of tetrasaccharide diol 5.14 with lactosamine thioglycoside donor **5.5**. Even this coupling with a more accessible glycosyl acceptor was not as straightforward as we had initially hoped for. Standard reaction conditions employing NIS/TfOH as promoters produced the desired hexasaccharide 5.14 in a modest yield of 51%. Although this result was significantly better than our previous attempt of glycosylation of acceptor 5.4, we wanted to make an effort to further improve the outcome of this challenging coupling. With this intention, we identified the major side reactions hampering the yield of the product: fairly rapid hydrolysis of lactosamine donor 5.5 and the formation of the 1-4-linked hexasaccharide **5.18** alongside the anticipated 1-6-linked counterpart. To suppress these side reactions, we employed milder promoters dimethyl(thiomethyl)sulfonium triflate (DMTST)^{24,25} and NIS/AgOTf.²⁶ The former promoter provided a comparable result that that achieved with NIS/TfOH. With the latter promoter, known for providing a slower release of the iodonium ion, minimal side products resulting from hydrolysis of donor 5.5 were observed. After careful refinement of the reaction conditions, we achieved the desired protected LNH precursor 5.15 in a commendable yield of 80%. This result was obtained by conducting the reaction at -40 °C for 30 min, and then allowing the reaction temperature to gradually increase over the course of the additional 30 min period.

With the protected intermediate **5.15** in hand, we then endeavored a series of deprotection steps to obtain the target LNH hexasaccharide. Deprotection of the phthalimido and NH_2NH_2 - H_2O in MeOH to afford intermediate **5.16** in 74% yield. Column

purification was found necessary before the subsequent step: N-acetylation of **5.16** with acetic anhydride in MeOH. Finally, the benzyl groups were removed by hydrogenation in the presence of 10% palladium on charcoal in wet ethanol to obtain target LNH **5.1** in 80% over two steps.



Scheme 5.3. Convergent synthesis of LNH 5.1 and LNT 5.2

We also performed deprotection of the key tetrasaccharide intermediate **5.14** to obtain LNT **5.2**. This was achieved via deprotection of the phthalimido and ester groups in the presence of $NH_2NH_2-H_2O$ in refluxing MeOH followed by N-acetylation with acetic anhydride in MeOH to furnish partially protected tetrasaccharide intermediate **5,17** in 84%

yield. Subsequently, benzyl ethers were removed by hydrogenation in the presence of 10% Pd/C in wet ethanol to afford target LNT **5.2** in 87% yield.

5.3. Conclusions

The first total synthesis of lacto-N-hexaose has been completed using a convergent 2+2+2 strategy. This approach employed preassembled lactose, lactosamine, and lacto-N-biose building blocks. Along the way, we have also obtained lacto-N-tetraose core sequence. It has been acknowledged that including HMO to infant formulas could be beneficial for infants' health,²⁷⁻³⁰ but HMO are challenging to produce and purify, and exact roles of individual HMO remain unknown.^{10,11,31} Only two simple HMO have been approved for infant formulas, and three more entered clinical trials.³² With expectation that new methods for reliable synthesis of individual HMO will boost practical applications of these important biomolecules further synthetic studies of HMO are described in the subsequent Chapter.

5.4. Experimental

5.4.1. General methods

Reactions were performed using commercial reagents and the ACS grade solvents were purified and dried according to standard procedures. Column chromatography was performed on silica gel 60 (70-230 mesh) and Sephadex G-25 size exclusion resin, reactions were monitored by TLC on Kieselgel 60 F_{254} . The compounds were detected by examination under UV light and by charring with 10% sulfuric acid in methanol. Solvents were removed under reduced pressure at <40 °C. CH₂Cl₂ was distilled from CaH₂ directly prior to application. Molecular sieves (3Å), used for reactions, were crushed and activated *in vacuo* at 390 °C during 8 h in the first instance and then for 2-3 h at 390 °C directly prior to application. AgOTf was co-evaporated with toluene (3 x 10 mL) and dried *in vacuo* for 2-3 h directly prior to application. Optical rotations were measured using a Jasco polarimeter. ¹H NMR spectra were recorded at 300 MHz or 600 MHz, and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded at 75 MHz or 151 MHz. The ¹H chemical shifts are referenced to the signal of the residual TMS ($\delta_{\rm H} = 0.00$ ppm) for solutions in CDCl₃ or the signal of the residual D₂O ($\delta_{\rm H} = 4.79$ ppm) for solutions in D₂O. The ¹³C chemical shifts are referenced to the central signal of CDCl₃ ($\delta_{\rm C} = 77.16$ ppm) for solutions in CDCl₃ or the central signal of CD₃COCD₃ $\delta_{\rm C} = 29.84$ ppm) for solutions in D₂O. Accurate mass spectrometer.

5.4.2. Synthesis of oligosaccharides 5.4, 5.9, 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.14, 5.15, 5.18. Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (5.4). Cu(OAc)₂-H₂O (15.3 mg, 0.084 mmol) was added to a solution of benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthlimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthlimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside¹³ (5.3, 113.0 mg, 0.056 mmol) in MeOH/CH₂Cl₂ (8.0 mL, 1/3, v/v) and the resulting mixture was stirred for 20 min at rt. Next, the reaction mixture was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (~100 mL) was washed with H₂O (15 mL), sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (15 mL) and water (2 x 15 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated in *vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as an off-white amorphous solid in 96% yield (102.3 mg, 0.053 mmol). Analytical data for 5.4: $R_f = 0.60$ (ethyl acetate/hexane, 1/1, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{21} + 5.8$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 2.84 (ddd, 1H, J = 8.9 Hz, H-5), 3.10-3,45 (m, 11H, H-2, 3, 3"', 5", 5"', 6a, 6a", 6a"', 6b, 6b", 6b"'), 3.54-3.60 (m, 2H, H-3', 4"), 3.69- $3.77 (m, 3H, 4, 5'', 6a''), 3.80 (br d, 1H, J_{3',4'} = 2.2 Hz, H-4'), 3.87-3.89 (m, 2H, H-4''', 6b'),$ 4.13-4.18 (m, 2H, H-1', 2"), 4.20-4.30 (m, 6H, H-1, 1", 2 x CH₂Ph), 4.42-4.59 (m, 10H, 5 x CH₂Ph), 4.67 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 11.1 Hz, CHPh), 4.78-4.91 (m, 6H, H-3", 5 x CHPh), 4.98 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 8.4$ Hz, H-1"), 5.08 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J = 10.5$ Hz, CHPh), 5.12 (dd, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 8.1$, $J_{2,3}$ = 10.0 Hz, H-2'), 5.46 (dd, 1H, $J_{1'',2''}$ = 8.7, $J_{2'',3''}$ = 9.4 Hz, H-2'''), 6.73-7.66 (m, 64H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 56.0, 62.0, 67.3, 67.8, 69.7, 71.0, 71.7, 72.0, 72.5, 72.7, 73.2, 73.5 (×2), 73.6 (×2), 74.3, 74.6, 74.8, 74.9, 75.0, 75.2, 75.4, 75.8, 75.9, 76.0, 77.6, 79.8, 80.2, 81.2, 82.7, 99.3, 100.5 (×2), 102.6, 114.0, 122.7 (×2), 127.5 (×3), 127.6 (×4), 127.7 (×2), 127.8 (×5), 127.9 (×4), 128.0 (×2), 128.1 (×6), 128.2 (×9), 128.3 (×9), 128.4 (×2), 128.5 (×4), 128.6 (×5), 129.0 (×2), 129.6, 129.8, 130.0, 130.1, 130.8, 131.3, 132.7, 133.0, 133.4, 133.6, 137.5, 137.6, 138.0, 138.2, 138.5, 138.6, 138.7, 138.8, 164.3, 165.5, 166.3, 168.4 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₁₁₆H₁₁₃NNaO₂₄ 1927.7584, found 1927.7613.

Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*benzyl-β-D-glucopyranoside (5.9). A mixture of ethyl 2-*O*-benzoyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene-3-*O*-fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl-1-thio-β-D-galactopyranoside²¹ (5.7, 0.30 g, 0.45 mmol), benzyl 2,3,6-tri-O-benzyl-B-D-gulcopyranoside³³ (5.8, 0.19 g, 0.36 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3 Å, 1.0 g) in CH₂Cl₂ (10 mL) was stirred under argon for 2 h at rt. The reaction mixture was cooled to 0 °C, NIS (0.21 g, 0.94 mmol) and TfOH (18 µL, 0.09 mmol) were added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 30 min. After that, the reaction mixture was warmed to rt, Et_3N (~ 4.5 mL) was added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 1 h at rt to achieve complete deprotection of the Fmoc group. Next, the solids were filtered-off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~100 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (15 mL), 10% aq. Na₂S₂O₃ (15 mL), and water (2 x 15 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 87% yield (0.28 g, 0.31 mmol). Analytical data for **5.9**: $R_f = 0.35$ (acetone/toluene, 1/4, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ -15.3 (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃); δ , 2.51 (d, 1H, J = 11.4 Hz, OH), 3.11 (br s, 1H, H-5'), 3.28 (ddd, 1H, H-5), 3.49 (dd, 1H, J_{2,3} = 9.1 Hz, H-2), 3.59-3.67 (m, 3H, H-3, 3', 6a), 3.71 (dd, 1H, $J_{5,6b} = 4.2$, $J_{6a,6b} = 11.0$, Hz, H-6b), 3.87 (dd, 1H, $J_{5',6a'} = 1.5$, $J_{6a',6b'} = 1.5$ 12.5 Hz, H-6a'), 3.96 (dd, 1H, $J_{3,4} = J_{4,5} = 9.0$ Hz, H-4), 4.11 (br d, 1H, $J_{3',4'} = 3.6$ Hz, H-4'), 4.21 (d, 1H, $J_{6a',6b'}$ = 12.5 Hz, H-6b'), 4.45 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J$ = 12.2 Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.43 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 7.8$ Hz, H-1), 4.45 (dd, 2H, $^{2}J = 12.2$ Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.74 (dd, 2H, $^{2}J = 12.0$ Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.76 (d, $J_{1',2'} = 8.1$ Hz, H-1'), 4.81 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J = 10.9$ Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.97 (dd, 2H, ${}^{2}J = 10.8$ Hz, CH_2Ph), 5.32 (dd, 1H, $J_{2',3'} = 9.9$ Hz, H-2'), 5.51 (s, 1H, CHPh), 7.16-8.05 (m, 30H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 66.7, 68.4, 68.8, 71.2, 72.0, 72.2, 72.4, 73.4, 73.6, 74.6, 75.0, 75.6, 75.8, 77.8, 100.8, 101.6, 102.5, 126.6 (×2), 127.4, 127.6, 127.8 (×2), 127.9 (×2), 128.0 (×2), 128.1 (×2), 128.2 (×2), 128.3 (×4), 128.4 (×2), 128.5 (×4),

128.6 (×2), 129.3, 129.8, 129.9 (×2), 133.4, 137.5, 137.6, 138.4, 138.6, 139.1, 166.0 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₅₄H₅₄NaO₁₂ 917.3513, found 917.3521.

O-(2-*O*-Benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→3)-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2deoxy-2-phthalimido- α/β -D-glucopyranose (5.11). A freshly prepared solution of Br₂ in DCM (6.5 mL, 1/165, v/v) was added to a pre-chilled solution of ethyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→3)-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-

phthalimido-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside¹³ (5.10, 0.73 g, 0.68 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (9.0 mL) and the resulting mixture was stirred for 15 min at 0 °C. After that, the volatiles were evaporated under reduced pressure. The residue was co-evaporated with CH_2Cl_2 (3 × 10 mL) and dried in vacuo for 2 h. The crude residue was dissolved in acetone (20 mL), water (1.0 mL) and Ag₂CO₃ (0.09 g, 0.34 mmol) were added, and the resulting mixture was stirred in the absence of light for 16 h at rt. After that, the solids were filtered-off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate was concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 81% yield (0.56 g, 0.55 mmol). Analytical data for β -5.11: $R_f = 0.35$ (acetone/toluene, 1/4, v/v); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 2.86 (d, 1H, J = 8.8 Hz, OH), 3.30 (m, 1H, H-5'), 3.38-3.45 (m, 3H, H-3', 6a', 6b'), 3.60-3.65 (m, 2H, H-4, 5) 3.72-3.74 (m, 2H, H-6a, 6b), 3.94 (br d, 1H, H-4'), 4.06 (dd, 1H, J = 8.7, 100)10.7 Hz, H-2), 4.19 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 11.6 Hz, CHPh), 4.26-4.33 (m, 2H, CH₂Ph), 4.36-4.61 (m, 7H, H-1', $3 \times CH_2$ Ph), 4.85 (dd, 1H, H-3), 4.90 (d, 1H, 2J = 11.4 Hz, CHPh), 5.07 (m, 1H, H-1), 5.47-5.52 (dd, 1H, H-2'), 6.94-7.70 (m, 34H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 57.8, 67.8, 68.9, 71.7, 72.6, 73.3, 73.6, 73.7, 74.8 (×2), 75.0, 75.2, 76.4, 77.2,

80.2, 93.0, 100.7, 127.3, 127.5 (×2), 127.6 (×2), 127.8, 127.9, 128.0 (×3), 128.1 (×11), 128.3 (×5), 128.5 (×3), 128.6 (×3), 130.0, 130.2, 131.5, 132.8, 134.1, 137.6, 138.0, 138.1, 138.6, 138.8, 165.4 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₆₂H₅₉NNaO₁₃ 1048.3884, found 1048.3893.

O-(2-O-Benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-4,6-di-O-benzyl-2deoxy-2-phthalimido-β-D-glucopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate (5.12). CCl₃CN (1.01 mL, 10.14 mmol) and DBU (7.15 µL, 0.05 mmol) were added to a solution of compound 11 (0.52 g, 0.51 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (15 mL) and the resulting mixture was stirred under argon for 1 h at rt. After that, the reaction mixture was concentrated in *vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 93% yield (0.47 g, 0.40 mmol). Analytical data for **5.12**: $R_f = 0.60$ (acetone/toluene, 1/4, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{24} + 52.1$ (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 3.27-3.50 (m, 4H, H-3', 5', 6a', 6b'), 3.79 (m, 4H, H-4, 5, 6a, 6b), 3.94 (dd, 1H, J = 2.6 Hz, H-4'), 4.25 (dd, 2H, $^{2}J = 11.5$ Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.30 (d, 1H, $^{2}J = 12.0$ Hz, CHPh), 4.43-4.53 (m, 5H, H-1', 2, 3 × CHPh), 4.58 (dd, 2H, ^{2}J = 12.2 Hz, CH₂Ph), 4.88-4.97 (m, 2H, H-3, CHPh), 5.10 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 10.7 Hz, CHPh), 5.53 (dd, 1H, $J_{1',2'}$ = 7.9, $J_{2',3'} = 10.0$ Hz, H-2'), 6.22 (d, 1H, $J_{1,2} = 8.9$ Hz, H-1), 6.83-7.87 (m, 34H, aromatic), 8.48 (s, 1H, NH) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 54.7, 67.8, 68.4, 71.7, 72.5, 72.8, 73.3, 73.4, 73.5, 74.8, 74.9, 76.1, 76.6, 76.8, 80.1, 90.4, 94.0, 100.8, 123.5, 127.3, 127.5 (×3), 127.6 (×2), 127.7, 127.9, 128.0 (×4), 128.1 (×6), 128.2 (×3), 128.3 (×3), 128.4 (×3), 128.5 (×3), 129.1, 130.0, 130.2, 131.3, 132.8, 134.1, 137.5, 138.0, 138.1, 138.6 (×2), 160.8, 163.4, 165.3, 167.6 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₆₄H₅₈C₁₃NNaO₁₄1193.2966, found 1193.2968.

Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside

(5.13). A mixture of donor 5.12 (0.23 g, 0.19 mmol), acceptor 5.9 (0.13 g, 0.15 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3 Å, 600 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (7.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 2 h at rt. The reaction mixture was cooled to -30 °C, TMSOTf (8.20 µL, 0.04 mmol) was added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 10 min while the reaction temperature was allowed to increase gradually. After that, the solids were filtered-off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~50 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL) and water (2 x 10 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 83% yield (0.27 g, 0.12 mmol). Analytical data for **5.13**: $R_f = 0.55$ (acetone/toluene, $\frac{1}{4}$, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{22}$ -4.0 (c 1.0, CHCl₃): ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 2.89 (m, 1H, J = 8.8 Hz, H-5), 3.04 (br s, 1H, H-5'), 3.21-3.58 (m, 11H, H-2, 3, 3', 3''', 5''', 6a, 6a'', 6a''', 6b, 6b", 6b"), 3.70-3.84 (m, 3H, H-4, 4", 5"), 3.89-3.90 (m, 2H, H-4', 4"'), 4.11-4.32 (m, 8H, H-1", 2", 3", 6a', 6b', 3 x CHPh), 4.34 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 11.6 Hz, CHPh), 4.40 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 8.1 Hz, CHPh), 4.43-4.49 (m, 2H, H-1', CHPh), 4.51 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 12.0 Hz, CHPh), 4.55-4.70 (m, 5H, 5 x CHPh), 4.77-4.88 (m, 4H, H-1, 3 x CHPh), 4.91 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 11.4 Hz, CHPh), 5.02 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 10.7 Hz, CHPh), 5.06-5.09 (m, 2H, H-1", CHPh), 5.17 (dd, 1H, $J_{1',2'}$ =

8.2, $J_{2',3'} = 10.0$ Hz, H-2'), 5.44-5.51 (m, 2H, H-2''', C*H*Ph), 6.93-7.72 (64H, m, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 55.5, 66.7, 67.7 (×2), 68.5, 70.0, 71.0, 71.1, 71.7, 72.5, 73.2, 73.4, 73.5 (×2), 73.6, 74.3, 74.8 (×2), 74.9, 75.2, 75.7, 75.8, 75.9, 76.7, 77.6, 77.8, 80.0, 81.7, 83.0, 99.2, 100.3, 100.6, 100.7, 102.4, 125.4, 126.5 (×2), 127.2, 127.4 (×2), 127.5 (×3), 127.7, 127.8 (×6), 127.9 (×2), 128.0 (×8), 128.1 (×4), 128.2 (×10), 128.3 (×3), 128.4 (×4), 128.5 (×8), 128.6 (×2), 129.1 (×2), 129.5, 129.6 (×2), 130.0 (×2), 130.1, 132.7, 132.8, 137.5 (×2), 137.9, 138.0 (×2), 138.2, 138.3, 138.4, 138.6 (×2), 139.0, 163.3, 164.1, 165.4 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₁₁₆H₁₁₁NNa₂O₂₄974.3663, found 974.3645.

Benzyl O-(2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-O-(4,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-O-(2-O-benzoyl- β -D-

galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-glucopyranoside (5.14). TsOH (15.49 mg, 0.09 mmol) and EtSH (57 μL, 0.81 mmol) were added to a solution of compound 5.13 (0.25 g, 0.13 mmol) in MeOH/CH₂Cl₂ (10 mL, 1/1, v/v) and the reaction mixture was stirred for 3 h at rt. The reaction was then quenched with triethylamine (~0.5 mL) and the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white amorphous solid in 96% yield (0.23 g, 0.12 mmol). Analytical data for 5.14: R_f = 0.55 (acetone/toluene, 1/4, v/v); [α]_D²² +23.4 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCll₃): δ, 2.66 (br s,1H, H-5'), 2.87 (m, 1H, H-5), 3.19-3.38 (m, 9H, H-2, 3, 3‴, 5‴, 6a, 6a', 6a″, 6b, 6b'), 3.42-3.46 (m, 3H, H-3', 6a‴, 6b‴), 3.50 (dd, 1H, $J_{2",3"}$ = 9.1 Hz, H-2″), 3.61-3.71 (m, 3H, H-3″, 5″, 6b″), 3.76-3.78 (m, 2H, H-4, 4″), 3.87 (br d, 1H, *J* =

1.5 Hz, H-4"'), 3.96 (br s, 1H, H-4'), 4.12-4.31 (m, 9H, H-1, 1', 1''', 3 x CH₂Ph), 4.42-4.68 (m, 6H, 3 x CH₂Ph), 4.77-4.89 (m, 5H, H-1", 2 x CH₂Ph), 5.00-5.05 (m, 2H, CH₂Ph), 5.08 (dd, 1H, $J_{2',3'} = 8.9$ Hz, H-2'), 5.45 (1H, dd, $J_{2'',3''} = 8.9$ Hz, H-2''') 6.89-7.74 (m, 59 H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 55.5, 62.2, 67.4, 67.8, 69.0, 69.4, 71.0, 71.3, 71.8, 72.6, 73.3, 73.5, 73.6 (×2), 73.7 (×2), 74.3, 74.8, 74.9, 75.0, 75.2, 75.6, 76.0, 76.3, 77.3, 80.1, 80.2, 81.4, 82.6, 98.8, 100.3 (×2), 102.6, 127.5 (×3), 127.6 (×4), 127.7, 127.8 (×3), 127.9 (×4), 128.0, 128.1 (×7), 128.2 (×10), 128.3 (×8), 128.4 (×8), 128.5 (×3), 128.6 (×5), 129.4, 129.6 (×2), 130.0 (×2), 130.2, 132.8, 137.5, 137.6, 138.0 (×2), 138.2, 138.4, 138.6, 138.7, 164.2, 165.4 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+2Na]⁺² calcd for C₁₀₉H₁₀₇NNa₂O₂₄ 930.3506, found 930.3488.

Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-

phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 6)$]-O-(2-O-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-

(1→4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-glucopyranoside (5.15). A mixture of donor 5.5¹² (15.3 mg, 0.0143 mmol), acceptor 5.14 (20.0 mg, 0.011 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3 Å, 100 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (2.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 2 h at rt. The reaction mixture was cooled to -40 °C, NIS (4.95 mg, 0.022 mmol) and freshly conditioned AgOTf (1.4 mg, 0.005 mmol) were added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 30 min at -40 °C. The external cooling was removed, and the reaction mixture was stirred for additional 30 min during which the reaction temperature was allowed to increase gradually. After that, the solids were filtered-off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate

(~30 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (7 mL), Na₂S₂O₃ (7 mL), and water (2 x 7 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated in vacuo. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 80% yield (24.8 g, 0.0088 mmol). Analytical data for 5.15: $R_f = 0.65$ (acetone/toluene, 1/4 v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{22} + 22.9$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃, monosaccharide residues A-F are designated in the order shown in Figure 5.1; the assignment of signals for terminal galactose residues D and F can be interchanged): δ , 2.67 (br d, 1H, J = 1.5 Hz, H-5^B), 2.70-2.76 (ddd, 1H, 5^C), 2.85 (ddd, 1H, J = 9.8, J = 2.8 Hz, H-5^A), 3.02 (ddd, 1H, J = 9.6 Hz, H-5^E), 3.14-3.18 (m, 2H, H-6a^A), 6b^A), 3.23-3.77 (m, 20H, H-2^A, 3^A, 3^B, 3^D, 3^F, 4^A, 4^B, 4^C, 5^D, 5^F, 6a^B, 6a^C, 6a^D, 6a^E, 6a^F, $6b^{B}, 6b^{C}, 6b^{D}, 6b^{E}, 6b^{F}$, 3.86 (br d, 1H, J = 2.4 Hz, H-4^D), 3.97-4.08 (m, 5H, H-2^C, 2^E, 3^E, 4^E, 4^F), 4.20-4.36 (m, 11H, H-1^A, 1^B, 1^D, 4 x CH₂Ph), 4.39-4.68 (m, 16H, H-1^C, 1^F, 3^C, 13 x CHPh), 4.74 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 10.4 Hz, CHPh), 4.80 (m, 2H, CH₂Ph), 4.88 (m, 3H, H-1^E, CH_2Ph), 4.96 (m, 2H, CH_2Ph), 5.05 (dd, 1H, J = 8.3, 9.5 Hz, $H - 2^B$), 5.42 (dd, 1H, $J = 8.4, 10^{-10}$) 9.3 Hz, H-2^D), 5.63 (dd, 1H, J = 8.0, 10.0 Hz, H-2^F), 6.75-7.98 (m, 93H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 55.3, 55.8, 65.9, 67.1, 67.6, 67.8, 67.9, 68.2, 68.8, 71.0, 71.5, 71.6, 71.8 (×2), 72.6, 72.7 (×2), 73.3 (×3), 73.6 (×6), 74.3, 74.6 (×4), 74.7, 74.8, 74.2 (×2), 75.4, 75.7, 75.9, 77.6, 79.9, 80.2 (×2), 81.7, 82.8, 97.8, 98.2, 100.0, 100.2, 100.8, 102.6, 123.2, 123.8, 126.8, 127.2, 127.3, 127.4, 127.5 (×2), 127.6, 127.7 (4), 127.8(×10), 127.9 (×4), 128.0 (×6), 128.1 (×16), 128.2 (×13), 128.3 (×6), 128.4 (×6), 128.5 (×6), 128.6 (×9), 129.5, 130.0 (×2), 130.2, 131.4, 132.1, 132.6, 132.7, 133.3, 134.0, 134.5, 137.5, 137.8, 137.9 (×2), 138.1, 138.2 (×2), 138.4, 138.7 (×2), 138.9, 139.0 (×2), 139.1, 164.0,

165.2, 165.4, 167.6, 168.0 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₁₇₁H₁₆₄N₂NaO₃₆ 2845.0995, found 2845.0975.

Also isolated were minor quantities of benzvl O-(2-O-benzovl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzvl-B-Dgalactopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ -O-(4.6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -Dglucopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ - $[O-(2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl-\beta-D-galactopyranosyl) (1 \rightarrow 4)$ -O-(3,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$]-O- $(2-O-benzoyl-\beta-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1\rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-O-benzyl-\beta-D-glucopyranoside$ (5.18). Analytical data for 5.18: $R_f = 0.55$ (acetone/toluene, 1/4, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{22} + 40.4$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃, monosaccharide residues *A*-*F* are designated as in 15; the assignment of signals for terminal galactose residues D and F can be interchanged): δ, 2.78 (ddd, 1H, J = 1.4, 8.1 Hz, H-5^A), 3.04-3.68 (m, 24H, H-2^A, 2^C, 3^A, 3^B, 3^D, 3^F, 4^C. 5^{B} , 5^{C} , 5^{D} , 5^{E} , 5^{F} , $6a^{A}$, $6b^{A}$, $6a^{B}$, $6b^{B}$, $6a^{C}$, $6b^{C}$, $6a^{D}$, $6b^{D}$, $6a^{E}$, $6b^{E}$, $6a^{F}$, $6b^{F}$), 3.73 (dd, 1H, $J_{3A,4A} = 9.2$ Hz, H-4A), 3.77-3.81 (m, 2H, H-4^D, 4^E), 3.98 (d, 1H, $J_{1D,2D} = 7.8$ Hz, H-1^D) 4.05 (br d, 1H, $J_{3E4F} = 1.1$ Hz, H-4^F), 4.04 (d, 1H, $^{2}J = 11.8$ Hz, CHPh), 4.10-4.14 (m, 2H, CH₂Ph), 4.16-4.24 (m,7H, H-1^A, 1^B, 2^E, 2 x CH₂Ph), 4.25-4.34 (m, 4H, H-4^B, 3 x CHPh), 4.36-4.47 (m, 6H, 3 x CH₂Ph), 4.50-4.57 (m, 3H, H-3^C, CH₂Ph), 4.60-4.71 (m, 5H, H-1^F, 3^E, 3 x CHPh), 4.75-4.84 (m, 3H, H-2^B, CH₂Ph), 4.86-4.95 (m, 3H, H-1^C, CH₂Ph), 4.96-5.02 (m, 3H, 3 x CHPh), 5.44 (dd, 1H, $J_{2D,3D}$ = 10.1 Hz, H-2^D), 5.46 (d, 1H, $J_{1E,2E}$ = 8.5 Hz, H-1^E), 5.64 (dd, 1H, $J_{1E,2F} = 8.4$, $J_{2E,3F} = 9.5$ Hz, H-2^F), 6.66-7.91 (m, 93H, aromatic); ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 55.3, 55.9, 67.7, 67.8, 68.2, 68.7, 69.1, 71.0, 71.1, 71.4, 71.6, 72.4, 72.5 (×3), 72.8, 73.9, 73.4 (×2), 73.6 (×4), 73.8, 74.2, 74.3, 74.4, 74.7, 74.8, 75.0 (×2), 75.6, 75.7, 75.9, 77.2, 77.3, 77.6, 78.6, 80.0, 80.1, 81.6, 82.1, 82.6, 98.8, 99.9, 100.0 (×2), 101.2, 102.6, 122.3 (×2), 122.8 (×2), 126.6 (×2), 127.0, 127.3 (×4), 127.5 (×2), 127.6

(×3), 127.7 (×2), 127.8 (×4), 127.9 (×4), 128.0 (11), 128.1 (×9), 128.2 (×7), 128.3 (×5), 128.4 (×12), 128.5 (×5), 128.6 (×6), 129.2, 129.5, 129.9, 130.0, 130.3, 130.6, 130.7, 132.2, 132.7, 133.1, 133.2, 133.4, 133.5, 137.5, 137.7, 137.8, 138.0 (×2), 138.3, 138.5, 138.7, 138.9 (×2), 139.4 (×2), 163.1, 164.6, 165.0, 165.3, 168.4 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺calcd for C₁₇₁H₁₆₄N₂NaO₃₆ 2845.0995, found 2845.1057.

5.4.3. Deprotection of oligosaccharides 5.15 and 5.14

Benzyl O-(3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-O-(2-amino-4,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[O-(3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-

galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-*O*-(2-amino-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-

(1→6)]-*O*-(β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-glucopyranoside

(5.16). Compound 5.15 (65.0 mg, 0.023 mmol) was dissolved in NH₂NH₂-H₂O/MeOH (3.0 mL, 1/2, v/v) and the resulting mixture was kept for 36 h at reflux. After that, the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (methanol - dichloromethane gradient elution) to afford the title compound as an off-white amorphous solid in 74% yield (37.2 mg, 0.016 mmol). Selected analytical data for 5.16: $R_f = 0.50$ (MeOH/CH₂Cl₂, 1/9, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{22}$ +9.3 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃, monosaccharide residues *A*-*F* are designated in the order shown in Figure 1; the assignment of signals for terminal galactose residues *D* and *F* can be interchanged): δ , 2.65-4.11 (m, 37H, H-1^A, 2^A, 2^B, 2^C, 2^D, 2^E, 2^F, 3^A, 3^B, 3^C, 3^D, 3^E, 3^F, 4^A, 4^B, 4^C, 4^D, 4^E, 4^F, 5^A, 5^B, 5^C, 5^D, 5^E, 5^F, 6a^A, 6a^B, 6a^C, 6a^D, 6a^E, 6a^F, 6b^A, 6b^B, 6b^C, 6b^D, 6b^E, 6b^F), 4.17-4.23 (m, 3H, 3 x CHPh), 4.28 (d, 1H, CHPh), 4.43-4.51 (m, 9H, H-1^B, 1^C, 1^D, 1^E, 1^F, 2 x CH₂Ph), 4.55-4.74 (m, 12H, 6 x CH₂Ph), 4.79-4.93 (m, 6H, 3 x CH₂Ph),

5.02-5.08 (m, 4H, 2 x C*H*₂Ph), 7.11-7.38 (m, 70H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 56.8, 57.3, 67.4, 68.1 (×2), 68.4, 68.6, 68.8, 71.3, 72.2, 72.3 (×3), 72.6, 73.0, 73.6 (×2), 73.4 (×2), 73.5 (×3), 73.7, 73.8, 74.6 (×3), 74.7 (×3), 74.7 (×2), 75.0, 75.1, 75.2, 75.7, 76.5, 76.8, 82.1 (×3), 82.4, 83.6, 83.9, 102.8, 103.0, 103.2 (×2), 103.8, 107.2, 127.3 (×3) 127.4 (×3), 127.5 (×3), 127.6 (×3), 127.8 (×17), 127.9 (×3), 128.0 (×8), 128.1 (×3), 128.2 (×8), 128.4 (×9), 128.5 (×8), 128.6 (×4), 137.7, 137.9, 138.0, 138.1 (×2), 138.4, 138.7, 138.8, 138.9, 139.0, 139.3 (×2) ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺calcd for C₁₃₄H₁₄₈N₂NaO₂₉ 2273.0099, found 2273.0114.

O-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-O-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-

(1→3)-[*O*-(β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy-β-D-

glucopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 6)$]-*O*- $(\beta$ -D-galactopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ - β -D-glucopyranose (5.1).

Compound **5.16** (23.0 mg, 0.009 mmol) was dissolved in a mixture of Ac₂O/MeOH (2.0 mL, 1/1, v/v) and the resulting mixture was stirred for 16 h at rt. Then, the volatiles were removed under the reduced pressure. The residue was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (~50 mL) and washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL), and water (2 x 10 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, concentrated under reduced pressure and dried *in vacuo* for 3 h. The crude residue was dissolved in EtOH/H₂O (3.0 mL, 4/1, v/v), 10% Pd on charcoal (75 mg) was added, and the resulting mixture was stirred under hydrogen for 24 h at rt. After that, the solids were filtered off and rinsed successively with methanol and water. The combined filtrate (~40 mL) was concentrated in *vacuo*. The residue was purified by column chromatography on Sephadex G-25 (water elution) to afford the title compound as a white amorphous solid in 80% yield (7.6 mg, 0.007 mmol). The spectral data for LNH

5.1 was in agreement with that reported previously.¹⁵ Selected analytical data for **5.1**: $R_f = 0.50$ (chloroform/methanol/water, 2/1/0.4, v/v/v); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O): δ , 2.00, 2.03 (2 s, 6H, 2 x CH₃CO), 3.27 (dd, 1H, J = 8.1, 9.0 Hz), 3.43-3.99 (m, 46H), 4.12 (d, 1H, J = 3.3 Hz), 4.41 (dd, 2H, J = 5.8, 7.8 Hz), 4.44 (d, 1H, J = 7.8 Hz), 4.62 (dd, 1H, J = 4.2, 7.9 Hz), 4.64 (d, 1H, J = 8.0 Hz), 4.70 (dd, 1H, J = 2.7, 8.4 Hz), 5.19 (d, 1H, J = 3.7 Hz) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, D₂O): δ , 22.58, 22.77, 55.06, 55.37, 60.38, 60.86, 61.38, 68.75, 68.80, 68.89, 69.05, 70.23, 70.25, 70.35, 71.03, 71.31, 71.55, 71.77, 72.82, 72.85, 73.82, 74.20, 74.74, 75.07, 75.10, 75.55, 75.63, 75.70, 78.72, 79.25, 79.35, 82.02, 82.40, 92.15, 96.07, 101.33, 102.87, 103.24, 103.34, 103.84, 174.85, 175.29 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺calcd for C₄₀H₆₈N₂NaO₃₁ 1095.3704, found 1095.3705.

Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→3)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1→3)-*O*-(β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-glucopyranoside (5.17). Compound 5.14 (30.0 mg, 0.016 mmol) was dissolved in NH₂NH₂-H₂O/MeOH (2.5 mL, 1/4, v/v) and the resulting mixture was kept for 24 h at reflux. After that, the volatiles were removed under the reduced pressure. The residue was dissolved in MeOH/CH₂Cl₂ (~5 mL, 1/9, v/v) and filtered through a pad of silica gel eluting with MeOH/CH₂Cl₂ (1/9, v/v). The combined filtrate (~50 mL) was concentrated under the reduced pressure and dried in *vacuo* for 3 h. The crude residue was dissolved in Ac₂O/MeOH (2.0 mL, 1/1, v/v) and the resulting mixture was stirred for 12 h at rt. Then, the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. The residue was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (50 mL) and washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL) and brine (2 x 10 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated in *vacuo*. The

residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as an off-white amorphous solid in 84% yield (20.3 mg, 0.013 mmol). Analytical data for **5.17**: $R_f = 0.65$ (acetone/toluene, 2/3, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{22}$ +28.2 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 1.91 (3H, s, CH₃CO), 3.15-4.13 (m, 24H, H-2, 2', 2'', 2''', 3, 3', 3'', 4, 4', 4'', 4''', 5, 5', 5'', 5''', 6a, 6a', 6a'', 6a''', 6b, 6b', 6b'', 6b'''), 4.20 (dd, 2H, ²*J* = 11.7 Hz, C*H*₂Ph), 4.35-4.49 (m, 7H, H-1, 1', 1''', 2 x C*H*₂Ph), 4.52-4.74 (m, 7H, 7 x C*H*Ph), 4.82 (d, 1H, ²*J* = 12.1 Hz, C*H*Ph), 4.85-4.94 (m, 4H, H-1'', 3 x C*H*Ph), 4.98 (d, 1H, ²*J* = 10.6 Hz, C*H*Ph), 6.44 (d, 1H, *J* = 7.0 Hz, NH), 7.04-7.37 (m, 45H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 23.7, 56.6, 62.4, 68.3, 68.4, 68.7, 69.5, 70.5, 71.1, 71.5, 72.5, 73.0, 73.4, 73.5, 73.6, 73.8, 74.2 (×2), 74.7, 74.8, 74.9, 75.1, 75.5, 77.9, 80.4, 82.3 (×2), 83.1, 83.8, 100.7, 102.8, 103.0, 104.3, 127.3, 127.5 (×2), 127.7 (×2), 127.8 (×8), 127.9 (×4), 128.0 (×3), 128.1 (×2), 128.2 (×6), 128.3 (×2), 128.4 (×4), 128.5 (×7), 128.6 (×4), 137.8, 138.0, 138.1, 138.3 (×2), 138.4, 138.6, 138.7, 139.2, 172.2 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺calcd for C₈₉H₉₉NNaO₂₁ 1540.6607, found 1540.6627.

O-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-O-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-

(1→3)-*O*-(β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-D-glucopyranose (5.2). 10% Pd on charcoal (75 mg) was added to a solution of 5.17 (20.0 mg, 0.013 mmol) in EtOH/H₂O (3.0 mL, 4/1, v/v), and the resulting mixture was stirred under hydrogen for 24 h at rt. After that, the solids were filtered off and rinsed successively with methanol and water. The combined filtrate (~40 mL) was concentrated in *vacuo*, and the residue was purified by column chromatography on Sephadex G-25 (water elution) to afford the title compound as a white amorphous solid in 87% yield (7.9 mg, 0.011 mmol). Analytical data for 5.2 was in

agreement with that reported previously:¹³ $R_f = 0.30$ (chloroform/methanol/water, 2/1/0.4, v/v/v); ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₂₆H₄₅NNaO₂₁ 730.2382, found 730.2392.

5.5. References

(1) Plaza-Diaz, J.; Fontana, L.; Gil, A. Human Milk Oligosaccharides and Immune System Development. *Nutrients* **2018**, *10*.

(2) Craft, K. M.; Townsend, S. D. The Human Milk Glycome as a Defense
 Against Infectious Diseases: Rationale, Challenges, and Opportunities. *ACS Infect. Dis.* 2018, 4, 77-83.

(3) Thomson, P.; Medina, D. A.; Garrido, D. Human milk oligosaccharides and infant gut bifidobacteria: Molecular strategies for their utilization. *Food Microbiol.* **2018**, 75, 37-46.

(4) Bode, L. Human milk oligosaccharides: every baby needs a sugar mama.*Glycobiology* 2012, 22, 1147-1162.

(5) Urashima, T.; Hirabayashi, J.; Sato, S.; Kobata, A. Human Milk Oligosaccharides as Essential Tools for Basic and Application Studies on Galectins. *Trends Glycosci. Glycotechnol.* **2018**, *30*, SE51-SE65.

(6) Remoroza, C. A.; Mak, T. D.; De Leoz, M. L. A.; Mirokhin, Y. A.; Stein,
S. E. Creating a Mass Spectral Reference Library for Oligosaccharides in Human Milk. *Anal. Chem.* 2018, *90*, 8977-8988.

(7) Chen, X. Human Milk Oligosaccharides (HMOS): Structure, Function, and Enzyme-Catalyzed Synthesis. *Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem.* **2015**, *72*, 113-190. (8) Xiao, Z.; Guo, Y.; Liu, Y.; Li, L.; Zhang, Q.; Wen, L.; Wang, X.;
Kondengaden, S. M.; Wu, Z.; Zhou, J.; Cao, X.; Li, X.; Ma, C.; Wang, P. G.
Chemoenzymatic Synthesis of a Library of Human Milk Oligosaccharides. *J. Org. Chem.* **2016**, *81*, 5851-5865.

Prudden, A. R.; Liu, L.; Capicciotti, C. J.; Wolfert, M. A.; Wang, S.; Gao,
Z.; Meng, L.; Moremen, K. W.; Boons, G. J. Synthesis of asymmetrical multiantennary
human milk oligosaccharides. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* 2017, *114*, 6954-6959.

(10) Xu, G.; Davis, J. C.; Goonatilleke, E.; Smilowitz, J. T.; German, J. B.;
Lebrilla, C. B. Absolute Quantitation of Human Milk Oligosaccharides Reveals
Phenotypic Variations during Lactation. *J. Nutr.* 2017, *147*, 117-124.

(11) Bode, L.; Jantscher-Krenn, E. Structure-function relationships of human milk oligosaccharides. *Adv. Nutr.* **2012**, *3*, 383S-391S.

(12) Bandara, M. D.; Stine, K. J.; Demchenko, A. V. The chemical synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides: lacto-N-neotetraose (Galβ1-4GlcNAcβ1-3Galβ1-4Glc).
 Carbohydr. Res. 2019, 483, 107743.

(13) Bandara, M. D.; Stine, K. J.; Demchenko, A. V. The chemical synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides: lacto-N-tetraose (Galβ1-3GlcNAcβ1-3Galβ1-4Glc).
 Carbohydr. Res. 2019, 486, 107824.

(14) Kobata, A.; Ginsburg, V. Oligosaccharides of human milk III. Isolation and characterization of a new hexasaccharide, lacto-N-hexaose. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1972**, *247*, 1525-1529. (15) Dua, V. K.; Goso, K.; Dube, V. E.; Bush, C. A. Charaterization of lacto-

N-hexaose and two fucosylated derivatives from human milk by high-performance liquid chromatography and proton NMR spectroscopy. *J. Chromatogr.* **1985**, *328*, 259-269.

(16) Takamura, T.; Chiba, T.; Ishihara, H.; Tejima, S. Chemical Modification of Lactose. XIII. Synthesis of Lacto-N-tetraose. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* 1980, *28*, 1804-1809.

(17) Aly, M. R. E.; Ibrahim, E. S. I.; El Ashry, E. S. H.; Schmidt, R. R. Synthesis of lacto-N-neotetraose and lacto-N-tetraose using the dimethylmaleoyl group as amino protective group. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1999**, *316*, 121-132.

(18) Craft, K. M.; Townsend, S. D. Synthesis of lacto-N-tetraose. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2017**, *440-441*, 43-50.

(19) Baumgaertner, F.; Conrad, J.; Sprenger, G. A.; Albermann, C. Synthesis of the Human Milk Oligosaccharide Lacto-N-Tetraose in Metabolically Engineered, Plasmid-Free E. coli. *Chem Bio Chem* **2014**, *15*, 1896-1900.

(20) Knerr, L.; Schmidt, R. R. Solid-Phase Synthesis of a BranchedHexasaccharide Related to Lacto-N-Hexaose. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2000, 2803-2808.

(21) Mondal, P. K.; Liao, G.; Mondal, M. A.; Guo, Z. Chemical Synthesis of the Repeating Unit of Type Ia Group B Streptococcus Capsular Polysaccharide. *Org. Lett.* **2015**, *17*, 1102-1105.

(22) Degenstein, J. C.; Murria, P.; Easton, M.; Sheng, H.; Hurt, M.; Dow, A.
R.; Gao, J.; Nash, J. J.; Agrawal, R.; Delgass, W. N.; Ribeiro, F. H.; Kenttämaa, H. I. Fast
Pyrolysis of 13C-Labeled Cellobioses: Gaining Insights into the Mechanisms of Fast
Pyrolysis of Carbohydrates. *J. Org. Chem.* 2015, 80, 1909-1914.

(23) Williams, D. R.; Sit, S.-Y. Total Synthesis of (+)-Phyllanthocin. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1984**, *106*, 2949-2954.

(24) Ravenscroft, M.; Roberts, R. M. G.; Tillett, J. G. The reaction of some cyclic and open-chain disulphides with methyl trifluoromethanesulphonate. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* 2 **1982**, 1569-1972.

(25) Andersson, F.; Fugedi, P.; Garegg, P. J.; Nashed, M. Synthesis of 1,2-cislinked glycosides using dimethyl(methylthio)sulfonium triflate as promoter and thioglycosides as glycosyl donors. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1986**, *27*, 3919-3922.

(26) Konradsson, P.; Udodong, U. E.; Fraser-Reid, B. Iodonium promoted reactions of disarmed thioglycosides. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, *31*, 4313-4316.

(27) Sprenger, G. A.; Baumgartner, F.; Albermann, C. Production of human milk oligosaccharides by enzymatic and whole-cell microbial biotransformations. *J. Biotechnol.* **2017**, *258*, 79-91.

(28) Bych, K.; Miks, M. H.; Johanson, T.; Hederos, M. J.; Vigsnaes, L. K.; Becker, P. Production of HMOs using microbial hosts - from cell engineering to large scale production. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2019**, *56*, 130-137.

(29) Puccio, G.; Alliet, P.; Cajozzo, C.; Janssens, E.; Corsello, G.; Sprenger, N.; Wernimont, S.; Egli, D.; Gosoniu, L.; Steenhout, P. Effects of Infant Formula With Human Milk Oligosaccharides on Growth and Morbidity: A Randomized Multicenter Trial. *J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr.* **2017**, *64*, 624-631.

(30) Vandenplas, Y.; Berger, B.; Carnielli, V. P.; Ksiazyk, J.; Lagstrom, H.;Sanchez Luna, M.; Migacheva, N.; Mosselmans, J. M.; Picaud, J. C.; Possner, M.;

Singhal, A.; Wabitsch, M. Human Milk Oligosaccharides: 2'-Fucosyllactose (2'-FL) and Lacto-N-Neotetraose (LNnT) in Infant Formula. *Nutrients* **2018**, *10*.

(31) Smilowitz, J. T.; Lebrilla, C. B.; Mills, D. A.; German, J. B.; Freeman, S.
L. Breast milk oligosaccharides: structure-function relationships in the neonate. *Annu. Rev. Nutr.* 2014, *34*, 143-169.

(32) Nguyen, T. Synthesizing mothers' milk. *Chem. Eng. News* 2018, 96, 26.

(33) Nagorny, P.; Fasching, B.; Li, X.; Chen, G.; Aussedat, B.; Danishefsky, S.

J. Toward Fully Synthetic Homogeneous β -Human Follicle-Stimulating Hormone (β -hFSH) with a Biantennary N-Linked Dodecasaccharide. Synthesis of β -hFSH with Chitobiose Units at the Natural Linkage Sites. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2009**, *131*, 5792-5799.

CHAPTER 6

The chemical synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides: lacto-*N*-neohexaose (Galβ1→4GlcNAcβ1→)₂ 3,6Galβ1→4Glc

6.1. Introduction

Human milk oligosaccharides (HMO) are complex glycans that are highly abundant in human milk that have been associated with many beneficial effects via various mechanisms. A woman can secrete a distinct HMO composition profile that varies geographically and may even substantially vary between different mothers.¹ All HMO sequences are variations of the specific structural blueprint, but all glycans composed of lactose (Gal β 1 \rightarrow 4Glc) at their reducing end. The lactose unit can be elongated at the galactose moiety at the C-3 position with lacto-N-biose (Gal β 1 \rightarrow 3GlcNAc, type 1 chain), which prevents further elongation in this direction. The galactose moiety of the reducingend lactose can also be elongated by lactosamine (Gal β 1 \rightarrow 4GlcNAc, type 2 chain) units. And this elongation, which can take place either at the C-3 or C-6 position of galactose, is open for further oligosaccharide chain extension. In addition, the HMO core structures can be fucosylated and/or sialylated.² Structures of many HMO are known, and many have already been prepared enzymatically and/or chemically, but the exact biological mechanisms of action of a majority of individual HMO remain unknown due to the lack of well-defined HMO in sufficient quantities.³

With the expectation that developing reliable synthetic methods for obtaining individual HMO will boost further innovations in this area, we have reported the total syntheses of a number of glycans. Our initial efforts included syntheses of two linear tetrasaccharide structures (*para*-HMO): lacto-N-neotetraose (LNnT) (Chapter 3)⁴ and lacto-N-tetraose (LNT) (Chapter 4).⁵ In Chapter 5, we communicated the first synthesis of branched (*iso*-HMO) hexasaccharide, lacto-N-hexaose (LNH).⁶ Reported herein is our

further advancement in the field of HMO dedicated to the synthesis of another branched hexasaccharide, lacto-N-neohexaose (LNnH).



Figure 6.1. Chemical structures of LNH 6.1 and LNT 6.2.

LNnH **6.1** is structurally derived from LNnT **6.2**, and represents one of the most common HMO core structures.⁷ LNnH comprises the reducing end lactose disaccharide (*AB*, Figure 6.1), common for all HMO, which is branched at the galactose residue (*B*). More specifically, it is elongated with N-acetyllactosamine disaccharide residue (*CD*) at C-3 of Gal, and also again with N-acetyllactosamine residue (*EF*) at C-6 of Gal. Many chemical^{4,8,9} and enzymatic syntheses^{3,10,11} of LNnT are known. LNnH has been synthesized enzymatically,^{3,12} and some spacer-containing, protected LNnH sequences have been chemical synthesized using polymer supports.¹³ However, to the best of our knowledge, no chemical synthesis of LNnH has yet emerged. Human milk isolates of LNnH are available from a variety of commercial vendors, but this common HMO is not yet available in large quantities and at accessible cost for mainstream research and

application. Reported herein as an efficient method for the scalable chemical synthesis of LNnH **6.1** and, by extension, LNnT **6.2**.

6.2. Results and discussion

Recently we have synthesized LNnT **6.2** using convergent and linear assembly strategies.⁴ The protecting groups in the tetrasaccharide **6.3** obtained over the course of our previous work⁴ were strategically placed to allow for the synthesis of other derivatives. For instance, during the incipient stage of the synthesis we assumed that selective removal of 6'-*O*-picoloyl (Pico) substituent in **6.3** would provide a straightforward access to acceptor **6.4** suitable for subsequent branching. Indeed, this would have offered a very straightforward access to LNnH.



Scheme 6.1. First attempted assembly of LNnH 6.1.

To follow this lead, the deprotection of 6'-O-Pico in **6.3** was affected in the presence of Cu(OAc)₂-H₂O in MeOH/CH₂Cl₂, and tetrasaccharide **6.4** was obtained in 97% yield. To our disappointment, all attempts to glycosylate acceptor **6.4** with lactosamine thioglycoside donor **6.5**⁴ were largely unsuccessful and practically no desired hexasaccharide was formed. Instead, a large number of unidentified side products derived from the donor have been isolated, and the acceptor remained practically intact.

Recalling our previous endeavors with the synthesis of HMO wherein the nature of glycosyl donor and acceptor was found to be of paramount significance, we attempted to employ the corresponding lactosamine phosphate and trichloroacetimidate donors. Despite extended study, these attempts to access the backbone of LNnH were also unsuccessful. In further attempts to enhance the efficiency of this coupling we applied less bulky glucosamine thioglycoside donor **6.6** and its phosphate and trichloroacetimidate analogues. Although the formation of minor amounts of the desired pentasaccharide were observed by mass spectroscopy, these glycosylations were largely unsuccessful. Having explored all possibilities available to us, we came to a conclusion that the bulky benzyl group at the 4'-OH position of acceptor **6.4** is hindering the glycosylation at the 6'-OH position.

It should be noted that a similar conclusion was made over the course of our preliminary attempts to synthesize LNH.⁶ In order to decrease the steric hindrance, we decided to follow the same strategy as that developed for the modified synthesis of LNH, in which we employed the lactose building block **6.7** protected with 4,6-*O*-benzyliene acetal.⁶ Over the course of our previous work with similar sequences, we observed that if the benzylidene acetal is removed at the tetrasaccharide stage, the resulting 4,6-diol will

offer a far more accessible glycosyl acceptor site for glycosylation. This would be essential for our route employing the glycosylation with bulky disaccharide donor **6.5**.

With this strategic adjustment, we attempted to glycosylate acceptor **6.7** with thioglycoside donor **6.5**. This reaction was sluggish and inefficient, and despite all attempts to push the reaction to completion, significant amounts of the acceptor remained. After a quick screening of other leaving groups, we discovered that trichloroacetimidate donor **6.9** offers an effective building blocks to glycosylate acceptor **6.7**.



Scheme 6.2. Convergent synthesis of acceptor 6.11.

Glycosyl donor 6.9 was prepared from thioglycoside precursor 6.5 that was first converted into the corresponding hemiacetal 6.8 in 83% over two steps involving the anomeric bromination with Br₂ in CH₂Cl₂ followed by hydrolysis of the bromide in the presence of Ag₂CO₃ in wet acetone. Next, installation of the trichloroacetimidate group was performed using trichloroacetonitirle (CCl₃CN) in the presence of 1,8diazabicylco[5.4.0]undec-7-ene (DBU) to afford lacto-N-biose trichloroacetimidate donor 6.9 in 87% yield. Glycosylation of acceptor 6.7 with donor 6.9 was conducted in the presence of catalytic TMSOTf and the desired tetrasaccharide 6.10 was obtained in a good yield of 83% with complete β -stereoselectivity. It is noteworthy that the corresponding glycosyl phosphate donor⁴ gave a comparable result in this application. However, the activation of the glycosyl phosphate donor demanded 2 equiv of TMSOTf along with prolonged reaction time. As a result, product 6.10 was contaminated with tetrasaccharide 6.11, which was the result of benzylidene cleavage. While this offers a possibility of obtaining 6.11 directly from disaccharide building blocks in one pot, we have not explored this potential advantage.

The deprotection of the 4',6'-O-benzylidene acetal in intermediate **6.10** was somewhat low-yielding in the presence of TFA in wet DCM, hence we did the reaction in the presence of TsOH and EtSH in MeOH/CH₂Cl₂, an approach adapted in our previous work.⁶ As a result, tetrasaccharide diol **6.11** was obtained in 87% yield.

Next, we attempted glycosylation of tetrasaccharide diol **6.11** with lactosamine thioglycoside donor **6.5**. Even glycosylation of this more accessible glycosyl acceptor was not as straightforward as we had hoped for. Standard reaction condition employing NIS/TfOH as promoters produced the desired hexasaccharide **6.12** in an unremarkable

yield of 57%. Although this result was a significant improvement in respect to our initial attempts to glycosylate acceptor 6.4, wherein the yields rarely exceeded 25%, we endeavored to pursue further improvement the outcome of this challenging reaction. With this intention, we identified the major side reactions hampering the yield of the product: fairly rapid hydrolysis of lactosamine donor 6.5 and the formation of the $1\rightarrow$ 4-linked hexasaccharide alongside the desired $1 \rightarrow 6$ -linked counterpart 6.12. The formation of somewhat unexpected $1 \rightarrow 4$ -linked hexasaccharide was the main reason we were unable to introduce lactosamine units at C-3 and C-6 positions concomitantly. To suppress these side reactions, we investigated milder promoters, dimethyl(thiomethyl)sulfonium triflate (DMTST)^{14,15} and NIS/AgOTf.¹⁶ The former promoter provided a comparable result that that achieved with NIS/TfOH. With the latter promoter, known for providing a slower release of the iodonium ion, minimal side products were observed. After careful refinement of the reaction conditions, we achieved the desired protected LNnH precursor 6.12 in a commendable yield of 82%. This result was obtained by conducting the reaction at -40 °C for 30 min, and then allowing the reaction temperature gradually increase over the course of the additional 30 min period.

With the protected intermediate **6.12** in hand, we then endeavored to carry out a series of deprotection steps to obtain the target LNnH hexasaccharide **6.1**. Deprotection of the phthalimido and ester groups was achieved by refluxing compound **6.12** with NH₂NH₂-H₂O in MeOH, followed by N-acetylation affected with acetic anhydride in MeOH/Et₃N to furnish hexasaccharide **6.13** in 92% yield. Finally, the benzyl groups were removed by hydrogenation in the presence of 10% palladium on charcoal in wet ethanol to obtain target LNnH **6.1** in 91% yield.



Lacto-N-neohexaose

Scheme 6.3. Convergent synthesis of LNnH 6.1 and LNnT 6.2.

We also performed deprotection of the key tetrasaccharide intermediate **6.11** to obtain LNnT **6.2**. This was achieved via deprotection of the phthalimido and ester groups in the presence of NH_2NH_2 - H_2O in refluxing MeOH followed by N-acetylation with acetic anhydride in MeOH to furnish partially protected tetrasaccharide intermediate **6.14** in 94% yield. Subsequently, benzyl ethers were removed by hydrogenation in the presence of 10% Pd/C in wet ethanol to afford LNnT **6.2** in 82% yield.

6.3. Conclusions

In summary, the first chemical synthesis of lacto-N-neohexaose has been completed using a convergent 2+2+2 strategy. This approach employed preassembled lactose and lactosamine building blocks. Along the way, we have also obtained the lacto-N-neotetraose core sequence. With expectation that new methods for reliable synthesis of individual HMO will boost practical applications of these important biomolecules, further synthetic studies of HMO are underway in our laboratory.

6.4. Experimental

6.4.1. General methods

Reactions were performed using commercial reagents and the ACS grade solvents were purified and dried according to standard procedures. Column chromatography was performed on silica gel 60 (70-230 mesh) and Sephadex G-25 size exclusion resin, reactions were monitored by TLC on Kieselgel 60 F₂₅₄. The compounds were detected by examination under UV light and by charring with 10% sulfuric acid in methanol. Solvents were removed under reduced pressure at <40 °C. CH₂Cl₂ was distilled from CaH₂ directly prior to application. Molecular sieves (3Å), used for reactions, were crushed and activated *in vacuo* at 390 °C during 8 h in the first instance and then for 2-3 h at 390 °C directly prior to application. AgOTf was co-evaporated with toluene (3 x 10 mL) and dried *in vacuo* for 2-3 h directly prior to application. Optical rotations were measured using a Jasco polarimeter. ¹H NMR spectra were recorded at 300 MHz or 600 MHz, and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded at 75 MHz or 151 MHz. The ¹H chemical shifts are referenced to the signal of the residual TMS ($\delta_{\rm H} = 0.00$ ppm) for solutions in CDCl₃ or the signal of the residual D₂O ($\delta_{\rm H}$ = 4.79 ppm) for solutions in D₂O. The ¹³C chemical shifts are referenced to the central signal of CDCl₃ ($\delta_{\rm C}$ = 77.16 ppm) for solutions in CDCl₃ or the central signal of CD₃COCD₃ $\delta_{\rm C}$ = 29.84 ppm) for solutions in D₂O. Accurate mass spectrometry determinations were performed using Agilent 6230 ESI TOF LCMS mass spectrometer

6.4.2. Synthesis of oligosaccharides 6.4, 6.8, 6.9, 6.11, 6.12

Benzyl O-(2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-O-(3,6-di-Obenzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1→3)-O-(2-O-benzoyl-4-Obenzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (6.4). Cu(OAc)₂-H₂O (15.3 mg, 0.084 mmol) was added to a solution of benzyl O-(2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(3,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2phthlimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-O-(2-O-benzoyl-4-O-benzyl-6-O-picoloyl- β -Dgalactopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -2,3,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside⁴ (6.3, 22.0 mg, 0.011 mmol) in MeOH/CH₂Cl₂ (3.0 mL, 1/3, v/v) and the resulting mixture was stirred for 20 min at rt. Next, the reaction mixture was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (~50 mL) was washed with H₂O (10 mL), sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL) and water (2 x 10 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (ethyl acetate - hexane gradient elution) to afford the title compound as an off-white amorphous solid in 97% yield (20.9 mg, 0.011 mmol). Analytical data for 6.4: $R_f = 0.60$ (ethyl acetate/hexane, 1/1, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{21} + 14.9$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 2.88 (m, 1H, J = 9.5 Hz, H-5), 3.09-3.63 (m, 15H, 2, 3, 3', 3''', 5', 5'', 5''', 6a, 6a', 6a'', 6a''', 6b, 6b', 6b'', 6b'''), 3.74-3.78 (m, 2H, H-4, 4'), 3.89-3.95 (dd, 1H, $J_{4'',5''}$ = 8.9 Hz, H-4''), 3.98 (d, 1H, $J_{3''',4'''}$ = 1.6 Hz, H-4'''), 4.14-4.30 (m, 9H, H-1, 1', 2", 3", 5 × CHPh), 4.42-4.59 (m, 7H, 7 × CHPh), 4.61-4.70 (m, 3H, H-1"', CH₂Ph), 4.79-4.82 (dd, 2H, CH₂Ph), 4.84-4.88 (dd, 2H, CH₂Ph), 4.98 (dd, 2H, CH₂Ph), 5.06 (d, 1H, $J_{1'',2''} = 8.4$ Hz, H-1"), 5.24 (dd, 1H, $J_{1',2'} = 8.2$, $J_{2',3'} = 9.9$ Hz, H-2'), 5.64 (dd, 1H, $J_{1'',2''} = 8.1$, $J_{2''',3'''} = 9.8$ Hz, H-2"), 6.57-8.12 (m, 64H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 56.1, 61.9, 67.5, 68.1, 68.5, 71.0, 71.4, 71.9, 72.5, 72.7, 73.4 (×2), 73.5, 73.6, 74.3, 74.5, 74.6, 74.7 (×2), 74.8, 74.9, 75.8, 76.0, 76.3, 77.0, 78.4, 79.8, 80.5, 81.4, 82.7, 99.7, 100.6, 101.2, 102.5, 122.8, 123.2, 126.7, 127.4 (×2), 127.5, 127.6 (×2), 127.7 (×3), 127.8 (×8), 127.9 (×5), 128.0 (×4), 128.1 (×5), 128.2 (×3), 128.3 (×6), 128.4 (×8), 128.5 (×4), 128.6 (×3), 128.9 (×2), 129.4, 129.7, 130.0, 130.1, 130.9, 131.5, 132.9, 133.2, 133.4, 137.6, 137.8, 138.0, 138.1, 138.2, 138.6, 138.8 (×2), 138.9, 164.4, 165.2, 167.3, 167.8 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₁₁₆H₁₁₃NNaO₂₄ 1927.7584, found 1927.7586.

O-(2-*O*-Benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2deoxy-2-phthalimido-D-glucopyranose (6.8). A freshly prepared solution of Br₂ in DCM (2.5 mL, 1/165, v/v) was added to a pre-chilled solution of ethyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-1-thioβ-D-glucopyranoside⁴ (6.5, 0.28 g, 0.27 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (4.0 mL) and the resulting mixture was stirred for 15 min at 0 °C. After that, the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. The residue was co-evaporated with CH₂Cl₂ (3 × 10 mL) and dried in *vacuo* for 2 h. The crude residue was dissolved in acetone (5.0 mL), water (0.25 mL) and Ag₂CO₃ (0.04 g, 0.14 mmol) were added, and the resulting mixture was stirred in the absence of light for 16 h at rt. After that, the solids were filtered-off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~150 mL) was concentrated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 83% yield (0.23 g, 0.22 mmol). Analytical data for β-**6.8**: R_f = 0.35 (acetone/toluene, 1/4, v/v); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 3.34 (d, 1H, J = 8.4 Hz, OH), 3.36-3.65 (m, 7H, H-3', 5, 5', 6a, 6a', 6b, 6b'), 3.97-4.08 (m, 3H, H-2, 4, 4'), 4.22-4.63 (m, 10H, $J_{1',2'}$ = 7.9 Hz, H-1', 3, 3 × CH₂Ph, 2 × CHPh), 4.91 (d, 1H, ²J = 12.1 Hz, CHPh), 4.97 (d, 1H, ²J = 11.6 Hz, CHPh), 5.19 (dd, 1H, $J_{1,2}$ = 8.4 Hz, H-1), 5.62 (dd, 1H, $J_{2',3'}$ = 10.1 Hz, H-2'), 6.73-7.99 (m, 34H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 57.6, 67.8, 68.2, 71.4 (×2), 72.5, 72.6, 73.4, 73.6 (×2), 74.6 (×2), 74.7, 77.4, 79.8, 93.0, 100.7, 123.6, 126.8, 127.5, 127.6 (×2), 127.8 (×7), 127.9 (×3), 128.0 (×2), 128.1 (×2), 128.2 (×2), 128.3, 128.4 (×2), 128.5 (×5), 129.1, 129.9 (×2), 130.0 (×2), 131.7, 133.2, 133.9, 137.8, 138.0, 138.1, 138.8, 139.0, 168.2 (×3) ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₆₂H₅₉NNaO₁₃ 1048.3884, found 1048.3875.

O-(2-*O*-Benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2deoxy-2-phthalimido-β-D-glucopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate (6.9). CCl₃CN (0.86 mL, 8.58 mmol) and DBU (5.63 µL, 0.04 mmol) were added to a solution of compound 6.8 (0.44 g, 0.43 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (8.0 mL) and the resulting mixture was stirred under argon for 1 h at rt. After that, the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 87% yield (0.43 g, 0.37 mmol). Analytical data for 6.9: R_f = 0.65 (acetone/toluene, 1/4, v/v); [α]_D²² +52.6 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 3.44-3.73 (m, 7H, H-3', 5, 5', 6a, 6a', 6b, 6b'), 4.01 (br d, 1H, $J_{3',4'} = 2.4$ Hz, H-4'), 4.16 (dd, 1H, $J_{3,4} = J_{4,5} = 8.8$ Hz, H-4), 4.27-4.75 (m, 11H, H-1', 2, 3, 4 × CH₂Ph), 4.92 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J = 12.2$ Hz, CHPh), 4.98 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J = 11.6$ Hz, CHPh), 5.65 (dd, 1H, $J_{1',2'} = 8.1$ Hz, $J_{2',3'} = 9.8$ Hz, H-2'), 6.28 (d, 1H, J = 8.5 Hz, H-1), 6.73-8.00 (m, 34H, aromatic), 8.46 (s, 1H, NH) ppm; ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 54.7, 67.2, 68.2, 71.4, 72.4, 72.7, 73.4, 73.5, 73.6, 74.6, 74.8, 75.4, 76.6, 76.9, 79.8, 90.5, 94.2, 100.6, 123.4 (×2), 125.4, 126.9, 127.4, 127.6 (×2), 127.7, 127.8 (×4), 127.9 (×3), 128.0 (×3), 128.2 (×4), 128.3, 128.4 (×2), 128.5 (×3), 128.6 (×2), 129.1, 129.9 (×3), 131.5, 133.2, 133.9, 137.8, 138.0, 138.2, 138.8 (×2), 160.9, 165.1, 167.6 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C_{64H58}C₁₃NNaO₁₄ 1193.2966, found 1193.2967.

Benzyl O-(2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(3,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-O-(2-O-benzoyl-4,6-O-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside

(6.10). A mixture of donor 6.9 (0.15 g, 0.13 mmol), acceptor 6.7⁶ (0.09 g, 0.01 mmol), and freshly activated molecular sieves (3 Å, 450 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (5.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 2 h at rt. The mixture was cooled to -30 °C, TMSOTf (5.50 μ L, 0.03 mmol) was added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 10 min while the reaction temperature was allowed to increase gradually. After that, the solids were filtered-off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~50 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL) and water (2 x 10 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 83% yield (0.21 g, 0.11 mmol). Analytical data for 6.10: R_f
= 0.55 (acetone/toluene, 1/4, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{22}$ +7.9 (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 2.92-3.00 (m, 2H, H-5, 5'), 3.28-3.65 (m, 13H, H-2, 3, 3', 3''', 4', 5'', 5''', 6a, 6a'', 6a''', 6b, 6b'', 6b'''), 3.78-3.89 (m, 2H, H-4, 4''), 4.01 (br s, 1H, H-4'''), 4.09 (br d, 1H, J = 11.9Hz, H-6a'), 4.12-4.28 (m, 6H, H-2", 3", 6b', 3 × CHPh), 4.29-4.34 (m, 3H, H-1, CH₂Ph), 4.39 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 11.5 Hz, CHPh), 4.45-4.59 (m, 5H, H-1', 2 × CH₂Ph), 4.63- 4.72 (m, 4H, H-1"", $3 \times CHPh$), 4.81-4.89 (m, 3H, $3 \times CHPh$), 5.01 (dd, 2H, CH_2Ph), 5.20 (d, 1H, J =7.6 Hz, H-1"), 5.26-5.32 (dd, 1H, $J_{2',3'} = 8.7$ Hz, H-2'), 5.39 (s, 1H, >CHPh), 5.64-5.71 (dd, 1H, $J_{2'',3''} = 8.7$ Hz, H-2'''), 6.72-8.13 (m, 64H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 55.6, 66.7, 68.0, 68.2, 68.6, 69.2, 71.0, 71.1, 71.5, 72.6, 72.8, 73.3, 73.5, 73.6 (×2), 74.3, 74.6 (×4), 74.9, 75.3, 75.6, 75.7, 77.0, 78.5, 79.0, 80.0, 81.8, 83.1, 99.6, 100.6, 100.8, 101.2, 102.5, 126.4 (×2), 126.7, 127.1, 127.5 (×4), 127.7 (×6), 127.8 (×3), 127.9 (×7), 128.0 (×6), 128.1 (×6), 128.2 (×3), 128.3 (×6), 128.4 (×5), 128.5 (×5), 128.6 (×4), 129.4, 129.5 (×2), 130.0, 130.1 (×2), 132.7, 133.3 (×2), 137.6, 137.8, 138.0, 138.1, 138.2, 138.4, 138.7, 138.8 (×2), 139.2, 164.1, 165.2 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+2Na]⁺² calcd for C₁₁₆H₁₁₁NNa₂O₂₄ 974.3662, found 974.3644.

Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1→3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-glucopyranoside (6.11). TsOH (10.8 mg, 0.06 mmol) and EtSH (38 μ L, 0.54 mmol) were added to a solution of compound 6.10 (0.17 g, 0.09 mmol) in MeOH/CH₂Cl₂ (7.0 mL, 1/1, v/v). and the resulting mixture was stirred for 3 h at rt. The reaction was then quenched with triethylamine (~0.5 mL) and the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column

chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white amorphous solid in 87% yield (0.14 g, 0.08 mmol). Analytical data for 6.11: $R_f = 0.50$ (acetone/toluene, 1/4 v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{22} + 36.1$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 2.85 (br s, 1H, H-5'), 2.95 (br d, 1H, J = 9.6 Hz, H-5), 3.21-3.65 (m, 14H, H-2, 3, 3', 3''', 5'', 5''', 6a, 6a', 6a'', 6a''', 6b, 6b', 6b'', 6b'''), 3.80 (dd, 1H, $J_{4,5} = 9.3$ Hz, H-4), 3.85 (dd, 1H, $J_{4'',5''} = 9.0$ Hz, H-4''), 3.90 (s, 1H, H-4'), 4.00 (s, 1H, H-4'''), 4.10-4.59 (m, 14H, H-1, 1', 2", 3", $5 \times CH_2Ph$), 4.61-4.71 (m, 4H, H-1"', $3 \times CHPh$), 4.80-4.87 (m, 3H, 3 × CHPh), 4.90 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 10.3 Hz, CHPh), 4.97 (d, 1H, ${}^{2}J$ = 11.7 Hz, CHPh), 5.13 9.6 Hz, H-2"), 6.66-8.07 (m, 59H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 55.5, 62.0, 67.6, 68.2, 68.3, 68.4, 71.0, 71.1, 71.5, 72.6, 72.7, 73.4 (×2), 73.6 (×3), 74.3 (×2), 74.6, 74.7, 74.8, 74.9, 75.7, 76.4, 78.3, 79.8, 81.4, 81.6, 82.7, 99.0, 100.3, 101.2, 102.5, 126.8, 127.5 (×3), 127.6, 127.7 (×3), 127.8 (×8), 127.9 (×6), 128.0 (×2), 128.1 (×3), 128.2 (×7), 128.3 (×6), 128.4 (×6), 128.5 (×3), 128.6 (×7), 129.2, 129.4, 130.0 (×2), 132.7, 133.4, 137.6, 137.7, 138.0 (×2), 138.2, 138.6, 138.7, 138.8, 138.9, 164.2, 165.2 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+2Na]⁺²calcd for C₁₀₉H₁₀₇NNa₂O₂₄ 930.3506, found 930.3489.

Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1→3)-[*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1→6)]-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-glucopyranoside (6.12). A mixture of donor 6.5⁴ (38.3 mg, 0.035 mmol), acceptor 6.11 (50.0 mg, 0.0275 mmol), and freshly activated molecular

sieves (3 Å, 100 mg) in CH₂Cl₂ (4.0 mL) was stirred under argon for 2 h at rt. The mixture was then cooled to -40 °C, NIS (12.3 mg, 0.055 mmol) and freshly conditioned AgOTf (3.5 mg, 0.013 mmol) were added, and the resulting mixture was stirred for 30 min at -40 °C. After that, the reaction mixture was stirred for additional 30 min during which the reaction temperature was allowed to increase gradually. The solids were then filtered-off and rinsed successively with CH₂Cl₂. The combined filtrate (~50 mL) was washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL), Na₂S₂O₃ (10 mL), and water (2 x 10 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as a white foam in 82% yield (63.6 mg, 0.0227 mmol). Analytical data for 6.12: $R_f = 0.60$ (acetone/toluene, 1/4 v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{22} + 34.5$ (c 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 3.93 (m, 1H, OH), 4.78 (br s, 1H, H-5^B), 5.00 (m, 1H, H-5^E), 5.06 (m, 1H, J = 9.3 Hz, H-5^C), 5.24-5.72 (m, 22H, H-2^A, 3^B, 3^D, 3^F, 4^A, 4^B, 4^E, 5^A, 5^D, 5^F, 6a^A, $6a^{B}, 6a^{C}, 6a^{D}, 6a^{E}, 6a^{F}, 6b^{A}, 6b^{B}, 6b^{C}, 6b^{D}, 6b^{E}, 6b^{F}), 5.78 (dd, 1H, J = 8.7, 10.7 Hz, H-3^{E}),$ 5.91-6.15 (m, 9H, H-2^C, 2^E, 3^A, 3^C, 4^C, 4^D, 4^F, CH₂Ph), 6.28-6.39 (m, 7H, H-1^A, 1^F, 5 × CHPh), 6.43-6.61 (m, 14H, 1^{B} , 1^{D} , 1^{E} , $11 \times$ CHPh), 6.66-6.69 (dd, 2H, CH₂Ph), 6.77 (dd, 2H, CH₂Ph), 6.83-6.89 (m, 4H, $2 \times CH_2$ Ph), 6.96 (d, 1H, $J_{1C,2C}$ = 8.4 Hz, H-1C), 7.01 (dd, 2H, CH₂Ph), 7.24 (dd, 1H, $J_{1B,2B} = 8.3$, $J_{2B,3B} = 9.5$ Hz, H-2^B), 7.66-7.69 (m, 2H, H-2^D, 2^F), 8.77-10.14 (m, 93H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 55.2, 55.6, 64.6, 65.9, 67.3, 67.9, 68.1, 68.2, 70.6, 71.0, 71.2, 71.4 (×2), 72.4, 72.5, 72.6, 72.7, 73.3, 73.4, 73.5, 73.6 (×5), 73.7, 73.8, 74.2, 74.3, 74.6 (×2), 74.7 (×3), 75.0, 75.6, 75.9, 76.3, 77.1, 77.3, 79.8, 81.6, 81.9, 82.8, 97.3, 97.9, 100.2, 100.6 (×2), 102.5, 123.2, 123.9, 126.9 (×2), 127.4 (×2), 127.5 (×2), 127.6 (×2), 127.7 (×3), 127.8 (×11), 127.9 (×12), 128.1 (×5), 128.2

(×6), 128.3 (×9), 128.4 (×8), 128.5 (×10), 128.6 (×8), 129.0, 129.2, 129.4, 129.9 (×2), 130.0 (×2), 130.9, 131.2 (×2), 131.9, 132.5, 133.1, 133.4, 133.7, 133.9, 134.6 (×3), 137.7, 137.9, 138.0, 138.1, 138.2 (×2), 138.4, 138.7, 138.8 (×3), 138.9, 139.0, 164.0, 165.2, 165.4, 166.6, 167.0, 168.0, 168.1 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₁₇₁H₁₆₄N₂NaO₃₆ 2845.0995, found 2845.0944.

6.4.3. Deprotection of oligosaccharides 6.11 and 6.12

Benzyl O-(3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-

benzyl-2-deoxy-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1→3)-[O-(3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl-β-D-

galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-β-D-

glucopyranosyl)-(1→6)]-O-(β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-2,3,6-tri-O-benzyl-β-D-

glucopyranoside (6.13). Compound **6.12** (72.0 mg, 0.025 mmol) was dissolved in NH₂NH₂-H₂O/MeOH (3.0 mL, 1/2, v/v), and the resulting mixture was kept for 36 h at reflux. After that, the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. The residue was dissolved in MeOH/CH₂Cl₂ (~5 mL, 1/9, v/v) and filtered through a pad of silica gel eluting with MeOH/CH₂Cl₂ (1/9, v/v). The combined eluate (~50 mL) was concentrated under reduced pressure and dried in *vacuo* for 3 h. The crude residue was dissolved in Ac₂O/MeOH/Et₃N (2.0 mL, 1/1/0.1, v/v/v) and the resulting mixture was stirred for 12 h at rt. The volatiles were then removed under reduced pressure. The residue was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (~50 mL), and washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL) and brine (2 x 10 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone - toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as an off-white amorphous solid in

92% yield (54.7 mg, 0.023 mmol). Analytical data for **6.13**: R_f = 0.60 (acetone/toluene, 2/3, v/v); [α]_D²⁴ +11.8 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); 1.74, 1.78 (2 s, 6H, 2 x COCH₃), 2.96-3.97 (m, 36H, H-2^A, 2^B, 2^C, 2^D, 2^E, 2^F, 3^A, 3^B, 3^C, 3^D, 3^E, 3^F, 4^A, 4^B, 4^C, 4^D, 4^E, 4^F, 5^A, 5^B, 5^C, 5^D, 5^E, 5^F, 6a^A, 6a^B, 6a^C, 6a^D, 6a^E, 6a^F, 6b^A, 6b^B, 6b^C, 6b^D, 6b^E, 6b^F), 4.20-4.98 (m, 34H, H-1^A, 1^B, 1^C, 1^D, 1^E, 1^F, 14 x CH₂Ph), 5.34, 5.62 (2 d, 2H, 2 x NH), 7.12-7.38 (m, 70H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ, 23.6, 23.7, 55.4, 56.0, 67.8, 68.0, 68.2 (×2), 68.6, 68.7, 70.8, 71.2, 71.9, 72.2, 72.3 (×3), 72.9, 73.0, 73.3, 73.4 (×4), 73.5 (×6), 73.9, 74.0, 74.3, 74.6, 74.7, 74.8, 75.0, 75.1, 75.6, 76.8, 77.0, 79.6, 80.3, 81.9, 82.4, 83.4, 101.0, 101.3, 102.7, 102.8, 103.3, 103.4, 127.2, 127.5 (×2) 127.6 (×4), 127.7 (×6), 127.8 (×6), 127.9 (×8), 128.0 (×12), 128.2 (×5), 128.3 (×3), 128.4 (×6), 128.5 (×15), 128.6 (×2), 137.5, 137.8, 137.9, 138.0 (×2), 138.1, 138.2, 138.4 (×2), 138.8 (×2), 139.0, 139.1, 139.2, 170.3, 171.2 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺calcd for C₁₃₈H₁₅₂N₂NaO₃₁ 2357.0310, found 2357.0316.

O-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)-O-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-

(1→3)-[O-(β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-O-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy-β-D-

glucopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 6)$]-*O*- $(\beta$ -D-galactopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ - β -D-glucopyranose (6.1, LNnH). 10% Pd on charcoal (200 mg) was added to a solution of 6.13 (70.0 mg, 0.030 mmol) in EtOH/H₂O (7.0 mL, 4/1, v/v), and the resulting mixture was stirred under hydrogen atmosphere for 24 h at rt. After that, the solids were filtered off and rinsed successively with methanol and water. The combined filtrate (~50 mL) was concentrated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by size-exclusion chromatography on Sephadex G-25 (water elution) to afford the title compound as a white amorphous solid in 91% yield (29.2 mg, 0.027 mmol). Selected analytical data for 6.1:¹² R_f = 0.50

(chloroform/methanol/water, 2/1/0.4, v/v/v); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, D₂O): δ , 1.99, 2.02 (2 s, 6H, COCH₃), 3.25 (dd, 1H, *J* = 8.1, 9.1 Hz), 3.47-3.59 (m, 9H), 3.61-3.64 (m, 2H), 3.65-3.84 (m, 22H), 3.92 (m, 7H), 4.11 (d, 1H, *J* = 3.3 Hz), 4.39 (d, 1H, *J* = 7.9 Hz), 4.43 (m, 2H), 4.59 (d, 1H, *J* = 7.9 Hz), 4.62 (d, 1H, *J* = 8.0 Hz), 4.66 (d, 1H, *J* = 8.3 Hz), 5.18 (d, 0.5H, *J* = 3.7 Hz) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, D₂O): δ , 22.5, 22.8, 55.3, 55.5, 60.2 (×2), 60.4, 61.4, 68.7, 68.9, 69.0, 70.2 (×2), 70.3, 71.3, 71.5, 71.7, 72.5, 72.8 (×2), 73.8 (×2), 74.2, 74.7, 74.9, 75.0, 75.1, 75.7, 78.4, 78.6, 79.2, 79.3, 82.1, 92.1, 96.0, 101.3, 103.1, 103.2 (×2), 103.3, 174.9, 175.2 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+H]⁺calcd for C₄₀H₆₉N₂O₃₁ 1073.3884, found 1073.3859.

Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-(1→3)-*O*-(β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-glucopyranoside (6.14). Compound 6.11 (47.0 mg, 0.026 mmol) was dissolved in NH₂NH₂-H₂O/MeOH (2.5 mL, 1/4, v/v), and the resulting mixture was kept for 24 h at reflux. After that, the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. The

for 24 h at reflux. After that, the volatiles were removed under reduced pressure. The residue was dissolved in MeOH/CH₂Cl₂ (~5 mL, 1/9, v/v) and filtered through a pad of silica gel eluting with MeOH/CH₂Cl₂ (1/9, v/v). The combined eluate (~50 mL) was concentrated under reduced pressure and dried in *vacuo* for 3 h. The crude residue was dissolved in Ac₂O/MeOH (2.0 mL, 1/1, v/v), and the resulting mixture was stirred for 12 h at rt. The volatiles were then removed under reduced pressure. The residue was diluted with CH₂Cl₂ (~50 mL) and washed with sat. aq. NaHCO₃ (10 mL) and brine (2 x 10 mL). The organic phase was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (acetone -

toluene gradient elution) to afford the title compound as an off-white amorphous solid in 94% yield (37.0 mg, 0.024 mmol). Analytical data for **6.14**: $R_f = 0.65$ (acetone/toluene, 2/3, v/v); $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ +20.4 (*c* 1.0, CHCl₃); ¹H NMR (600 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 1.73 (s, 3H, COCH₃), 2.85-4.01 (m, 24H, H-2, 2', 2'', 2''', 3, 3', 3'', 4, 4', 4'', 4''', 5, 5', 5'', 5''', 6a, 6a', 6a'', 6a''', 6b, 6b', 6b'', 6b'''), 4.30 (dd, 2H, ²*J* = 11.7 Hz, *CH*₂Ph), 4.43-4.61 (m, 9H, H-1, 1', 1''', 3 x *CH*₂Ph), 4.62-4.71 (m, 4H, 2 x *CH*₂Ph), 4.82-4.95 (m, 7H, H-1'', 3 x *CH*₂Ph), 5.64 (d, 1H, *J* = 7.5 Hz, NH), 7.19-7.37 (m, 45H, aromatic) ppm; ¹³C NMR (151 MHz, CDCl₃): δ , 23.6, 56.7, 62.6, 68.3, 68.6, 68.7, 68.8, 70.9, 71.3, 71.9, 72.4, 72.8, 73.4, 73.6 (×2), 73.7, 74.1, 74.3 (×2), 74.7, 74.8, 75.0, 75.1, 75.3, 77.1, 79.6, 82.0, 82.1, 82.9, 83.1, 101.5, 102.8 (×2), 103.4, 127.5 (×3), 127.6 (×2), 127.8 (×4), 127.9, 128.0 (×15), 128.3 (×6), 128.4 (×5), 128.5 (×7), 128.6 (×2), 137.6, 137.8, 137.9, 138.1 (×2), 138.4, 138.8 (×2), 139.0, 171.3 ppm; ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₈₉H₉₉NNaO₂₁ 1540.6607, found 1540.6625.

O-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)-O-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-

(1→3)-*O*-(β-D-galactopyranosyl)-(1→4)-D-glucopyranose (6.2, LNnT). 10% Pd on charcoal (75 mg) was added to a solution of 6.14 (30.0 mg, 0.019 mmol) in EtOH/H₂O (4.0 mL, 4/1, v/v), and the resulting mixture was stirred under hydrogen atmosphere for 24 h at rt. After that, the solids were filtered off and rinsed successively with methanol and water. The combined filtrate (~50 mL) was concentrated under reduced pressure. The residue was purified by size exclusion chromatography on Sephadex G-25 (water elution) to afford the title compound as a white amorphous solid in 82% yield (11.0 mg, 0.015 mmol). Analytical data for 6.2 was in agreement with that reported previously:⁴ R_f = 0.30

(chloroform/methanol/water, 2/1/0.4, v/v/v); ESI TOF LCMS [M+Na]⁺ calcd for C₂₆H₄₅NNaO₂₁ 730.2382, found 730.2381.

6.5. References

(1) Chen, X. Human Milk Oligosaccharides (HMOS): Structure, Function, and Enzyme-Catalyzed Synthesis. *Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem.* **2015**, *72*, 113-190.

(2) Bode, L. Human milk oligosaccharides: every baby needs a sugar mama. *Glycobiology* **2012**, *22*, 1147-1162.

Prudden, A. R.; Liu, L.; Capicciotti, C. J.; Wolfert, M. A.; Wang, S.; Gao,
Z.; Meng, L.; Moremen, K. W.; Boons, G. J. Synthesis of asymmetrical multiantennary
human milk oligosaccharides. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* 2017, *114*, 6954-6959.

(4) Bandara, M. D.; Stine, K. J.; Demchenko, A. V. The chemical synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides: lacto-N-neotetraose (Galβ1-4GlcNAcβ1-3Galβ1-4Glc).
 Carbohydr. Res. 2019, 483, 107743.

(5) Bandara, M. D.; Stine, K. J.; Demchenko, A. V. The chemical synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides: lacto-N-tetraose (Galβ1-3GlcNAcβ1-3Galβ1-4Glc). *Carbohydr. Res.* **2019**, *486*, 107824.

(6) Bandara, M. D.; Stine, K. J.; Demchenko, A. V. The chemical synthesis of human milk oligosaccharides: lacto-N-hexaose Galβ1-3GlcNAcβ1-3[Galβ1-4GlcNAcβ1-6]Galβ1-4Glc. *Submitted* 2019.

(7) Dua, V. K.; Goso, K.; Dube, V. E.; Bush, C. A. Charaterization of lacto-N-hexaose and two fucosylated derivatives from human milk by high-performance liquid chromatography and proton NMR spectroscopy. *J. Chromatogr.* **1985**, *328*, 259-269. (8) Aly, M. R. E.; Ibrahim, E. S. I.; El Ashry, E. S. H.; Schmidt, R. R.

Synthesis of lacto-N-neotetraose and lacto-N-tetraose using the dimethylmaleoyl group as amino protective group. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1999**, *316*, 121-132.

(9) Yan, F.; Wakarchuk, W. W.; Gilbert, M.; Richards, J. C.; Whitfield, D. M.
 Polymer-supported and chemoenzymatic synthesis of the Neisseria meningitidis
 pentasaccharide: a methodological comparison. *Carbohydr. Res.* 2000, *328*, 3-16.

(10) Prudden, A. R.; Chinoy, Z. S.; Wolfert, M. A.; Boons, G. J. A multifunctional anomeric linker for the chemoenzymatic synthesis of complex oligosaccharides. *Chem. Commun.* **2014**, *50*, 7132-7135.

(11) Rich, J. R.; Cunningham, A.-M.; Gilbert, M.; Withers, S. G.
Glycosphingolipid synthesis employing a combination of recombinant
glycosyltransferases and an endoglycoceramidase glycosynthase. *Chem. Commun.* 2011, 47, 10806-10808.

(12) Xiao, Z.; Guo, Y.; Liu, Y.; Li, L.; Zhang, Q.; Wen, L.; Wang, X.;
Kondengaden, S. M.; Wu, Z.; Zhou, J.; Cao, X.; Li, X.; Ma, C.; Wang, P. G.
Chemoenzymatic Synthesis of a Library of Human Milk Oligosaccharides. *J. Org. Chem.* **2016**, *81*, 5851-5865.

(13) Roussel, F.; Takhi, M.; Schmidt, R. R. Solid-phase synthesis of a branched hexasaccharide using a highly efficient synthetic strategy. *J. Org. Chem.* **2001**, *66*, 8540-8548.

(14) Ravenscroft, M.; Roberts, R. M. G.; Tillett, J. G. The reaction of some cyclic and open-chain disulphides with methyl trifluoromethanesulphonate. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* 2 **1982**, 1569-1972.

(15) Andersson, F.; Fugedi, P.; Garegg, P. J.; Nashed, M. Synthesis of 1,2-cis-

linked glycosides using dimethyl(methylthio)sulfonium triflate as promoter and thioglycosides as glycosyl donors. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1986**, *27*, 3919-3922.

(16) Konradsson, P.; Udodong, U. E.; Fraser-Reid, B. Iodonium promoted reactions of disarmed thioglycosides. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1990**, *31*, 4313-4316.

APPENDIX





Figure A-1: ¹H NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (**2.5**)



Figure A-2: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (2.5)



CDCl₃ 300 MHz **Figure A-3:** 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Ethyl 2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (**2.5**)



Figure A-4: ¹H NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2,6-di-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (**2.6**)



Figure A-5: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2,6-di-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (**2.6**)



Figure A-6: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Ethyl 2,6-di-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (**2.6**)



Figure A-8: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2,6-di-*O*-benzoyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (**2.8**)



Figure A-9: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Ethyl 2,6-di-*O*-benzoyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (**2.8**)



Figure A-10: ¹H NMR spectrum of Ethyl 6-*O*-benzoyl-2-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (**2.9**)



Figure A-11: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Ethyl 6-*O*-benzoyl-2-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-*tert*-butyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (**2.9**)



CDCl₃ 300 MHz

Figure A-12: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Ethyl 6-*O*-benzoyl-2-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-*tert*-butyldimethylsilyl-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (**2.9**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-13: ¹H NMR spectrum of Methyl 6-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl-α-D-glucopyranoside (**2.10**)



Figure A-14: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Methyl 6-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-*tert*-butyldimethylsilyl- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (**2.10**)



Figure A-15: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Methyl 6-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4di-*O*-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl-α-Dglucopyranoside (**2.10**)



Figure A-16: ¹H NMR spectrum of Methyl 6-*O*-(2,6-di-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl- α/β -D-glucopyranosyl)-2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (**2.11**)



Figure A-17: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Methyl 6-*O*-(2,6-di-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tert-butyldimethylsilyl- α/β -D-glucopyranosyl)-2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (**2.11**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz **Figure A-18:** 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Methyl 6-O-(2,6-di-O-benzyl-3,4-di-O-tertbutyldimethylsilyl- α/β -D-glucopyranosyl)-2,3,4-tri-O-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (**2.11**)



Figure A-19: ¹H NMR spectrum of Methyl 6-*O*-(2,6-di-*O*-benzoyl-3,4-di-*O*-*tert*-butyldimethylsilyl-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl-α-D-glucopyranoside (**2.13**)



Figure A-20: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Methyl 6-*O*-(2,6-di-*O*-benzoyl-3,4-di-*O*-tert-butyldimethylsilyl-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl-α-D-glucopyranoside (**2.13**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz **Figure A-21:** 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Methyl 6-*O*-(2,6-di-*O*-benzoyl-3,4-di-*O tert*-butyldimethylsilyl-β-D-glucopyranosyl)-2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl-α-D-glucopyranoside (**2.13**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-22: ¹H NMR spectrum of Methyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)-*O*-(2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α/β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)-2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzoyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (**2.16**)



CDCl₃ 150MHz

Figure A-23: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Methyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)-*O*-(2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α/β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)-2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzoyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (**2.16**)



Figure A-24: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Methyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O-tert*-butyldimethylsilyl- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)-*O*-(2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α/β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)-2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzoyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (**2.16**)



Figure A-25: ¹H NMR spectrum of Methyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)-*O*-(2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α/β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzoyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (**2.18**)



Figure A-26: ¹³C NMR spectrum of 3 Methyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)-*O*-(2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α/β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzoyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (**2.18**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-27: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Methyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O-tert*-butyldimethylsilyl- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)-*O*-(2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α/β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzoyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (**2.18**)



Figure A-28: ¹H NMR spectrum of Methyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)-*O*-(2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α/β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3-di-*O*-benzoyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (**2.20**)



Figure A-29: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Methyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O*-tertbutyldimethylsilyl- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)-*O*-(2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α/β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3-di-*O*-benzoyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (**2.20**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-30: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Methyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl-3,4-di-*O-tert*-butyldimethylsilyl- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)-*O*-(2,3,4-tri-*O*-benzyl- α/β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3-di-*O*-benzoyl-6-*O*-benzyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (**2.20**)



Figure A-31: ¹H NMR spectrum of *O*-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-D-glucopyranose (**3.1**, LNnT)



 $D_2O\,151\;MHz$

Figure A-32: ¹³C NMR spectrum of *O*-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)-D-glucopyranose (**3.1**, LNnT)



Figure A-33: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of *O*-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)-D-glucopyranose (**3.1**, LNnT)


Figure A-34: ¹H NMR spectrum of Ethyl O-(2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-4,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (**3.2**)



Figure A-35: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Ethyl O-(2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-4,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (**3.2**)



CDCl₃ 300 MHz

Figure A-36: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Ethyl O-(2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-4,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (3.2)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-37: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**3.3**)



Figure A-38: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**3.3**)



Figure A-39: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**3.3**)



3.6



Figure A-40: ¹H NMR spectrum of Ethyl 2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-3-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-6-*O*-picoloyl-1-thio-β-D-galactopyranoside (**3.6**)



Figure A-41: ¹³C NMR spectrum of spectrum of Ethyl 2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-3-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-6-*O*-picoloyl-1-thio-β-D-galactopyranoside (**3.6**)



Figure A-42: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of spectrum of Ethyl 2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-3-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-6-*O*-picoloyl-1-thio-β-D-galactopyranoside (**3.6**)



Figure A-43: ¹H NMR spectrum of Di-*O*-butyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl phosphate (**3.11**)



Figure A-44: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Di-*O*-butyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl phosphate (**3.11**)



Figure A-45: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Di-*O*-butyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl phosphate (3.11)



Figure A-46: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**3.12**)



galactopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -O-(3,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ -O-(2-O-benzyl-4-O-benzyl-6-O-picoloyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -2,3,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**3.12**)



Figure A-48: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**3.12**)



Figure A-49: ¹H NMR spectrum of Ethyl 3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-4-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-2-phthalimido-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (**3.13**)



Figure A-50: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Ethyl 3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-4-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-2-phthalimido-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (**3.13**)



CDCl₃ 300 MHz

Figure A-51: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Ethyl 3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-4-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-2-phthalimido-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (**3.13**)





CDCl₃75 MHz

Figure A-53: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Di-*O*-butyl 3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-4-*O*-fluorenylmethoxy-carbonyl-2-phthalimido-β-D-glucopyranosyl phosphate (**3.14**)





CDCl₃ 300 MHz

Figure A-54: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Di-*O*-butyl 3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-4-*O*-fluorenylmethoxy-carbonyl-2-phthalimido-β-D-glucopyranosyl phosphate (**3.14**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-55: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -Dgalactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**3.16**)



CDCl₃ 151 MHz **Figure A-56:** ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -D-

galactopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (3.16)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-57: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -D-glacopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**3.16**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-58: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**3.17**)



Figure A-59: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**3.17**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-60: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**3.17**)



Figure A-61: ¹H NMR spectrum of *O*-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)-D-glucopyranose (**4.1, LNT**)



Figure A-62: ¹³C NMR spectrum of *O*-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)-D-glucopyranose (**4.1, LNT**)



 $D_2O\,600\;MHz$

Figure A-63: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of *O*-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)-D-glucopyranose (**4.1**, **LNT**)



CDCl₃ 300 MHz

Figure A-64: ¹H NMR spectrum of Ethyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (**4.2**)



Figure A-65: ¹³C NMR spectrum of of Ethyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (**4.2**)



Figure A-66: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of of Ethyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido-1-thio- β -D-glucopyranoside (**4.2**)



CDCl₃ 300 MHz

Figure A-67: ¹H NMR spectrum of Di-*O*-butyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl phosphate (**4.10**)



 $CDCl_{3}\,75\;MHz$

Figure A-68: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Di-*O*-butyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl phosphate (**4.10**)



CDCl₃ 300 MHz

Figure A-69: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Di-*O*-butyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl phosphate (**4.10**)



Figure A-70: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthlimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**4.11**)



Figure A-71: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthlimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**4.11**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-72: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthlimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**4.11**)



Figure A-73: ¹H NMR spectrum of Ethyl 4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-3-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-2-phthalimido-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (**4.12**)



Figure A-74: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Ethyl 4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-3-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-2-phthalimido-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (**4.12**)



Figure A-75: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Ethyl 4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-3-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-2-phthalimido-1-thio-β-D-glucopyranoside (**4.12**)





Figure A-77: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Di-*O*-butyl 4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-3-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-2-phthalimido-β-D-glucopyranosyl phosphate (**4.13**)



4.13



CDCl₃ 300 MHz

Figure A-78: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Di-*O*-butyl 4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-3-*O*-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl-2-phthalimido-β-D-glucopyranosyl phosphate (**4.13**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-79: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -D-glacopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**4.15**)



Figure A-80: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -Dgalactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**4.15**)





Figure A-81: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl-6-*O*-picoloyl- β -D-glactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**4.15**)



Figure A-82: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**4.16**)



Figure A-83: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**4.16**)


CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-84: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**4.16**)



Figure A-85: ¹H NMR spectrum of *O*-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-[*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 6$)]-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)- β -D-glucopyranose (**5.1**)



Figure A-86: ¹³C NMR spectrum of *O*-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-[*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 6$)]-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)- β -D-glucopyranose (**5.1**)



Figure A-87: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of *O*-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 3$)-[*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 6$)]-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-($1 \rightarrow 4$)- β -D-glucopyranose (**5.1**)



Figure A-88: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.4**)



Figure A-89: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.4**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-90: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.4**)



Figure A-91: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.9**)



Figure A-92: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.9**)



CDCl₃ 300 MHz

Figure A-93: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.9**)



Figure A-94: ¹H NMR spectrum of *O*-(2-*O*-Benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate (**5.12**)



CDCl₃75 MHz

Figure A-95: ¹³C NMR spectrum of *O*-(2-*O*-Benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate (**5.12**)



CDCl₃ 300 MHz

Figure A-96: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of *O*-(2-*O*-Benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate (**5.12**)



Figure A-97: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.13**)



CDCl₃151 MHz

Figure A-98: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.13**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-99: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.13**)



Figure A-100: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.14**)



Figure A-101: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.14**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-102: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.14**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-103: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.15**)



galactopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ -O-(4,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ -[O-(2-O-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -O-(3,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 6)$]-O-(2-O-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)- $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ -2,3,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (5.15)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-105: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.15**)



Figure A-106: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-amino-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-amino-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.16**)



Figure A-107: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-amino-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-amino-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.16**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-108: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-amino-4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-amino-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.16**)



Figure A-109: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.17**)



Figure A-110: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.17**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-111: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.17**)



Figure A-112: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \Rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \Rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \Rightarrow 4)-O-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \Rightarrow 4)]-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \Rightarrow 4)-O-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl)-(1 \Rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \Rightarrow 4)]-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \Rightarrow 4)-C(2-*O*-benzoyl)- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \Rightarrow 4)-C(2-*O*-benzoyl)-(2-*O*-benzoyl)-(2-*O*-benzoyl)-(2-*O*-benzoyl)-(2-*O*-benzoyl)-(2-*O*-benzoyl)-(2-*O*-benzoyl)-(2-*O*-benzoyl)-(2-*O*-benzoyl)-(2-*O*-benzoyl)-(2-*O*-benzoyl)-(2-*O*-benzoyl)-(2-*O*-benzoyl)-(2-*O*-benzoyl)-(2-*O*-benzoyl)-(2-*O*-b



Figure A-113: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)]-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.18**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-114: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(4,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-O-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)]-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**5.18**)



D₂O 600 MHz

Figure A-115: ¹H NMR spectrum of *O*-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)- β -D-glucopyranose (**6.1**)



Figure A-116: ¹³C NMR spectrum of *O*-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)- β -D-glucopyranose (**6.1**)



D₂O 600 MHz

Figure A-117: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of *O*-(β -D-Galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)- β -D-glucopyranose (**6.1**)



Figure A-118: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**6.4**)



Figure A-119: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**6.4**)



Figure A-120: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**6.4**)



Figure A-121: ¹H NMR spectrum of *O*-(2-*O*-Benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate (**6.9**)



Figure A-122: ¹³C NMR spectrum of *O*-(2-*O*-Benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate (**6.9**)



Figure A-123: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of *O*-(2-*O*-Benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl trichloroacetimidate (**6.9**)






CDCl₃151 MHz

Figure A-125: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**6.10**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-126: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-4,6-*O*-benzylidene- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (6.10)



Figure A-127: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (6.11)



Figure A-128: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (6.11)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-129: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (6.11)



Figure A-130: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**6.12**)



Figure A-131: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**6.12**)



Figure A-132: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl-3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy-2-phthalimido- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-*O*-(2-*O*-benzoyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**6.12**)



Figure A-133: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**6.13**)



Figure A-134: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**6.13**)



CDCl₃ 600 MHz

Figure A-135: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-[*O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 6)]-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**6.13**)



Figure A-136: ¹H NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**6.14**)



Figure A-137: ¹³C NMR spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-*O*-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-*O*-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 3)-*O*-(β -D-galactopyranosyl)-(1 \rightarrow 4)-2,3,6-tri-*O*-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**6.14**)



Figure A-138: 2-D NMR COSY spectrum of Benzyl *O*-(3,4,6-tri-*O*-benzyl-β-D-

galactopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -O-(2-acetamido-3,6-di-O-benzyl-2-deoxy- β -D-glucopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 3)$ -O- $(\beta$ -D-galactopyranosyl)- $(1\rightarrow 4)$ -2,3,6-tri-O-benzyl- β -D-glucopyranoside (**6.14**)